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No ce is hereby given that the  Twenty Third (23rd) 
Annual General Mee ng(AGM) of the Members 
of KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED will be held on Tuesday, 
the 29th day of September 2015 at 11:00 A.M. at 
Agora,  5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A( Block-B) Plot No. 
CF9, Major Arterial Rd, Ac on Area 1C, Newtown, 
Kolkata-700156 to transact the following businesses:
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive, consider and adopt the Þnancial 

statements (including Consolidated Financial 
Statements) of the Company for the year ended 
31st March, 2015, including the audited Balance 
Sheet as at 31st March, 2015, the Statement 
of ProÞt and Loss and cash ßow statement for 
the year ended on that date together with the 
report of Board of Directors and Auditor’s Report 
thereon.

2. To consider and if thought Þt to pass, with or 
without modiÞca on(s), the following resolu on 
as an Ordinary Resolu on:

 "RESOLVED THAT Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra (DIN-
00086598), a Director liable to re re by rota on 
does not seek re-appointment and is therefore 
not re-appointment as Director of the Company.

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the vacancy on the 
Board of Directors of the Company so created be 
not to Þlled up’’.

3. To ra fy the appointment of Aditor and to 
authorise the Board of Directors to Þx their 
remunera on and in conneciton there with 
to consider and if thought Þt, to pass with or 
without modiÞca on(s), the following resolu on 
as an Ordinary Resolu on :

 "RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provision of 
Sec on 139, 149 & other applicable provision, if 
any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules 
framed thereunder, as amended from  me to 
 me and resolu on passed by the Members 
at the Annual General Mee ng (AGM) held on 
30.09.2014, the appointment of M/s. Sumanta 
& Co., Chartered Accountants, Kolkata (Firm 
Registra on No. 322554E) as Auditor of the 
Company to hold o!ce un ll the conclusion 
of the 25th AGM of the Company be and is 
hereby rec Þed on such remunera on as may 
be determined by the Board of Directors' of the 
Company".

SPECIAL BUSINESS
4. Appointment of Mrs. Mino  Nath as an 

Independent Director for a term of Þve years.
 To consider and if thought Þt to pass, with or 

without modiÞca on(s), the following resolu on 
as an Ordinary Resolu on:

 “RESOLVED THAT Mrs Mino  Nath, (holding DIN: 
07017530), who was appointed as an Addi onal 
Director of the Company by the Board of Directors 
with e"ect from 13th November, 2014 under 
Sec on 161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, read 
with Ar cle 116 of the Ar cles of Associa on of 
the Company and who holds o!ce up to the date 
of ensuing Annual General Mee ng and in respect 
of whom the Company has received a no ce in 
wri ng from a member under Sec on 160 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 proposing his candidature 

for the o!ce of Independent Director, be and is 
hereby appointed as an Independent Director 
of the Company pursuant to the provisions of 
Sec on 149, 150, 152 and any other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder (including any statutory 
modiÞca on(s) or re-enactment thereof for the 
 me being in force) read with Schedule IV of 
the Companies Act, 2013,to hold o!ce for Þve 
consecu ve years upto 13th November, 2019.”

5. To consider and accord new Ar cle of Associa on.
 To consider and if thought Þt, to pass with or 

without modiÞca on(s), the following resolu on 
as a Special Resolu on:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Sec on 14 and all other applicable provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies 
(Incorpora on) Rules, 2014 (including any 
statutory modiÞca on(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the  me being in force), consent 
of the Company be and is hereby accorded to 
subs tute the exis ng Ar cles of Associa on 
of the Company by a new set of Ar cles of 
Associa on". 

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any one of the 
Directors of the Company and/or Mr. Tarkeshwar 
Singh, Company Secretary be and are hereby 
jointly and severally authorized to do all such 
acts, deeds and things as may be necessary to 
give e"ect to this resolu on”.

6. To mortgage undertaking of Company under 
sec on 180(1)(a) of Companies Act, 2013.

 To consider and if thought Þt, to pass with or 
without modiÞca on(s), the following resolu on 
as a Special Resolu on:

 "RESOLVED THAT consent of the Company be 
and is hereby accorded under Sec on 180(1)
(a) and other applicable provisions if any, of the 
Companies Act, 2013 to the Board of Directors 
of the Company to mortgage, hypothecate or in 
any other way of charge in favour of the lenders 
all or any of the movable and/or immovable 
proper es of the Company, both present and/or 
future of the whole or substan ally the whole of 
the undertaking or undertakings of the Company 
for availment of any loan or guarantee or issue 
of Debenture and to secure the payment of 
interest thereon or any fees charges or expenses 
rela ng thereto and in the case of borrowing 
against debenture holders the said security in 
the favour of lender and/or trustee for such 
debenture holder where required on such terms 
and condi ons as may be approved by the Board 
of Directors".

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is 
hereby authorized to do all acts, deeds and things 
in connec on therewith and incidental thereto as 
the Board of Directors in its absolute discre on 
may deem Þt, to give e"ect to this resolu on”.

By Order of the Board

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Ltd

Place : Kolkata Tarkeshwar Singh
Dated : August 13, 2015 Company Secretary
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Notes

1. A member en tled to a"end and vote at the 
mee ng is en tled to appoint a Proxy to a"end 
and vote instead of himself and the proxy 
need not be a member of the Company. The 
proxy form, in order to be e#ec ve, must be 
duly completed, stamped and lodged with the 
Registered O$ce of the Company not less than 
48 hours before the commencement of the 
mee ng. 

 A person can act, as a proxy on behalf of members 
not exceeding Þ%y and holding in the aggregate 
not more than ten percent of the total share 
capital of the Company carrying vo ng rights. 
A member holding more than ten percent of 
the total share capital of the Company carrying 
vo ng rights may appoint a single person as 
proxy and such person shall not act as a proxy 
for any other person or member.

2. The Register of Members and Share Transfer 
Books of the Company will remain closed from 
25th September, 2015 to 29th September, 2015 
(both days inclusive).

3. An Explanatory Statement pursuant to Sec on 
102 of the Companies Act, 2013 in rela on to the 
Special Business is annexed hereto and forms part 
of this No ce.

4. Members who hold shares in dematerialised form 
are requested to bring their Demat Statement 
men oning therein the Client ID and DP ID 
numbers along with a Photo Iden ty Card for easy 
iden Þca on of a$endance at the mee ng.

5. Corporate members are requested to send a duly 
cer Þed copy of the Board Resolu on under 
sec on 113 of Companies Act, 2013, authorizing 
their representa ve to a$end and vote at the 
AGM.

6. Shareholders holding shares in physical form 
are requested to advise the company and the 
members holding shares in dematerialized 
form are requested to advise their Depository 
Par cipants immediately about any change in 
their address.

7. Members holding shares in single name and 
physical form are advised to make nomina on in 
respect of their shareholding in the Company. The 
nomina on form can be downloaded from the 
Company’s website: www.kaushalya.net under 
the sec on ‘Investor Rela onship’.

8. Electronic copy of the No ce of the 23rd Annual 
General Mee ng along with the Annual Report 
2014-15 of the Company inter alia indica ng 
the process and manner of e-vo ng along with 
A$endance Slip and Proxy Form is being sent to 
all the members whose email IDs are registered 
with the Depository Par cipants(s)/Company for 
communica on purposes unless any member 
has requested for a hard copy of the same. For 

members who have not registered their email 
address, physical copies of the No ce of the 23rd 
Annual General Mee ng of the Company inter 
alia indica ng the process and manner of e-vo ng 
along with A$endance Slip and Proxy Form is 
being sent in the permi$ed mode.

9. Members may also note that the No ce of 23rd 
Annual General Mee ng and the Annual Report 
2014-15 will also be available on company’s 
website: www.kaushalya.net for download.

10. The members who have not yet registered their 
e-mail address are requested to do so to support 
the green ini a ve in the Corporate Governance.

11. All documents referred to in the accompanying 
No ce and the Explanatory Statement shall be 
open for inspec on at the Registered O!ce of 
the Company during normal business hours on all 
working days except Saturdays.

12. Members holding shares in physical mode 
are requested to provide their Email Id, CIN/
Regn. No. (for corporate members), Unique 
Iden Þca on No., PAN, in case member is minor 
than date of birth of minor and name of guardian, 
declara on regarding beneÞcial ownership (if 
any), nomina on details, lien details (if any), 
par culars of dividend mandate etc. and such 
other informa on as men oned under sec on 88 
(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 3(1) of 
the Companies (Management and Administra on) 
Rules, 2014 for receiving all communica ons/
documents electronically.

 Members holding in demat mode are requested to 
provide the above informa on to their depository 
par cipant.

13. The Securi es and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) 
has mandated the submission of Permanent 
Account Number (PAN) by every par cipant in 
securi es market. Members holding shares in 
electronic form are, therefore, requested to 
submit their PAN to their Depository Par cipants 
with whom they are maintaining their demat 
accounts. Members holding shares in physical 
form can submit their PAN details to the 
Company/RTA for registra on of transmission/ 
transposi on, dele on of name etc.

14. The Directors seeking appointment have 
furnished the requisite declara ons.

15. Members who have not registered their e-mail 
addresses so far are requested to register their 
e-mail address for receiving all communica on 
including Annual Report, No ces, Circulars, etc. 
from the Company electronically.

16. In terms of Sec on 108 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administra on) Rules, 2014 
as amended and Clause 35B of the Lis ng 
Agreement, the Company is pleased to provide 
the facility of remote e-vo ng to all members, 

No ce (Contd.)
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for which purpose the Company has engaged the 
services of Na onal Securi es Depository Limited 
(NSDL).

17. Vo ng rights will be reckoned on the paid-up value 
of shares registered in the name of the Members 
as on 22nd September, 2015 (cut-o" date). Only 
those members whose names are recorded in the 
Register of Members of the Company or in the 
Register of BeneÞcial Owners maintained by the 
Depositories as on the cut-o" date will be en tled 
to cast their votes by remote e-vo ng or ballot 
vo ng at the AGM.

18. The facility for vo ng through ballot paper will 
also be made available at the AGM and the 
members a$ending the AGM who have not cast 
their vote through remote e-vo ng shall be able 
to exercise their right at the AGM through ballot 
paper. The members who have already cast their 
vote through remote e-vo ng can a$end AGM 
but shall not be en tled to cast their votes again.

19. E-vo ng Process:  

 I. In compliance with provisions of Sec on 
108 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 
20 of the Companies (Management and 
Administra on) Rules, 2014 as amended 
by the Companies (Management and 
Administra on) Amendment Rules, 2015 
and Clause 35B of the Lis ng Agreement, 
the Company is pleased to provide members 
facility to exercise their right to vote on 
resolu ons proposed to be considered at the 
Annual General Mee ng (AGM) by electronic 
means and the business may be transacted 
through e-Vo ng Services. The facility of 
cas ng the votes by the members using an 
electronic vo ng system from a place other 
than venue of the AGM (“remote e-vo ng”) 
will be provided by Na onal Securi es 
Depository Limited (NSDL).

 II. The facility for vo ng through ballot paper/
Polling paper shall be made available at 
the AGM and the members a$ending the 
mee ng who have not cast their vote by 
remote e-vo ng shall be able to exercise 
their right at the mee ng through ballot 
paper.

 III. The members who have cast their vote by 
remote e-vo ng prior to the AGM may also 
a$end the AGM but shall not be en tled to 
cast their vote again.

 IV. The remote e-vo ng period commences on 
26th September, 2015 (9:00 am) and ends 
on 28th September, 2015 (5:00 pm). During 
this period members’ of the Company, 
holding shares either in physical form or in 
dematerialized form, as on the cut-o" date of 
22nd September, 2015, may cast their vote 
by remote e-vo ng. The remote e-vo ng 
module shall be disabled by NSDL for vo ng 

therea%er. Once the vote on a resolu on is 
cast by the member, the member shall not be 
allowed to change it subsequently.

 V. The process and manner for remote e-vo ng 
are as under:

  A. In case a Member receives an email 
from NSDL [for members whose email 
IDs are registered with the Company/
Depository Par cipants(s)] :

   (i) Open email and open PDF Þle 
viz; “Kaushalya Infrastructure 
Development remote e-vo ng.
pdf” with your Client ID or Folio 
No. as password. The said PDF 
Þle contains your user ID and 
password/PIN for remote e-vo ng. 
Please note that the password is an 
ini al password.  

   (ii) Launch internet browser by typing 
the following URL: h$ps://www.
evo ng.nsdl.com/  

   (iii) Click on Shareholder - Login

   (iv) Put user ID and password as ini al 
password/PIN noted in step (i) 
above. Click Login.

   (v) Password change menu appears. 
Change the Password/PIN with 
new password of your choice 
with minimum 8 digits/characters 
or combina on thereof. Note 
new password. It is strongly 
recommended not to share your 
password with any other person 
and take utmost care to keep your 
password conÞden al.

   (vi) Home page of remote e-vo ng 
opens. Click on remote e-vo ng: 
Ac ve Vo ng Cycles.

   (vii) Select “EVEN” of “Kaushalya 
Infrastructure Development 
Corpora on Limited”.

   (viii) Now you are ready for remote 
e-vo ng as Cast Vote page opens.

   (ix) Cast your vote by selec ng 
appropriate op on and click on 
“Submit” and also “ConÞrm” when 
prompted.

   (x) Upon conÞrma on, the message 
“Vote cast successfully” will be 
displayed.

   (xi) Once you have voted on the 
resolu on, you will not be allowed 
to modify your vote.

   (xii) Ins tu onal shareholders (i.e. 
other than individuals, HUF, 
NRI etc.) are required to send 
scanned copy (PDF/JPG Format) 
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page

4

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

of the relevant Board Resolu on/ 
Authority le$er etc. together with 
a$ested specimen signature of 
the duly authorized signatory(ies) 
who are authorized to vote, to 
the Scru nizer through e-mail to 
abhi30390@gmail.com with a copy 
marked to evo ng@nsdl.co.in and 
info@kaushalya.net.

  B. In case a Member receives physical copy 
of the No ce of AGM [for members 
whose email IDs are not registered with 
the Company/Depository Par cipants(s) 
or reques ng physical copy] :

   (i) Ini al password is provided as 
below/at the bo$om of the 
A$endance slip for the AGM

    EVEN (Remote e-vo ng Event 
Number_____________________ 
User ID______________________
Password____________________

   (ii) Please follow all steps from Sl. No. 
(ii) to Sl. No. (xii) men oned in A 
above, to cast vote.               

Other Instruc on

 VI. In case of any queries, you may refer the 
Frequently Asked Ques ons (FAQs) for 
Members and remote e-vo ng user manual 
for Members available at the downloads 
sec on of www.evo ng.nsdl.com or call on 
toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

 VII. If you are already registered with NSDL 
for remote e-vo ng then you can use your 
exis ng user ID and password/PIN for cas ng 
your vote.

 VIII. You can also update your mobile number 
and e-mail id in the user proÞle details of the 
folio which may be used for sending future 
communica on(s).

 IX. The vo ng rights of members shall be in 
propor on to their shares of the paid up 
equity share capital of the Company as on 
the cut-o" date of 22nd September, 2015.

 X. Any person, who acquires shares of the 
Company and become member of the 
Company a%er dispatch of the no ce and 
holding shares as of the cut-o" date i.e. 
22nd September, 2015, may obtain the login 
ID and password by sending a request at 
evo ng@nsdl.co.in or Issuer/RTA  at rta@
cbmsl.com men oning his/her Folio No. or 
DP ID and Client ID.

   However, if you are already registered with 
NSDL for remote e-vo ng then you can use 
your exis ng User ID and Password for cas ng 
your vote. If you forgot your password, you 
can reset your password by using “Forgot 

User Details/Password” op on available on 
www.evo ng.nsdl.com or contact NSDL at 
the following toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

 XI. A member may par cipate in the AGM even 
a%er exercising his right to vote through 
remote e-vo ng but shall not be allowed to 
vote again at the AGM.  

 XII. A person, whose name is recorded in the 
register of members or in the register 
of beneÞcial owners maintained by the 
depositories as on the cut-o" date only shall 
be en tled to avail the facility of remote 
e-vo ng as well as vo ng at the AGM through 
ballot paper/polling paper.

 XIII. Mr. Abhishek Kumar Pandey, Prac sing 
Company Secretary (Membership No. 
A33116, C.P No. 12294) who had consented 
to act as the Scru niser, was appointed by the 
Company as the Scru niser to scru nise the 
vo ng process (electronically or otherwise) 
for the 23rd Annual General Mee ng of the 
Company in a fair and transparent manner 
and submit a Consolidated Scru niser’s 
Report of the total votes cast to the Chairman 
or a person authorised by him in wri ng.

 XIV. The Chairman shall, at the AGM, at the end 
of discussion on the resolu ons on which 
vo ng is to be held, allow vo ng with the 
assistance of scru nizer, by use of “Ballot 
Paper/Polling Paper” for all those members 
who are present at the AGM but have not 
cast their votes by availing the remote 
e-vo ng facility.

 XV. The Scru nizer shall a%er the conclusion of 
vo ng at the annual general mee ng, will 
Þrst count the votes cast at the mee ng and 
therea%er unblock the votes cast through 
remote e-vo ng in the presence of  at least 
two witnesses not in the employment of 
the Company and shall make, not later than 
three days of the conclusion of the AGM, a 
consolidated scru nizer’s report of the total 
votes cast in favour or against, if any, to the 
Chairman or a person authorized by him in 
wri ng, who shall countersign the same and 
declare the result of the vo ng forthwith.

 XVI. The Results declared along with the report of 
the Scru nizer shall be placed on the website 
of Company www.kaushalya.net  and on 
the website of NSDL immediately a%er the 
declara on of result by the Chairman or a 
person authorized by him in wri ng. The 
results shall also be immediately forwarded 
to stock exchange where Company’s shares 
are listed.

No ce (Contd.)
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Sec on 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013

Item No. 4

Mrs. Mino  Nath (holding DIN: 07017530) was 
appointed as Addi onal Director in the capacity of 
Woman Non-Execu ve Independent Director with 
e"ect from 13th November, 2014 under Sec on 
161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Ar cle 
116 of the Ar cles of Associa on of the Company. 
She holds o!ce up to the date of ensuing Annual 
General Mee ng of the Company and is eligible for 
re-appointment as Independent Director for Þve 
consecu ve years upto 13th November, 2019. The 
Company has received no ce under Sec on 160 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 proposing his appointment as 
an Independent Director of the Company. Mrs. Mino  
Nath is a director whose period of o!ce is not liable to 
determina on by re rement of directors by rota on 
under sec on 159 of the Companies Act, 2013.  In 
the opinion of the Board, she fulÞlls the condi ons 
speciÞed in the Lis ng Agreement and Companies 
Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder for appointment 
as Independent Director. Copy of the dra% le$er of 
appointment se&ng out the terms and condi ons 
would be available for inspec on without any fee at 
the Registered O!ce of the Company during normal 
business hours on any working day. 

Details regarding Mrs Mino  Nath and his brief 
resume are given in the Annexure a$ached to the 
No ce. Keeping in view his experience and exper se, 
the Board of Directors recommends the proposed 
Ordinary Resolu on for approval of the members. 

Except Mrs. Mino  Nath, none of the Directors and 
Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and their 
rela ves is concerned or interested, Þnancial or 
otherwise, in the resolu on set out in Item No.4.

The Directors recommend the aforesaid Resolu on for 
the approval by the Members as Ordinary Resolu on.

Item No. 5

The exis ng Ar cles of Associa on (“AoA”) of the 
Company, based on the Companies Act, 1956 are no 
longer in conformity with the Companies Act, 2013 
(“2013 Act’’). With the coming into force of 2013 Act, 

several Regula ons of AoA require altera on/dele on. 
Given this posi on, it is considered expedient to adopt 
a new set of Ar cles of Associa on (primarily based on 
Table F set out under Schedule I to the Companies Act, 
2013) in place of exis ng AoA, instead of amending 
it by altera on/ incorpora on of provisions of 2013 
Act. In terms of Sec on 14 of 2013 Act, consent of 
Members by way of a Special Resolu on is required 
for adop on of a new set of Ar cles of Associa on. 
The en re set of proposed new Ar cles of Associa on 
is available on the website of the Company www.
kaushalya.net. 

The Members of the Company can also obtain a copy 
of the same from the Company’s Registered O!ce. 
None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and 
their rela ves are in any way concerned or interested 
in the said Resolu on. 

The Directors recommend the aforesaid Resolu on for 
the approval by the Members as Special Resolu on.

Item No. 6

The company in its Annual General Mee ng held on 
19th April, 2006 has passed an ordinary resolu on 
under Sec on 293(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 1956 
authorizing the Board of Directors of the Company to 
mortgage, hypothecate or in any other way charge in 
favour of the lenders all or any of the movable and/
or immovable proper es of the company for securing 
any loan, guarantee or security availed from lenders. 
Now, a special resolu on is required to be passed 
under Sec on 180(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for the aforesaid purpose. Therefore, the approval of 
shareholders is being sought under Sec on 180(1)(a) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 to sell, lease, mortgage, 
charge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose o" the 
whole or substan ally the whole of the undertaking 
of the company. The Board of Directors therefore 
recommends the passing of special resolu on 
contained in item No. 6 of the no ce.

None of the directors or KMP or their rela ves have 
any concern or interest, Þnancial or otherwise, in the 
proposed resolu on.

The Directors recommend the aforesaid Resolu on for 
the approval by the Members as Special Resolu on.

Route Map to the venue of the 23rd AGM of Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited
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Details of Directors seeking appointment / reappointment at the Annual General Mee ng as per clause 49 of 
the Lis ng Agreement with the stock exchanges.

Par culars Mrs. Mino  Nath

Date of Birth July 28, 1956

Date of Appointment November 13, 2014

Educa onal QualiÞca on Bachelor of Arts

Exper se  in speciÞc func onal areas Exper se in Management and Opera on of 

diverse nature of business. She runs her own 

bou que business.

Directorship in other Companies as on March 31, 2015 None

Membership/Chairmanship in other Public Companies

(only in Audit and Stakeholders Rela onship Commi"ee) 

as on March 31,2015

NIL

Number of shares held as on  March 31, 2015 NIL

Inter se rela on between Directors' Not related

No ce (Contd.)
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Dear Shareholders,

The Directors are pleased to present the 23rd Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for the Þnancial year 
ended March 31, 2015.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Financial performance of your Company, for the year ended March 31, 2015 is summarized below:-

 (` In Lacs)

Par culars Standalone Consolidated
31.03.15 31.03.14 31.03.15 31.03.14

Contract Revenue & Other 
Income

694.88 1616.29 700.14 1623.85

ProÞt before Deprecia on, 
Interest & Tax

1.35 (731.8) 4.24 (726.13)

Less : Deprecia on 88.72 35.77 91.11 749.98 37.20

           Interest 657.50 746.22 634.01 669.78 658.87 635.95 673.15

ProÞt before Tax (744.87) (1401.58) (745.74) (1399.29)
Less : Provision for Tax
           Current Tax - - - -
           Deferred Tax (17.01) (2.68) (17.01) (2.68)

           Fringe BeneÞt Tax   - - - -

Income Tax for Earlier Year (17.01) (2.68) (17.01) (2.34)
Net ProÞt/(Loss) A%er Tax (727.86) (1398.90) (728.73) (1396.60)
Less : Minority Interest - - 0.07 0.66
Add: Share of ProÞt of 
Associate

- - 0.03

Net ProÞt A%er Minority 
Interest

- - (728.78) (1397.27)

Balance b/f from previous 
year

493.52 1892.41 475.27 1872.54

Balance available for 
appropria ons

493.52 1892.41 475.27 1872.54

APPROPRIATIONS
Transfer to General Reserve - - - -
Balance Carried to Balance 

Sheet

(234.34) 493.52 (253.50) 475.27

STATE OF AFFAIR & OPERATIONS REVIEW

During the year under review on a Standalone basis your Company has registered total income from opera on of 
` 694.88 Lacs as against ` 1616.29 Lacs in the previous year. Reduc on in top line was due to delay in decisions 
from various clients for tenders submi$ed by Company and lower success rates in bids for infrastructure projects 
made in a signiÞcantly reduc on in overall realiza on of Company. The proÞt before Deprecia on, interest and 
tax for the year stood to ` 1.35 Lacs as compared to ` (731.80) Lacs in previous year. The PAT was ` (727.86) Lacs 
against the Þnancial year PAT ` (1398.90). The loss Þgure occurred during current period is mainly due to write 
o" various debtors and deprecia on Þgure as the company has reassessed the useful life of all the tangible Þxed 
assets based on useful life as provided in the schedule II of Companies Act, 2013. Deprecia on has been provided 
considering the remaining useful life of the assets and necessary e"ect has been given in the accounts. 

On Consolidated basis, during the year under review the Total Income of your company stood to ` 700.14 Lacs 
as against ` 1623.85 Lacs in the previous year. The EBIDT is ` 4.24 Lacs from ` (726.13) Lacs in the previous year.

DIVIDEND

Your Directors do not recommend payment of dividend for the year under review on equity shares in view of the 
loss incurred.

CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY 

During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of business of the Company. 

Directors' Report
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MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There have been no material changes and commitments, a"ec ng the Þnancial posi on of the Company which 
have occurred between the end of the Þnancial year of the Company to which the Þnancial statements relate and 
the date of the report.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

As on 31st March 2015, the Company's subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are as 
follows: 

Its subsidiaries/step-subsidiaries

1. Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd

2. Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd

3. Kaushalya Township Pvt Ltd (Step down Subsidiary)

4. Kaushalya Energy Pvt Ltd

5. Azur Solar KDC Pvt Ltd (Step down Subsidiary)

Its associate

1. Orion Abasaan Pvt Ltd

2. Kaushalya Nirman Pvt Ltd

Its joint venture

1. Kidco-Nacc

During the year KaushalyaNirman Private Ltd, Orion Abasaan Private Ltd and Kaushalya Township Private Ltd had 
approached to your Company for consent to raise Equity Capital from investor to further their projects which 
may result in your Company shareholding to become less than 50%. A%er due considera on and to unlock value 
in the projects of the Subsidiaries (not following within the deÞni on of material subsidiary as per clause 49(III)
(V) of Lis ng Agreement) and enable them to raise funds the Board of Directors of your Company gave their due 
consent. Your Company shareholdings as on 31st March, 2015 in above said Companies (previous year subsidiary 
Companies) a%er their private placement and preferen al issue are as follows :-

Sl. No Name of Company Total No. of Share Held % Age of Shareholding

1 Kaushalya Nirman Private Ltd 46,000 46.00

2 Orion Abasaan Private Ltd 29,000 48.33

3 Kaushalya Township Private Ltd 3,17,357 48.69

However Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd holds 34,000(5.22%) in Kaushalya Township Private Ltd, hence 
Kaushalya Township Private Ltd is step down subsidiary of your Company.

A Policy has been formulated for determining the Material Subsidiaries of the Company pursuant to Clause 49 of 
the Lis ng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The said Policy has been posted on the Company's website at 
theweblink: h$p://www.kaushalya.net/KIDCOMATERIAL.pdf

A statement containing the salient features of the Þnancial statements of each of the subsidiaries & associates in 
the prescribed format AOC-1 is appended as “Annexure - 1” to this Report. The statement also provides details of 
performance and Þnancial posi ons of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In accordance with Sec on 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has prepared Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Company and of all its subsidiary and associate companies, which is forming part of the Annual 
Report. As per the provisions of Sec on 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, separate audited Þnancial statements 
of its subsidiaries are being placed on its website www.kaushalya.net  and copy of separate audited Þnancial 
statements of its subsidiaries will be provided to the shareholders on request.

LISTING OF EQUITY SHARES

Your Company’s Equity Shares are listed on the BSE Ltd and Na onal Stock Exchange of India Ltd. The Company 
paid the annual lis ng fees to each of these stock exchanges.

CHANGE IN SHARE CAPITAL

During the year under review, your Company’s Authorised Share Capital has remain unchanged at ` 35,00,00,000 
(Rupees Thirty Five Crore) comprising 3,50,00,000 Equity Shares of ` 10/- each.

During the year under review, your Company’s paid up equity share capital remain unchanged changed 
` 34,63,06,300 (Rupees Thirty Four Crores Sixty Three Lacs Six Thousand) comprising of 3,46,30,630 Equity 
Shares of ` 10/- each.

Directors' Report (Contd.)
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TRANSFER TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND.

During the year your Company has transferred amount of ` 163,680/- Share Applica on Money due for refund to 
Investor Educa on and Protec on fund as per provision of sec on 125 of Companies Act, 1956. There has been 
no delay in transferring amounts to Investor Educa on and Protec on fund by the Company.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION SCHEME

Your Company has not come out with Employee Stock Op on Scheme during the year.

DIRECTOR 

Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra (DIN: 00086598), Director re re by rota on at the forthcoming Annual General 
Mee ng of the Company and not to Þll the vacancy. He does not seek re-appointment and therefore not re-
appoint him as a Director of a Company.

Mrs. Mino  Nath (DIN: 07017530) was appointed as Addi onal Director of the Company in the category of 
Independent Director by the Board in its mee ng held on 13th November, 2014. She shall hold o!ce up to the 
date of ensuing Annual General Mee ng of the Company and will be eligible for reappointment as Independent 
Director. The Company has received a no ce from a member pursuant to Sec on 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 
sta ng intent to propose him for the o!ce of Independent Director under Sec on 149 of the Companies Act, 
2013.

All Independent Directors have given declara ons that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down 
under Sec on 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement. 

During the year Mr. Sak  Pada Banerjee resigned and ceased to be an Independent Director of the Company 
w.e.f. 25th June, 2014 due to health constraints.

The Board has placed on record its apprecia on for the outstanding contribu ons made by Mr. Sak  Pada Benrjee 
during his respec ve tenures as director of the Company.

Resolu ons seeking approval of the members have been incorporated in the no ce of the forthcoming Annual 
General Mee ng. Brief resume/details rela ng to Directors who are to be appointed/re-appointed are furnished 
in the Explanatory Statement to the No ce of the ensuing Annual General Mee ng as required under the Code 
of Corporate Governance.

The members in the last AGM approved reappointment of Mr. Prashant Mehra as Managing Director. The 
members also approved appointment of Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal and Mr. Parag KesharBha$acherjee as 
Independent Directors.

KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

In compliance of the provisions of Sec on 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 the following persons were the key 
managerial personnel of the Company: 

(a) Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & Chief Execu ve O!cer

(b)  Mr. T.N Mishra, Chief Financial O!cer 

(c)  Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh, Company Secretary.

LOAN/ADVANCES

Pursuant to Clause 32 of the Lis ng Agreement, the par culars of loans/advances given to subsidiaries have 
been disclosed in the Annual Accounts of your company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of your Company acknowledges the responsibility for ensuring compliance with the 
provisions of Sec on 134(3) (c) read with Sec on 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49(III)(D)(4)(a) 
of the Lis ng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges in the prepara on of the annual accounts for the year ended 
31st March, 2015 and state that :

I. In the prepara on of the annual accounts, the applicable accoun ng standards had been followed along with 
proper explana on rela ng to material departures; if any

II. The Directors have selected such accoun ng policies and applied them consistently and made judgments 
and es mates that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of a"airs of the 
Company at the end of the Þnancial year and of the proÞts of the Company for that period;

III. The Directors have taken proper and su!cient care for the maintenance of adequate accoun ng records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
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for preven ng and detec ng fraud and other irregulari es; 

IV. The Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;

V. The Directors have laid down internal Þnancial controls for the Company and such internal Þnancial controls 
are adequate and opera ng e"ec vely; and

VI. There is a proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and such systems 
are adequate and opera ng e"ec vely. 

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

 The par culars of employees, as required under Sec on 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) 
and 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remunera on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are given in a 
separate annexure a$ached hereto and forms part of this report as 'Annexure II'.

FIXED DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposit from the public, and as such, there are no outstanding deposits in 
terms of the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

The Board met six  mes during the Þnancial year, the details are given in the Corporate Governance Report that 
forms part of the Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Commi$ee was cons tuted by the Company and the details of terms of reference of the Audit 
Commi$ee, number and dates of mee ng held, a$endance, among others are given separately in the a$ached 
Corporate Governance Report. During the year there were no instances of the Board had not accep ng the 
recommenda ons of the Audit Commi$ee.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY 

The Company has in place a whistleblower policy to deal with unethical behavior, vic miza on, fraud and other 
grievances or concerns, if any. The aforemen oned whistleblower policy can be accessed on the Company’s 
website: h$p://www.kaushalya.net/KDCVIGIL.pdf.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Company has a deÞned Risk Management framework to iden fy, assess, monitor and mi gate various risks 
to key business objec ves. Major risks iden Þed by the businesses and func ons are systema cally addressed 
through mi ga ng ac ons on a con nuing basis. 

The Risk Management Policy provides for iden Þca on of risk, its assessment and procedures to minimize risk. 
The policy is periodically reviewed to ensure that the execu ve management controls the risk as per decided 
policy.

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee was cons tuted by the Company and the details of terms of reference, 
number and dates of mee ng held, a$endance, among others are given separately in the Corporate Governance 
Report forming part of this Annual Report.

STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 

The composi on and terms of reference of the Stakeholders' Rela onship Commi$ee has been furnished in the 
Corporate Governance Report forming part of this Annual Report.

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION

The Policy of the Company on Directors’ appointment and remunera on including criteria for determining 
qualiÞca ons, posi ve a$ributes, independence of a Director and other ma$ers provided under sub-Sec on 
(3) and (4) of Sec on 178, is a$ached as 'Annexure-III' to this Report. The remunera on policy is stated in the 
Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.

BOARD EVALUATION 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement, the Board has 
carried out an annual evalua on of its own performance of the individual directors as well as the working of 
its Audit, Nomina on & Remunera on and Stakeholders Rela onship commi$ees. The manner in which the 
evalua on has been carried out has been explained in the a$ached Corporate Governance Report integral part 
of this Annual Report.

Directors' Report (Contd.)
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INTER&CORPORATE LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

The provisions of Sec on 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in rela on to loans or guarantee are not applicable 
to the Company, being an infrastructure company as deÞned under Schedule VI to the Act. Details of loans, 
guarantees and investments covered under the provisions of sec on 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are given 
in the notes to the Financial Statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transac ons that were entered into during the Þnancial year were on an arm’s length basis and 
were in the ordinary course of business. There were no materially signiÞcant related party transac ons made 
by the Company which may have a poten al conßict with the interest of the Company at large. All related party 
transac ons were placed before the Audit Commi$ee and also for the Board approval, wherever required. Prior 
omnibus approval of the Audit Commi$ee is generally obtained for the transac ons which are of a foreseen and 
repe  ve nature and these transac ons are reviewed by the Audit Commi$ee on quarterly basis. The policy 
on related party transac ons as approved by the Board is uploaded on the Company’s website h$p://www.
kaushalya.net/KIDCORELATED.pdf.

The details of transac ons entered into with related par es are a$ached as 'Annexure IV' in form AOC-2 that form 
an integral part of this Report.

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 

The details forming part of extract of annual return as per Form MGT- 9 is annexed herewith as 'Annexure – V’.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL 

The Company has in place adequate internal Þnancial control with reference to the Þnancial statements. During 
the year, such control was reviewed and no reportable material weakness was observed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is commi$ed to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance and adhere to the 
corporate governance requirements as set out in Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement. The Report on Corporate 
Governance as s pulated under Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement forms an integral part of this Annual Report. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management Discussion and Analysis for the year under review, as s pulated under Clause 49 of the Lis ng 
Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, is presented in a separate sec on forming part of this Annual Report. 

CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION 

As required by Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement, the CEO/ CFO cer Þca on has been submi$ed to the Board 
and a copy thereof is contained elsewhere in this Annual Report.

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 

Pursuant to the provisions of Sec on 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has appointed M/S. Rinku 
Gupta & Associates, Company Secretaries in Prac ce, to undertake the secretarial audit of the Company for the 
Þnancial year 2014-15. The Secretarial Audit Report for the Þnancial year ended 31st March, 2015 is a$ached as 
Annexure ‘VI’ and forms a part of the reports of the Directors. The observa on made by the secretarial auditors 
in their report are self-explanatory and therefore do not call for any further explana ons/comments.

AUDITORS & AUDITOR’S REPORT

At the Annual General Mee ng held in the year 2014, M/s Sumanta & Co., Chartered Accountants, (ICAI Firm 
Registra on No. 322554E) Statutory Auditors of the Company were re-appointed by the shareholders to hold 
o!ce as Statutory Auditors from the conclusion of Annual General Mee ng held in the year 2014  ll the 
conclusion of Twenty Fi%h Annual General Mee ng of the Company to be held in the year 2017, subject to 
ra Þca on of their appointment at every Annual General Mee ng. 

Under Sec on 139 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company is required to place the ma$er rela ng to Statutory 
Auditor’s appointment for ra Þca on by members at every Annual General Mee ng. 

The Company has received a le$er from the Statutory Auditors conÞrming that they are eligible for appointment 
as Auditors of the Company under Sec on 139 of the Companies Act, 2013 and meet the criteria for appointment 
speciÞed in Sec on 141 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

Based on the recommenda ons by the Audit Commi$ee, the Board of Directors of the Company recommends the 
ra Þca on of appointment of M/s Sumanta& Co., Chartered Accountants, (ICAI Firm Registra on No. 322554E) 
as Statutory Auditors of the Company by the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Mee ng. 
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The observa ons of the Auditors in their report, read together with the notes on Accounts, are self-explanatory 
and therefore, in the opinion of the Directors, do not call for any further explana on.

COST AUDITORS 

The cost audit u/s 148 of Companies Act, 2013 read with its rule is not applicable for your Company for the 
Þnancial year ended 31st March, 2015.

CSR COMMITTEE

Pursuant to provisions of sec on 135(1) of Companies Act, 2013 forma on of such commi$ee is not applicable 
to your Company.

RESTRUCTURING OF DEBTS

The bankers of the company have in mated that the second restructuring process for the loan accounts, 
meanwhile classiÞed as non-performing, has taken considerable  me. The same is under process at their end 
and the company is following up with the Bankers to expedite the process of second restructuring of its accounts.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Audit Commi$ee of your company has reviewed the audited Þnancial statements for the year under review 
at its mee ng held on May 30, 2015 and recommended the same for the approval of the Board of Directors.

SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY

 The Company has a Policy on Prohibi on, Preven on and Redressal of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
and ma$ers connected therewith or incidental thereto covering all the aspects as contained under the “The 
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prohibi on, Preven on and Redressal) Act, 2013”.

Up  ll date, the Company has not received any complaint under the Policy.

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS / COURTS / TRIBUNALS 

There are no signiÞcant material orders passed by the Regulators / Courts / Tribunals which would impact the 
going concern status of the Company and its future opera ons

ANNEXURES FORMING A PART OF THIS REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 

The Annexures referred to in this report and other informa on which are required to be disclosed are annexed 
herewith and forms a part of this report of the Directors :

Annexure Par culars

I Details of Subsidiary, Associate and Joint Venture AOC-1.

II Par culars of Employees.

III Policy on selec on of directors.

IV Details of RTP in AOC-2.

V Extracts of the Annual Return as per Form MGT-9.

VI Secretarial Audit Report.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND 
OUTGO

Presently, your company is not engaged in any ac vity rela ng to conserva on of energy or technology absorp on. 
During the year under review, your company has no foreign exchange earnings and outgoes.

APPRECIATION

Your Board of Directors wish to thank the Central Government, the Government of West Bengal, the Þnancial 
ins tu ons, its Bankers, shareholders, customers, dealers and other business associates for the support received 
from them during the year. Your Directors place on record their sincere apprecia on for all employees of the 
Company and for their uns nted commitment and con nued contribu on to the Company.

 For and on behalf of the Board

Kolkata   Ramesh Kumar Mehra
13th August, 2015 DIN: 00086598
Registered o!ce: Chairman

HB-170, Sector-III

Salt Lake-Kolkata-700106

CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629
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Annexure I to the

Directors’ report 
FORM- AOC 1

(Pursuant to Þrst proviso to sub-sec on (3) of sec on 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the Þnancial statement of 
subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures

Part “A”: Subsidiaries
     (Amt in `)

Sl. No 1 2 3 4 5

Name of the subsidiary Bengal KDC
Housing Dev Ltd 

(BKHDL)

Bengal 
Kaushalya
Nirman Ltd 

(BKNL)

Kaushlaya
 Township Pvt Ltd 

(KTPL)

Kaushlya
Energy Pvt Ltd 

(KEPL)

Azur Solar
KDC Pvt Ltd 

(Subsidiary of 
KEPL)

Repor ng period 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015

Repor ng currency and 
Exchange rate

INR INR INR INR INR

Share capital 20,00,000 20,00,000 65,18,570 10,00,000 1,00,000

Reserves & surplus (9,88,948) (3,23,691) 3,04,94,054 (8,19,917) (34,735)

Total assets 11,92,88,832 17,30,983 34,27,38,566 2,31,074 15,63,286

Total Liabili es 11,92,88,832 17,30,983 34,27,38,566 2,31,074 15,63,286

Investments 17,26,000 - 1,37,400 99,000 -

Turnover 2,64,000 25,767 1,94,100 20,000 22,500

ProÞt before taxa on 2,280 6,775 4,941 1,448 3,805

Provision for taxa on - - - - -

ProÞt a%er taxa on 2,280 6,775 4,941 1,448 3,805

Proposed Dividend NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

% of shareholding 51.00 51.00 53.90 (48.69 by holding 
Co. & 5.22 by subsidiary 

BKHDL)

95.50 99.00 
(holding by KEPL)

Notes: The following informa on shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1.  Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence opera ons  

 a.  Azur Solar KDC Private Ltd, 

 b.  Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd, 

 c. Kaushalya Energy Private Ltd.

2.  Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year. NONE

3.  The Repor ng date of all subsidiaries is same as that of the Company, that is, 31st March 2015.

4.  The Company does not have any foreign subsidiary.
      

In terms of  our report a$ached For and on behalf of Board of Directors 

For Sumananta & Co Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra 
Firm Regn. No. 322554E Managing Director Whole- me Director
Chartered Accountants  

Pradeep KumarAgarwal TarakNath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Partner  CFO Company  Secretary  
Membership No.056521
May 30, 2015
Place : Kolkata
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures

Statement pursuant to Sec on 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint 
Ventures

(Amt in `)

Name of Associates /Joint Ventures Orion Abasan Pvt Ltd Kaushalya Nirman Pvt Ltd Kidco Nacc

1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015

2. Shares of Associate/Joint Ventures held by 
the company on the year end

-No. 29,000 46,000 NA

-Amount of Investment in Associates/Joint 
Venture (Amount in `)

10,90,000 19,40,000 (94,03,503)

-Extend of Holding % 48.33% 46% 90%

3. Descrip on of how there is signiÞcant 
     inßuence

Based on the percentage of holding over these investees

4. Reason why the associate/joint venture is 
not consolidated

NA NA NA

5. Networth a$ributable to Shareholding as 
per latest audited Balance Sheet

15,94,117 26,94,094 N.A.

6. ProÞt / Loss for the year

i. Considered in Consolida on 609  2,065  (1,24,822)

ii. Not considered in Consolida on 651 2,424 (13,869)

1.  Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence opera ons.

 None   

2.  Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year. 

 None   

      

In terms of  our report a$ached For and on behalf of Board of Directors 

For Sumananta & Co Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra 
Firm Regn. No. 322554E Managing Director Whole- me Director
Chartered Accountants  

Pradeep KumarAgarwal TarakNath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Partner  CFO Company  Secretary  
Membership No.056521
Date : May 30, 2015
Place : Kolkata
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Annexure II to the

Directors’ report
Details pertaining to remunera on

As required under Sec on 197 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies
(Appointment and Remunera on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

(i) The Percentage increase in remunera on of each Director, Chief Financial O!cer and Company Secretary 
during the Financial year 2014-15, ra o of the remunera on of each Director to the median remunera on of 
the employees of the Company for the Þnancial year 2014-15 and the comparison of remunera on of each 
Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Director/
KMP and Designa on

Remunera on of 
Director/ KMP for 
Þnancial year 
2014-15 (`)

% Increase in 
remunera on 

in the 
Þnancial year 

2014-15

Ra o of 
remunera on of each 
Director/ to median 

remunera on of 
employees

Comparison of the 
remunera on of 

the KMP against the 
performance of the 

Company

1 Prashant Mehra 
Managing Director/CEO

15,90,000 15.22% 5.54 Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss

2  Mahesh Mehra
Whole- me Director

11,40,000 Nil 3.97 Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss

3  TarakNathMisha
Chief Financial O!cer

4,26,480 17.26% N.A. Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss 

4  Tarkeshwar Singh
Company Secretary

3,10,683 27.82% N.A. Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss

Note :  for this purpose, Non-Execu ve Directors are excluded as they received only si&ng fees.

(ii) The median remunera on of employees of the Company during the Þnancial year was ` 23,926/-

(iii) In the Þnancial year, there was no increase in the median remunera on of employees;

(iv) There were 21 permanent employees on the rolls of the Company as on March31,2015;

(v) Rela onship between average increase in remunera on and Company performance : Not applicable 

(vi) Comparison of the remunera on of the key Managerial Personnel(s) against the performance of the Company:- For 
the Þnancial year 2014-15 Company was in loss and hence not comparable;

(vii) (a)  Varia on in market capitaliza on of the Company: The market capitaliza on as on March 31, 2015 was ̀  24.59 
crore (` 18.35 crore as on March 31, 2014);

 (b)  Price Earnings ra o of the Company was (3.70) as at March 31, 2015 and was (1.31) as at March 31, 2014;

 (c)  Percentage increase or decrease in the market quota ons of the shares of the Company as compared to the 
rate at which the Company came out with the last public o"er in the year (88.17)%. 

(viii) Average percen le increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the 
last Þnancial year i.e. 2014-15 was nil whereas the percen le increase in the managerial remunera on for the 
same Þnancial year was 10.89%; Average percen le increase in the salaries of employees other than managerial 
personnel was nil since some of the high paid non managerial employees le% the company early during the current 
year.

(ix) Comparison of the each remunera on of the key managerial person against the performance of the company: Not 
comparable since the company was in loss during the current year.

(x) The key parameter for any variable components of remunera on availed by directors:  Not Applicable

(xi) The ra o of the remunera on of the highest paid directors to that of the employees who are not directors but 
received remunera on in excess of highest paid directors during the year: Not Applicable

(xii) It is hereby a!rmed that the remunera on paid is as per the Remunera on Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and other Employees.

NOTE:  Sec on 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 5 of sub rule 2 of the (Companies Re-appointment & 
Remunera on of Managerial Personnel), 2014 not applicable hence no disclosure made here.
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Annexure III to the

Directors’ report

Criteria for selec on of Directors and persons in Senior Management

A. Introduc on 

 This Policy sets out general guiding principles deÞning criteria for selec on of directors in the Board and 
persons in senior management to assist the Board of Directors in performing its du es. However, the Board 
should act according to its obliga ons under the speciÞc facts and circumstances it faces. It will ensure 
cons tu on of the Board with op mum combina on of Execu ve and Non-execu ve Directors including 
Independent Directors which possess diverse experience and exper se in strategic management, governance 
and provide long term vision and direc on to the Company. 

B. Selec on and Composi on of the Board Board Membership Criteria & Diversity 

 The Board of Directors should be composed of individuals who have demonstrated signiÞcant achievements 
in business, educa on, the professions and/or public service. They should have requisite intelligence, 
educa on and experience to make a signiÞcant contribu on to the delibera ons of the Board of Directors in 
light of the Company’s business. In addi on, the membership of the Board of Directors should bring a broad 
range of experiences to the Board. The Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee will review, annually, the 
appropriate skills and characteris cs of Board members in the context of the current structure of the Board. 
This assessment should include issues of diversity, age, business, qualiÞca ons, ethics & integrity, willingness 
to par cipate in Board ma$ers and other criteria that the Commi$ee and Board Þnd to be relevant at that 
point of  me. A variety and balance of skills, background and experience is desirable. The composi on of 
the Board shall meet the condi ons prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the Lis ng 
Agreement. The proposed appointee shall possess the director iden Þca on number and meet the criteria 
as laid down in the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement.

A"ributes 

The overall ability and experience of individual Board candidates should determine their suitability. The following 
a$ributes may be considered as desirable in any candidate for the Board of Directors: 

 • Experience - A Board candidate should have extensive experience in business, administra on, 
profession, governance and/or public service. An ideal Board candidate may have had experience in 
more than one of these areas. 

 • Educa on - Ideally, it is desirable that a Board candidate should hold degree from a respected college 
or university. In some cases, it is further desirable for the candidate also to have earned a masters or 
acumen in governance & administra on. However, these educa onal criteria are not meant to exclude 
an excep onal candidate who does not meet these educa onal criteria. 

 • Personal - The Board candidate should be of the highest moral and ethical character. The candidate 
should exhibit independence, objec vity and be capable of serving as a representa ve of the stakeholder.

 • Individual Characteris cs - The Board candidate should have the personal quali es to be able to 
make a substan al ac ve contribu on to Board delibera ons. These quali es include intelligence, 
self-assuredness, high ethical standard, inter-personal skills, independence, judgmental, courage, a 
willingness to ask the di!cult ques on, communica on skills and commitment.

 • Availability - The Board candidate must be willing to commit, as well as have, su!cient  me available 
to discharge the du es of Board membership. The Board candidate should not have any prohibited 
interlocking rela onships. 

 • Compa bility - The Board candidate should be able to develop a good working rela onship with other 
Board members and contribute to the Board’s working rela onship with the senior management of the 
Company. 

 • Compliance - The Candidate should meet the compliance requirements prescribed under the 
Companies Act, 2013, Lis ng Agreement and other Rules & Regula ons or standards set out by the 
Company. Predominance of Independent Directors Independence promotes integrity, accountability 
and governance. The Board of Directors shall comprise of requisite number of independent directors 
as prescribed under the law. Not less than requisite number of directors shall consist of independent 
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directors who meet the criteria for independence as required under the Companies Act, 2013, Lis ng 
Agreement and other prescribed Rules & Regula ons applicable to the Company. Besides, the Board will 
consider all relevant facts and circumstances in making a determina on of independence. 

 • Selec on and Orienta on of New Directors 

  The Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee shall iden fy candidates for the Board and recommend 
them for appointment by Board and subsequently for approval by the shareholders as prescribed under 
the law. The Board delegates the screening process to the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee 
with direct input from the Chairman of the Board or Managing Director or any other Commi$ee as 
may deem appropriate. Management, working in conjunc on with the Commi$ee, shall develop an 
appropriate familiarisa on program for new directors that include background brieÞngs, mee ngs with 
senior management and visits to Company facili es etc.

 • Assessing Performance of Board and Commi"ees

  The Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee shall evaluate performance of each director and 
report annually to the Board on the results of the assessment process. The performance evalua on of 
Independent directors shall be done by the en re Board of Directors. The Independent directors in their 
mee ng shall review the performance of non-independent directors and the Board as a whole. While 
assessing the performance, the Board or the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee shall take into 
account a$endance of directors in the Board & Commi$ee mee ngs, performance of the business, 
accomplishment of long-term strategic objec ves & their par cipa on, role & func oning of various 
commi$ees, compliance and other ma$er as they may think Þt. The purpose of the assessment is to 
increase the e"ec veness of the Board.

C. Selec on of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) 

 Above criteria shall also apply for selec on of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) excep ng those which are 
not applicable for persons in senior management. Where appointment or performance of any KMP requires 
speciÞc qualiÞca on or degree, the person should also possess that speciÞc qualiÞca on or degree. Keeping 
self-up-to-date for performing du es, on issues and emerging trends is an important part of responsibili es. 
KMP must take reasonable steps to remain current in professional development, corporate governance and 
discharging du es & responsibili es. The KMP shall meet the condi ons prescribed under the Companies 
Act, 2013 and other Rules & Regula ons as may be applicable. 

D. Review 

 The Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee may review this Policy periodically and suggest revisions to 
the Board to ensure the policy serves its purpose and accurately reßects the sense of the Board and the 
Company.
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13th August, 2015  Chairman

Registered o!ce:
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Annexure IV to the

Directors’ report

Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-sec on (3) of sec on 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) 

of the Companies(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of par culars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related 
par es referred to in sub-sec on (1) of sec on 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length 
transac ons under third proviso thereto :

1.  Details of contracts or arrangements or transac ons not at arm’s length basis:

There were no contracts or arrangements or transac ons entered into during the year ended 31st March 2015, 
which were not at arm’s length basis.

2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transac ons at arm’s length basis:

There were no material contracts or arrangements or transac ons entered into during the year ended 31st March 
2015, which were not at arm’s length basis.

Note: The deÞni on of material is as per explana on given in Clause 49(VII) of Lis ng Agreement.

   Ramesh Kumar Mehra
Kolkata (DIN: 00086598)
13th August, 2015  Chairman

Registered o!ce:

HB-170, Sector-III

Salt Lake-Kolkata-700106

CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629
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Annexure V to the

Directors’ report

Extract of Annual Return

As on the Þnancial year ended on March 31, 2015

[Pursuant to sec on 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12(1) of the Companies 
(Management and Administra on) Rules, 2014]

FORM No. MGT 9
I REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:

1   CIN                     L51216WB1992PLC055629

2   Registra on Date 04.06.1992

3  Name of the Company KAUSHALYA INFRASTRCUTURE DEVELOPMENT CORP.  
LIMITED

4   Category/Sub-category Public Company/Company Limited by shares

5  Address of the Registered o!ce & contact details HB-170, Sector-III, Salt Lake, Kolkata-  700106,
Email- info@kaushalya.net, Ph : 033-23344148
Fax : 033-23344148, Website:-www.kaushalya.net  

6  Whether listed company Yes

7  Name, Address & contact details of the Registrar  & 
Transfer Agent, if any

CB Management Servives Private Limited. 
B-22 Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700019
E-mail : rta@cbmsl.com, Website : www.cbmsl.com

II.  PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

 All the business ac vi es contribu ng 10% or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated

Sl. 

No.

Name & Descrip on of  main products/services NIC Code of the 

Product/Services

% to total turnover 

of the company

1 Construc on 9953 99.98

2 Hotel 9963 0.02

III.  PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Sl 

No

Name & Address of the 

Company

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ 

SUBSIDIARY/ 

ASSOCIATE

% OF SHARES 

HELD

APPLICABLE 

SECTION

1 KAUSHALYA TOWNSHIP 

PRIVATE LIMITED,

171/1A Rash Behari Avenue, 

Kolkata- 700019

U70109WB2006PTC111320 SUBSIDIARY 53.90 2(87)(II)

2 KAUSHALYA  ENERGY  PRIVATE 

LIMITED

69, Girish Park, North, 

Kolkata- 700006

U40104WB2008PTC129344 SUBSIDIARY 98.50 2(87)(II)

3 KAUSHALYA NIRMAN PRIVATE 

LIMITED

69, Girish Park, North, 

Kolkata- 700006

U70101WB2006PTC111321 ASSOCIATE 46 2(6)
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Sl 

No

Name & Address of the 

Company

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ 

SUBSIDIARY/ 

ASSOCIATE

% OF SHARES 

HELD

APPLICABLE 

SECTION

4 BENGAL KAUSHALYA NIRMAN  

LIMITED

69, Girish Park, North, 

Kolkata- 700006

U70100WB2006PLC123501 SUBSIDIARY 51 2(87)(II)

5 BENGAL KDC HOUSING 

DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

171/1A Rash Behari Avenue, 

Kolkata- 700019

U70100WB2006PLC110153 SUBSIDIARY 51 2(87)(II)

6 AZUR SOLAR KDC PRIVATE 

LIMITED

69, Girish Park, North, 

Kolkata- 700006

U31908WB2010PTC148514 SUBSIDIARY 99 2(87)(II)

7 ORION ABASAAN  PRIVATE 

LIMITED

160, Jamunalal Bajaj Street, 

Kolkata- 700007

U70101WB2006PTC111322 ASSOCIATE 48.33 2(6)

IV.  SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share capital Break up as % to total Equity)

 (i) Category-wise Share Holding

Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year
De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares

De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares
A. Promoters
(1) Indian
a) Individual/HUF 3138780 0 3138780 9.06 3138780 0 3138780 9.06
b) Central Govt.or State Govt.
c) Bodies Corporates 14666850 0 14666850 42.35 14666850 0 14666850 42.35
d) Bank/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL:(A) (1) 17805630 0 17805630 51.42 17805630 0 17805630 51.42
(2) Foreign
a) NRI- Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Other Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
c) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL (A) (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Shareholding of 

Promoter (A)= (A)(1)+(A)(2)

17805630 0 17805630 51.42 17805630 0 17805630 51.42

B. PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING
(1) Ins tu ons
a) Mutual Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
C) Cenntralgovt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d) State Govt. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Venture Capital Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
f) Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
g) FIIS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
h) Foreign Venture Capital 

Funds

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year
De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares

De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares
i) Others (specify) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL (B)(1): 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
(2) Non Ins tu ons
a) Bodies corporates
i) Indian 7944742 0 7944742 22.94 6791378 0 6791378 19.61
ii) Overseas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Individuals
i) Individual shareholders 

holding  nominal share capital 

upto Rs.1 lakhs

6895787 414 6895373 19.91 7795729 639 7795090 22.51

ii) Individuals shareholders 

holding nominal share capital 

in excess of Rs. 1 lakhs

1723575 0 1723575 4.98 1885234 0 1885234 5.44

c) Others (specify)
i) NRI 142736 0 142736 0.41 145568 0 145568 0.42
II) CLEARING MEMBER 118160 0 118160 0.34 207091 0 207091 0.6
SUB TOTAL (B)(2): 16825000 414 16824586 48.58 16825000 639 16824361 48.58
Total Public Shareholding 

(B)= (B)(1)+(B)(2)

16825000 414 16824586 48.58 16825000 639 16824361 48.58

C. Shares held by Custodian 

for GDRs & ADRs

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total (A+B+C) 34630216 414 34630630 100 34629991 639 34630630 100

 (ii) Shareholdings of Promoters

Sl. 

No.

Category of 

Shareholders

Shareholding at the begginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % Change 

during the 

year
No. of 

shares

% of total 

shares

 of the 

company

% of shares 

pledged

 encumbered to 

total shares

No. of 

shares

% of total 

shares

 of the 

company

% of shares 

pledged 

encumbered 

to total shares
1 Mahan  Engineers Pvt. 

Ltd

5307600 15.33 3.18 5307600 15.33 3.18 0

2 Keleenworth Marke ng 

Pvt.Ltd

4336350 12.52 0 4336350 12.52 0 0

3 Sunkissed Merchandise 

Pvt. Ltd. 

5022900 14.5 0 5022900 14.50 0 0

4 SidhaNath Mehra 373510 1.08 0 373510 1.08 0 0
5 Mahesh Mehra HUF 35000 0.1 0 35000 0.1 0 0
6 Ramesh Kumar Mehra 

HUF

838000 2.42 0 838000 2.42 0 0

7 Purnima Mehra 31320 0.09 0 31320 0.09 0 0
8 Anuradha Mehra 97140 0.28 0 97140 0.28 0 0
9 Neeru Mehra 89100 0.26 0 89100 0.26 0 0

10 Ramesh Kumar Mehra 30010 0.09 0.09 30010 0.09 0.09 0
11 Rahul Mehra 18080 0.05 0 18080 0.05 0 0
12 Sidhnath Mehra HUF 44000 0.13 0 44000 0.13 0 0
13 Mohni Mehra 154600 0.45 0 154600 0.45 0 0
14 Karan Mehra 60740 0.18 0 60740 0.18 0 0
15 Prashant Mehra 917760 2.65 0.28 917760 2.65 0.28 0
16 Kar k Mehra 112000 0.32 0 112000 0.32 0 0
17 Pranav Mehra 134410 0.39 0 134410 0.39 0 0
18 Ramesh Kumar Mehra-

Karta of Baijnath Mehra 

(HUF)

72500 0.21 0 72500 0.21 0 0
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Sl. 

No.

Category of 

Shareholders

Shareholding at the begginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % Change 

during the 

year
No. of 

shares

% of total 

shares

 of the 

company

% of shares 

pledged

 encumbered to 

total shares

No. of 

shares

% of total 

shares

 of the 

company

% of shares 

pledged 

encumbered 

to total shares
19 Pooja Mehra 10000 0.03 0 10000 0.03 0 0
20 Mehesh Mehra 48110 0.14 0.14 48110 0.14 0.14 0
21 Raghav Mehra 72500 0.21 0 72500 0.21 0 0

Total 17805630 51.42 3.68 17805630 51.42 3.68 0

 (iii)  Change in Promoters' shareholding (Please specify, if there is no change)

Sl. 

No.

Category of Shareholders Shareholding at the beginning of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
At the beginning of the year No Change during the year
Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment/transfer/bonus/

sweat equity etc)

No Change during the year

At the end of the year No Change during the year

 (iv)  Shareholding Pa"ern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters & Holders of GDRs & ADRs)

Sl. 

No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
1 Tribhuwan Advisory Private Limited

At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -250000 -0.72 1250000 3.61
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -200000 -0.58 1050000 3.03
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -150000 -0.43 900000 2.60
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 900000 2.60

2 Shivgagan Consultancy Private Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -48116 -1.39 1018833 2.94
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 1018833 2.94

3. Indian Infotech and So%ware Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 

(Seprated from top 10)

-150000 -4.33 0 0

At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

4. Shiv Om Investment and Consultancy Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

150000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 30/06/2014 

(Seprated from top 10)

-150000 -4.33 0 0

Annexure to Directors' Report (Contd.)



page

23

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

Sl. 

No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

5. Trilok Advisory Private Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

1325000 3.83 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -168833 -0.49 1156167 3.34
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -200000 -0.58 956167 2.76
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -150000 -0.43 806167 2.33
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 806167 2.33

6. Dhiren Mahendra Shah
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

254393 0.73 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 65214 0.19 319607 0.92
Transfer on 11/04/2014 53920 0.16 373527 1.08
Transfer on 18/04/2014 37778 0.11 411305 1.19
Transfer on 25/04/2014 43780 0.13 455085 1.31
Transfer on 02/05/2014 40172 0.12 495257 1.43
Transfer on 16/05/2014 52277 0.15 547534 1.58
Transfer on 23/05/2014 119014 0.34 666548 1.92
Transfer on 30/05/2014 3050 0.01 669598 1.93
Transfer on 06/06/2014 7700 0.02 677298 1.96
Transfer on 13/06/2014 18705 0.05 696003 2.01
Transfer on 20/06/2014 14618 0.04 710621 2.05
Transfer on 30/06/2014 1370 0 711991 2.06
Transfer on 04/07/2014 -125000 -0.36 586991 1.7
Transfer on 11/07/2014 -411887 -1.19 175104 0.51
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -17325 -0.05 157779 0.46
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -81226 -0.23 76553 0.22
Transfer on 01/08/2014 -70000 -0.20 6553 0.02
Transfer on 15/08/2014 -6000 -0.02 553 0
Transfer on 21/11/2014 10000 0.03 10553 0.03
Transfer on 05/12/2014 17239 0.05 27792 0.08
Transfer on 12/12/2014 27589 0.08 55381 0.16
Transfer on 19/12/2014 5198 0.02 60579 0.17
Transfer on 09/01/2015 30026 0.09 90605 0.26
Transfer on 16/01/2015 63287 0.18 153892 0.44
Transfer on 23/01/2015 45000 0.13 198892 0.57
Transfer on 30/01/2015 117419 0.34 316311 0.91
Transfer on 06/02/2015 -34252 -0.10 282059 0.81
Transfer on 13/02/2015 -38113 -0.11 243946 0.70
Transfer on 06/03/2015 70588 0.20 314534 0.91
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 314534 0.91

7. Madhukar Satuppa Pa l
At the beginning of the year 

(01/04/2014)

221595 0.64 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 -15000 -0.04 206595 0.60
Transfer on 23/05/2014 -181335 -0.52 25260 0.07
Transfer on 30/05/2014 -24943 -0.07 317 0
Transfer on 30/05/2014 317 0 0 0
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0
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Sl. 

No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
8. Jayesh Manharlal Ajmera

At the beginning of the year 

(01/04/2014)

219533 0.63 - -

Transfer on 02/05/2014 -33 0 219500 0.63
Transfer on 09/05/2014 -39400 -0.11 180100 0.52
Transfer on 30/05/2014 -34160 -0.10 145940 0.42
Transfer on 13/06/2014 -58690 -0.17 87250 0.25
Transfer on 20/06/2014 -4 0 87246 0.25
Transfer on 04/07/2014 -1249 0 85997 0.25
Transfer on 11/07/2014 35997 0.10 50000 0.14
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -3000 -0.01 47000 0.14
Transfer on 13/03/2015 5137 0.01 52137 0.15
Transfer on 20/03/2015 4863 0.01 57000 0.16
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 57000 0.16

9. Sejal Dhiren Shah
At the beginning of the year 

(01/04/2014)

116081 0.34 - -

Transfer on 18/04/2014 2000 0.01 118081 0.34
Transfer on 25/04/2014 2000 0.01 120081 0.35
Transfer on 02/05/2014 100 0 120181 0.35
Transfer on 09/05/2014 600 0 120781 0.35
Transfer on 23/05/2014 3581 0.01 124362 0.36
Transfer on 13/06/2014 -87236 -0.25 37126 0.11
Transfer on 20/06/2014 -17618 -0.05 19508 0.06
Transfer on 30/06/2014 -5508 -0.02 14000 0.04
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -9000 -0.03 5000 0.01
Transfer on 23/01/2015 -4500 -0.01 500 0
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 500 0

10. Janba Krishna Chougule
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

114096 0.33 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 -92500 -0.27 21596 0.06
Transfer on 04/04/2014 -21596 -0.06 0 0
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

11. Jyo  Por'olio Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 3919 0.01 3919 0.01
Transfer on 25/07/2014 300 0 4219 0.01
Transfer on 05/09/2014 -300 0 3919 0.01
Transfer on 27/09/2014 100 0 4019 0.01
Transfer on 10/10/2014 19538 0.06 23557 0.07
Transfer on 17/10/2014 -100 0 23457 0.07
Transfer on 24/10/2014 -499 0 22958 0.07
Transfer on 31/10/2014 618 0 23576 0.07
Transfer on 07/11/2014 -419 0 23157 0.07
Transfer on 28/11/2014 1271 0 24428 0.07
Transfer on 19/12/2014 200 0 24628 0.07
Transfer on 31/12/2014 -47 0 24581 0.07
Transfer on 02/01/2015 -43 0 24538 0.07
Transfer on 09/01/2015 20138 0.06 44676 0.13
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Sl. 

No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
Transfer on 16/01/2015 -5110 -0.01 39566 0.11
Transfer on 23/01/2015 1000 0 40566 0.12
Transfer on 30/01/2015 11425 0.03 51991 0.15
Transfer on 06/02/2015 116283 0.34 168274 0.49
Transfer on 13/02/2015 3960 0.01 172234 0.5
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 172234 0.5

12. Yajnanarayana  Kammaje
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 60558 0.17 60558 0.17
Transfer on 18/07/2014 25137 0.07 85695 0.25
Transfer on 15/08/2014 54000 0.16 139695 0.4
Transfer on 22/08/2014 2000 0.01 141695 0.41
Transfer on 05/09/2014 5000 0.01 146695 0.42
Transfer on 12/09/2014 5000 0.01 151695 0.44
Transfer on 20/02/2015 10000 0.03 141695 0.41
Transfer on 13/03/2015 10000 0.03 131695 0.38
Transfer on 27/03/2015 20000 0.06 111695 0.32
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 111695 0.32

13. Ajmera Associates Ltd.
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

77797 0.22 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 451 0 78248 0.23
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 78248 0.23

14. Jyo  Por'olio Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

2706 0.01 - -

Transfer on 21/11/2014 1855 0.01 4561 0.01
Transfer on 12/12/2014 10000 0.03 14561 0.04
Transfer on 09/01/2015 500 0 15061 0.04
Transfer on 16/01/2015 -5000 -0.01 10061 0.03
Transfer on 23/01/2015 -1000 0 9061 0.03
Transfer on 30/01/2015 26302 0.08 35363 0.1
Transfer on 06/02/2015 42189 0.12 77552 0.22
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 77552 0.22

15. Indian Infotech And So%ware Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 21/11/2014 1500000 4.33 1500000 4.33
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

- - 1500000 4.33

16. Shivom Investment And Consultancy Limited
At the beginning of the year  

(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 14/11/2014 1500000 4.33 1500000 4.33
At the end of the year 

(31/03/2015)

1500000 4.33
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 (v) Shareholding of Directors  & Key Managerial Personnel

Sl. 

No.

Name of Director and KMP Shareholding at the end of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
1 Mr. Prashant Mehra

At the beginning of the year 917760 2.65 917760 2.65

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 917760 2.65 917760 2.65

2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra

At the beginning of the year 30010 0.09 30010 0.09

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 30010 0.09 30010 0.09

3 Mr. Mahesh  Mehra

At the beginning of the year 48110 0.14 48110 0.14

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 48110 0.14 48110 0.14

4 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha"acharjee

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0

5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
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Sl. 

No.

Name of Director and KMP Shareholding at the end of the year Cumula ve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 

the company
6 Mrs. Mino  Nath

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0

7 Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0

8 Mr. Tarak Nath Mishra

At the beginning of the year 1500 0 1500 0

Date wise increase/decrease 

in Promoters Shareholding 

during the year specifying the 

reasons for increase/decrease 

(e.g. allotment / transfer/

bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 1500 0 1500 0

V.  INDEBTEDNESS

 Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment                (Amount in `)

Secured Loans 

excluding deposits
Unsecured Loans Deposits Total

Indebtness at the beginning of 

the Þnancial year

i) Principal Amount  522,439,345  -  -  522,439,345

ii) Interest due but not paid  31,144,730  -  -  31,144,730

iii) Interest accrued but not due  -  -

Total (i+ii+iii)  553,584,075  -  -  553,584,075

Change in Indebtedness during 

the Þnancial year

Addi ons  61,125,580  -  -  61,125,580

Reduc on  -  -  -  -

Net Change  61,125,580  -  -  61,125,580

Indebtedness at the end of the 

Þnancial year

i) Principal Amount  591,084,075  -  -  591,084,075

ii) Interest due but not paid  23,625,580  -  -  23,625,580

iii) Interest accrued but not due  -  -  -  -

Total (i+ii+iii)  614,709,655  -  -  614,709,655
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VI.  REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

 A. Remunera on to Managing Director, Whole  me director and/or Manager:                        (Amount in `)

Sl. 

No.

Par culars of Remunera on Managing Director & 

Chief Execu ve O$cer

Whole- me Director

Total Amount

Mr. Prashant Mehra Mr. Mahesh Mehra

1 Gross salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained 

in sec on 17(1) of the Income Tax. 

1961.

15,90,000 11,40,000 27,30,000

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) of 

the Income tax Act, 1961
-- -- --

(c ) ProÞts in lieu of salary under 

sec on 17(3) of the Income Tax Act, 

1961

-- -- --

2 Stock op on 0 0 0

3 Sweat Equity 0 0 0

4 Commission

as % of proÞt 0 0 0

others (specify) 0 0 0

5 Others, please specify 0 0 0

Total (A) 15,90,000 11,40,000 27,30,000

Ceiling as per the Act :-      ` 42 Lakhs as per sec on II of schedule V of Companies Act, 2013 read with  sec on 197(3) of the 

Companies Act, 2013 read with Schedule V.

 B. Remunera on to other directors:                                                                                                     (Amount in `)

Sl. 

No.

Par culars of 

Remunera on

Name of the Directors Total 

AmountChairman/

Non-Execu ve 

and Non 

Independent 

Director

Independent Directors

Mr. Ramesh 

Kumar Mehra

Mr. ParagKeshar 

Bha"acahjee

Mr. Rajesh 

Kumar Agarwal

Mrs. Mino Nath Mr. Sak Pada 

Banerjee

 1 (a) Fee for a$ending 

board/commi$ee 

mee ngs

40,500 49,500 52,500 15,000 0

1,57,500

(b) Commission -- -- -- -- -- --

(c ) Others, please 

specify

-- -- -- -- --
--

Total (B) 40500 44500 47500 15,000 0 1,57,500

Total Managerial 

Remunera on 

(A+B)

2,887,500

Ceiling as per the Act: - ` 37 Lakhs as per sec on 197(5) of Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 4 of The Companies (Appointment 

and Remunera on of managerial Personnel) rules 2014.
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 C. Remunera on To Key Managerial Personnel Other Than MD/Manager/WTD.                     (Amount in `)

Sl. 

No.

Par culars of Remunera on Key Managerial Personnel Total Amount

Company Secretary CFO

Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh Mr. TarakNath Mishra

1 Gross Salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained 

in sec on 17(1) of the Income Tax Act, 

1961.

310,683 426,480 737,168

 (b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) of 

the Income Tax Act, 1961

-- --
--

 (c ) ProÞts in lieu of salary under 

sec on 17(3) of the Income Tax Act, 

1961

-- --

--

2 Stock Op on -- -- --

3 Sweat Equity -- -- --

4 Commission -- -- --

 as % of proÞt -- -- --

 others, specify -- -- --

5 Others, please specify -- -- --

 Total 310,683 426,480 737,168

VII.  Penal es/Punishment/Compounding of O#ences

Type Sec on of the 

companies Act

Brief 

descrip on

Details of 

Penalty/

Punishment/ 

Compounding 

fees imposed

Authority[RD

/NCLT/Court]

Appeal made. If 

any(give details)

A.  Company

Penalty

Punishment

Compounding

B. Directors

Penalty

Punishment

Compounding

C. Other O$cers In Default

Penalty

Punishment

Compounding

NIL
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Annexure VI to the

Directors’ report

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

Form No. MR-3

For The Financial Year Ended on 31st March, 2015
(Pursuant to sec on 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies

(Appointment and Remunera on Personnel)  Rules, 2014)

To,
The Members,
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Ltd.

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of all applicable statutory provisions and adherence 
to good corporate prac ces by M/s. Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Ltd (hereina%er called 
the “Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evalua ng 
the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion thereon.

The Company’s Management is responsible for prepara on and maintenance of secretarial records and for 
devising proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and Regula ons.

Based on our veriÞca on of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns Þled and other 
records maintained by the Company and also the informa on provided by the Company, its o!cers, agents and 
authorized representa ves during the conduct of secretarial audit. We hereby report that in our opinion, the 
Company has, during the audit period covering the Þnancial year ended on 31st March, 2015, complied with the 
statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the repor ng made hereina%er

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns Þled and other records maintained by the 
Company for the Þnancial year ended on 31st March, 2015, to the extent applicable, according to the provisions 
of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder ;

(ii) The Securi es Contracts (Regula on) Act, 1956 (SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regula ons and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regula ons made thereunder to the extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings: The Provisions 
of FEMA Act, 1999 and the rules and regula ons made thereunder were not applicable to the Company for 
the Þnancial year ended 31st March, 2015;

(v) The Regula ons and Guidelines prescribed under the Securi es and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 
('SEBI Act') viz.:- 

 a) The Securi es and Exchange Board of India (Substan al Acquisi on of Shares and Takeovers) Regula ons, 
2011;

 b) The Securi es and Exchange Board of India (Prohibi on of Insider Trading) Regula ons, 1992;

 c) The Securi es and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regula ons, 
2009;

 d) The Securi es and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents)     
Regula ons, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 e) The Securi es & Exchange Board of India (Issue and lis ng of Debt securi es) Regula ons, 2008;

 f) The Securi es & Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regula ons, 
1993;

 g) The Securi es & Exchange Board of India (Delis ng of Equity Shares) Regula ons, 2009;

 h) The Securi es & Exchange Board of India (Buy back of Securi es) Regula ons, 1998;
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vi) As iden Þed by the Management, no speciÞc laws/ acts are applicable to the Company since there is no 
direct real estate project in the Company.  

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following, to the extent applicable:

a) Secretarial Standards issued by The Ins tute of Company Secretaries of India. (Not no Þed hence not 
applicable to the Company during the audit period)

b) The Lis ng Agreements entered into by the Company with Na onal Stock Exchange of India Ltd (NSE) & with 
Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd (BSE).

c)  The Company has complied with the provisions of the Securi es and Exchange Board of India  (Prohibi on 
of Insider Trading) Regula ons, 1992 including the provisions with regard to disclosures and maintenance of 
records required under the Regula ons;

d) The Company has complied with the provisions of the SEBI (Depositories and Par cipant) Regula ons,1996 
including submi&ng of Reconcilia on of Share Capital Audit Reports;

e) There were no issues during the year which required speciÞc compliance of the provisions of the Securi es 
and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regula ons, 2009;

f) There were no issues during the year which required speciÞc compliance of the provisions of the Securi es 
Contracts (Regula on) Act, 1956 (SCRA) and the Rules made under that Act.

 During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regula ons, 
Guidelines, Standards, etc. men oned above.

We further report that,

a) The Board of Directors of the Company is duly cons tuted with proper balance of Execu ve Directors, Non-
Execu ve Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the composi on of the Board of Directors 
that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

b) Adequate no ce is given to all directors to schedule the Board Mee ngs, agenda and detailed notes on 
agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further 
informa on and clariÞca ons on the agenda items before the mee ng and for meaningful par cipa on at 
the mee ng.

c) None of the directors in any mee ng dissented on any resolu on and hence there was no instance of 
recording any dissen ng member’s view in the minutes

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size 
and opera ons of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regula ons and 
guidelines.

We further report that during the audit period the Company has passed a special resolu on for approval to to 
borrow money, where money to be borrowed together with the amount already borrowed by the Company 
exceeds aggregate of its paid share capital and free reserves under sec on 180(1) (c) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
which authorizes the Board to exercise powers in rela on thereto, but presently does not have a major bearing 
on the Company’s a"airs.

For Rinku Gupta & Associates
CS Rinku Gupta

Prac cing Company Secretary
 Partner 
Place: Kolkata  ACS No. 25068
Date: 13th day of August, 2015  COP No. 9248
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ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

Over the last four years, the Infrastructure Sector in India has been sluggish with several players facing a sharp 

downturn in their businesses. While the government has made an e"ort to boost the economy with a push coming 

to infrastructure, the e"ects of the same are yet to be seen. Projects are fraught with land issues. Financing of 

infrastructure projects has become extremely  ght as several infrastructure players being unable to service and 

repay their debt obliga ons.

Companies have had to abruptly realign their business models with a focus shi%ing from top line growth to 

opera onal e!ciencies and cash genera on for short-term obliga ons. Such e"ects has a spiraling e"ects down 

from larger companies to smaller ones who have in turn not been able to realize cash ßows as projected and have 

entered into turbulent unforeseen waters. 

INDIA’S INFRASTRUCTURE SECTOR

India, to con nue to grow, needs to invest heavily in crea ng physical infrastructure of the kind that can support 

its growth aspira ons. Infrastructure growth is a precursor for industrial growth and the demand for the provision 

of power, transporta on and logis cs go hand in hand with growth of the economy. The Interna onal Monetary 

Fund (IMF) es mates that overall infrastructure investment in the country would need to be increased to around 

8% of the GPD from the current 5% - 6% levels by the 2020 and beyond to sustain the needs of the Indian 

economy. 

Keeping in line with their focus on infrastructure growth, the Government of India has signiÞcantly increased 

alloca on of funds by ` 70,000 crore for investments in infrastructure in the Union Budget 2015-16. However, 

infrastructure projects have a longer gesta on and newly announced projects would take  me to materialize as 

they may face land acquisi on, environmental hurdles and other problems similar to several stalled projects in 

the country. A concerted e"ort needs to also be placed on long pending disputes and their resolu ons.  According 

to the Government of India’s Economic Survey 2014-15, the rate of stalled projects has increased alarmingly in 

the last Þve years. By December 2014, the total value of stalled projects across sectors was about US$139 billion 

with the top 100 projects accoun ng for 83% of the total value of stalled works. 

To further delve into the major factors inßuencing stalled projects, while electricity and power projects have 

been stalled largely due to non-availability of fuel/coal, the road sector has faced land acquisi on delays along. 

Environmental clearances have brought several real estate, infrastructure and road sector projects to a grinding 

halt. 

The signiÞcant increase in stalled projects and their con nued hindrances have created an environment of 

uncertainty. Several projects have been stalled mid-way causing the investment in them in turn becoming 

di!cult to recuperate and loans taken turning bad. The Government needs to place larger stress on resolving 

older disputes and hindrances to bring the stalled projects out of li ga on and restart progress on the same to 

create an environment conducive for infrastructure growth. Nego a on commi$ees have been put in place in 

organiza ons like NHAI and more e"orts of the sort needs to be in place with other government bodies to bring 

disputes to a closure as early as possible. 

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Like several other companies in the infrastructure space, your Company has also been a vic m of very challenging 

unforeseen circumstances. In order to execute the projects at hand in the prior years, your company had to 

borrow from banks similar to others in the industry. However with cash ßows and payments becoming hard to 

come by the debt burden had become very di!cult to service. With proÞts declining and conver ng to losses 

resul ng from payment delays and several large projects being stuck in li ga on and disputes with clients, in 

order to bridge the cash ßow mismatch your company had opted from restructuring its debt obliga ons with its 

bankers in 2013 to obtain interest servicing moratorium and deferment of debt obliga ons. 

However, the downturn has con nued for longer than an cipated and realiza on of debts becoming harder to 

come by with several debts turning unrecoverable and hence wri$en o". To  de with these di!cult  mes, your 

Company has approached its bankers for a second debt restructuring which is in considera on by the bankers. 

Management Discussion and Analysis Report
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Simultaneously your company has heavily increasingly focused on cash ßows and growing order book to revive 

the business and have a parallel income stream while the old debtors realiza on and their related li ga ons take 

 me. Your company is focusing increasingly on opera onal e!ciencies and pressing its legi mate claims on the 

clients while keeping a balance between recoverable amounts, ability of clients to pay along with the cost of 

such li ga on and arbitra ons. E"orts are also being given to mone ze non core assets and exploring alterna ve 

businesses that can generate sustainable cash ßows meanwhile. 

Your Company has taken several steps on all these fronts during 2014-15 and con nues to do so. However, the 

e"orts and opportuni es for their success, as those by others in this business, have been largely determined 

by the prevailing business environment and market condi ons which, remains both problema c and uncertain.

OPPORTUNITY & THREATS

Government ini a ves for development of infrastructure projects to boost Indian economy o"ers further 

prospects of increase in Company’s order book.Business in partnership with interna onal collaborators seeking 

to enter the country remains a large opportunity. Infrastructure Technology innova on, par cularly in the 

a"ordable housing sector which is expected to see a large boom has the poten al of increasing the speed of 

execu on while simultaneously reducing the cost of construc on and thus increasing margins. 

Having said that, “Realty & Infrastructure” on the ground is not moving with the same pace as the talks. The 

sector has been demanding a single window clearance to improve ease of doing business, which s ll remains to 

be implemented by the Government. Everyone is awai ng the full policy announcement on small ci es concept 

so that this wonderful ini a ve can be put in place in full. It will not be out of place to men on that un l and 

unless industry status is granted to the real estate sector, this sector will face severe di!cul es in raising cheaper 

funds.

RISK AND INTERNAL ADEQUACY

Your Company has an elaborate Risk Management procedure addressing management of business related risks, 

opera on risks and e!ciencies as well as policy and statutory compliances. Risks iden Þed by in these key areas 

as well as others are systema cally taken up and ac ons for their mi ga on are discussed and implemented as 

an ongoing process of con nuous improvement. Some of the iden Þed risks also relate to compe  on and price 

varia ons and ßuctua ons over the tenure of the contracts undertaken.

The Company’s internal control systems are commensurate with the nature of its business and the size and 

complexity of opera ons. They are rou nely evaluated by your Company and audits are conducted. SigniÞcant 

audit observa ons and resultant steps are taken up and reported to the Audit Commi$ee which in turn assesses 

the adequacy and e"ec veness of the controls in place and makes recommenda on for altera ons and changes 

as may be required to strengthen the internal controls and risk management policies/systems.

HUMAN RESOURCE

With a focus on increasing opera onal e!ciencies and keeping costs in control the hiring policy of the company 

was methodically thought out and focus was given on increasing output and e!ciencies of exis ng human 

resources either by realloca on of work load or cross leveraging team e"orts to deliver such e!ciencies. Only 

extremely cri cal manpower was inducted while focus on manpower reten on was increased. With the new 

projects in place, addi onal human resource may be required in the future and the same shall be inducted 

commensurate with the augmen ng business and work pressures. 

Disclosures with respect to the remunera on of Directors and employees as required under Sec on 197 of 

Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 5 Companies (Appointment and Remunera on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 

2014 is annexed with Board Report.
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DISCUSSION ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

For the Þnancial year ended 31st March, 2015, your Company has earned Income from opera ons stood at 

`608.48 Lacs as against ` 1580.98 Lacs in the previous year.

Expenditure

Your company’s total expenditure comprising of administra ve cost, employee beneÞt cost, deprecia on, 

material consumed including other expenses was ` 742.08 Lacs for year ended 31st March, 2015 as comparing 

to ` 2324.56 Lacs in the previous year.

Interest

Interest expenses stood at ` 657.50 Lacs (previous year Þgure was ` 634.00 Lacs)

ProÞt before tax (PBT)

PBT is ` (744.87)Lacs for the current year from ` (1401.58) Lacs in the previous year.

ProÞt a%er tax

Your company’s proÞt a%er tax is ` (727.86)Lacs for the year ended March 31, 2015 from ` (1398.89) Lacs as 

compared to the previous year.

EPS

The earnings per share for the current year stood at ` (2.10) as compared to ` (4.04) per equity share in the 

previous year.

Consolidated Financials

The current year results include the results of the companies including subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries and 

associates & JV. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been drawn as per the Accoun ng Standards 21, 

23 and 27 issued by the Ins tute of Chartered Accountants of India. These companies operate broadly in a) 

Construc on of roads, bridges and infrastructure development b) Housing Development c) Renewable Energy 

Power Projects and d) Other sectors.

COMPANY’S KEY DEVELOPMENT

The Company is primarily in the business of Engineering Procurement and Construc on and the Þnancial results 

are largely related to this. An increased focus has been given to strategically increase order book and change the 

nature of business from being purely a contrac ng business to prepara on for more developer role projects in 

the long term. 

Focus on increasing e!ciencies and reduc on of overhead costs is a con nuous process. A renewed focus on 

handling disputes and li ga on has also been put in place and is monitored directly by the senior management 

to put fort legi mate claims on disputed projects. As a Þrst step e"ort concilia on and amicable se$lement 

processes are explored to reduce the  me of such dispute se$lements and reduc on related costs failing with 

necessary legal recourses are taken up via arbitra on/approaching the courts of law for realiza on of dues and 

claims. 

The company’s e"orts on the power sector are con nued to be its focus. While the solar business is yet to 

materially take o", a well thought out strategy keeping cash ßows in mind is orchestrated to ensure that such 

businesses, when implemented are shielded from cash ßow crisis stemming from the regular infrastructure EPC 

business. Accordingly business development in these areas are being taken up.

The Company has always had a strong contracts management department. Considerable e"ort is put into 

analyzing and understanding contracts in terms of commitments, responsibili es, risks and returns. 
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SEGMENT WISE PERFORMANCE

The infrastructure business has remained the largest business, although the road sector business has signiÞcantly 

diminished with projects in the building construc on business increasing in the mix. Overall income from contracts 

stood at ̀  608.34 Lakh, being 99.97% of total revenue as compared to 9.77% of total revenue in the previous year. 

The hotel business revenue stood at ` 0.15 Lakh, being 0.03% of total revenue as compared to 0.23% of total 

revenue in the previous year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company as an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the resources of the Company are 

used e!ciently and e"ec vely, all assets are safeguarded and protected against loss from unauthorized use 

or disposi on and the transac ons are authorized, recorded and reported correctly, Þnancial and other data 

are reliable for preparing Þnancial informa on and other data and for maintaining accountability of assets. The 

internal control is supplemented by extensive programme of internal audits, review by management, documented 

policies, guidelines and procedures. 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT WORKPLACE

For protec on against sexual harassment, the Company has formed an internal compliance commi$ee to which 

employees can write their complaints. However, so far, no complaint has been received by the said internal 

compliance commi$ee.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT 

Statements in this Management Discussion and Analysis describing the Company’s objec ves, projec ons, 

es mates and expecta ons may be ‘Forward Looking Statements’ within the meaning of applicable laws and 

regula ons. Actual results might di"er substan ally or materially from those expressed or implied. Important 

developments that could a"ect the Company’s opera ons include a downtrend in the infrastructure sector, 

signiÞcant changes in poli cal and economic environment in India, exchange rate ßuctua ons, tax laws, li ga on, 

labour rela ons and interest costs.
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Report on Corporate Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company’s corporate governance structure plays a pivotal role in realizing this long term goal. It provides 
the fundamental systems, processes and principles that promote objec ve decision making, performance 
based management and a corporate culture that is characterized by integrity and fairness in all dealings. 
Cri cal to this, is the high degree of transparency in disclosures across all levels of stakeholder engagement, 
which are periodically done while maintaining the importance of reserving compe  ve informa on from being 
disseminated.

1.  PHILOSPHY OF  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company prides itself on being a responsible corporate ci zen which is commi$ed to running its business 
in the best possible manner while being completely transparent, complying with all relevant rules & regula ons 
and contribu ng to society at large. The Company adheres to the highest ethical standard which is combined with 
an unwavering commitment to certain core values – transparency, fairness in all dealings, honesty of purpose, 
quality consciousness and customer sa sfac on. . 

2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Your Company is managed by a Board of Directors consist of an op mum combina on of Execu ve and Non-
Execu ve Directors a judicious mix of professionalism, knowledge and experience. The Non-Execu ve Directors 
cons tu ng more than Þ%y percent of the total strength of the Board. 

In compliance with the Corporate Governance norms, your Company’s Board of Directors headed by its Non- 
Execu ve and Non-Independent Chairman Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, comprises of Þve other Directors (out of 
which two are Execu ve Director and three are Non-Execu ve Independent Directors).

None of the Directors on the Board is a member of more than 10 commi$ees or Chairman of more than 5 
commi$ees across all companies in which he is a Director. Necessary disclosures with regard to membership of 
commi$ees have been made by the Directors.

The composi on of the Board as on 31st March, 2015 was as under:

Name of Director Business 

rela onship

DIN Category of 

Directorship

No. of Directorships 

in other public limited 

companies#

No. of Commi"ee posi ons held in 

other Public Companies as ##

Chairman Member

Mr. Ramesh Kumar 
Mehra*

Non-Execu ve 
Chairman

00086598 Promoter,
Non-Independent, 

Non-Execu ve
2 – –

Mr. Prashant Mehra* Managing 
Director

00086725 Promoter, 
Non-Independent, 

Execu ve
2 – –

Mr. Mahesh Mehra* Whole- me 
Director

00086683 Promoter, 
Non-Independent, 

Execu ve
0 – –

Mr. Rajesh Kumar 
Agarwal

Director 00431195 Independent, 
Non-Execu ve

0 – –

Mr. Parag Keshar 
Bha$acharjee

Director 00081899 Independent, 
Non-Execu ve

4 – 5

Mrs. Mino  Nath% Director 07017530 Independent, 
Non- Execu ve

0 – –

Mr. Sak  Pada 
Banerjee@

Director 01629690 Independent, 
Non- Execu ve

0 – –

NOTES:       

# Other Directorship other than Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Limited and does not include alternate 

directorship, directorship of private companies, Sec on 8 companies and of other companies incorporated 

outside India.

## Includes the Membership/Chairmanship of only Audit Commi$ee and Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee.

@ Mr. Sak  Pada Banerjee has resigned from the Directorship of Company w.e.f. 25th June, 2014.

% appointed as Woman Independent Director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.
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* In terms of clause 49(VIII)(E)(2), it is hereby disclosed that Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra is the father of Mr. Prashant 

Mehra and brother Mr. Mahesh Mehra. Other than this, none of the other Directors are in any way related to any 

other Director as per sec on 2(77) of Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 2014.

The composi on of the Board and other provisions as to Board and Commi$ees are in compliance with the 

clause 49. All the independent directors qualify the condi ons for being independent director as prescribed 

under Clause 49 and Sec on 149 of the Companies Act, 2013. No Director is related to any other director, 

except Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Mr. Prashant Mehra and Mr. Mahesh, who are related to each other, as 

Mr.  Ramesh Kumar Mehra is the father of Mr. Prashant Mehra and brother of Mr. Mahesh Mehra. The Company 

has conducted familiarisa on programme for the Independent Directors of the Company. The details of 

familiarisa on programme are disclosed in the website of the Company at web-link- h$p://www.kaushalya.net/

INDEPENDENTDIRECTORS.pdf. The Director is also explained in detail the compliances required from him under 

the Companies Act, Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement and other relevant Regula ons. The Board has devised 

proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and periodically reviews compliance 

reports of all laws applicable to the Company and necessary steps are being taken to ensure the compliance in 

law and spirit.

During the year 2014-15, 6(Six) Board Mee ngs were held. The Company held at least one mee ng in every 

quarter and the  me gap between two board mee ngs did not exceed 120 days as prescribed under Clause 49 

and Companies Act, 2013. The details are follows:- 

The previous Annual General Mee ng was held on September 30, 2014.

No. of Board Mee ngs, a"endance at Board Mee ngs & previous Annual General Mee ng:

Name of Director A"endance at the Board Mee ngs held on A"endance at 

the AGM held 

on 30.09.2014
30.05.2014 25.06.2014 13.08.2014 29.08.2014 13.11.2014 14.02.2015

Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Prashant Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Mahesh Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Parag Keshar 

Bha$acharjee

Yes No Yes
No Yes Yes Yes

Mrs. Mino  Nath# NA NA NA NA Yes Yes NA

Mr. Sak  Pada Banerjee@ No No NA NA NA NA NA

# appointed as woman independent Director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.

@ resigned from directorship w.e.f. from 25th June, 2014.

3. BOARD COMMITTEES

 In compliance with both the mandatory and non- mandatory requirements under Clause 49 of the 

Lis ng Agreement and the applicable laws, your Company’s Board of Directors cons tuted the following 

Commi$ees:

 i)  Audit Commi$ee

  ii)  Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee

  iii)  Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee

  vi)  Execu ve Commi$ee

 The Chairman of the Board, in consulta on with the Company Secretary and the respec ve Chairman of 

these Commi$ees, determines the frequency of the mee ngs of these Commi$ees. The recommenda ons 

of the Commi$ees are submi$ed to the Board for approval.
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 i. Audit Commi"ee

  The composi on of the Audit Commi$ee is in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

and Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement. The Audit Commi$ee acts as the link between the Statutory and 

the Internal Auditors and the Board of Directors. The present terms of reference of the Audit Commi$ee 

includes the powers as laid out in Clause 49(III)(C) and role as s pulated in Clause 49(III)(D) of the 

Lis ng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The Audit Commi$ee also reviews informa on as per the 

requirement of Clause 49(III)(E) of the Lis ng Agreement. 

  The Audit Commi$ee also complies with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and act in 

accordance with the terms of reference speciÞed by the Board which shall inter alia include:

  (i) Recommenda on for appointment, remunera on and terms of appointment of Auditors of the 

Company;

  (ii)  Review and monitor the Auditor’s independence and performance, and e"ec veness of Audit 

process;

  (iii) Examina on of the Þnancial statement and the auditors’ report thereon; 

  (iv) Approval or any subsequent modiÞca ons of transac ons of the Company with related par es;

  (v) Scru ny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

  (vi)  Valua on of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary; 

  (vii) Evalua on of internal Þnancial controls and risk management systems; 

  (viii) Monitoring the end use of funds raised through public o"ers and related ma$ers; 

  (ix) To establish a vigil mechanism that will provide for adequate safeguards against the vic miza on of 

persons who use such mechanism and make provision for direct access to the chairperson of Audit 

Commi$ee in appropriate or excep onal cases; 

  (x) To perform such other func ons as prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013.

  The brief descrip ons of the terms of reference of the Audit Commi"ee in line with the Clause 49 of 

the Lis ng Agreement are: 

  1.  Oversight of the Company’s Þnancial repor ng process and the disclosure of its Þnancial informa on 

to ensure that the Þnancial statements are correct, su!cient and credible; 

  2.  Recommenda on for appointment, remunera on and terms of appointment of auditors of the 

Company;

   3.  Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors;

   4.  Reviewing, with the management, the annual Þnancial statements and auditor’s report thereon 

before submission to the board for approval, with par cular reference to: 

   a.  Ma$ers required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in 

the Board’s report in terms of clause (c) of sub-sec on 3 of sec on 134 of the Companies Act, 

2013; 

   b.  Changes, if any, in accoun ng policies and prac ces and reasons for the same;

    c.  Major accoun ng entries involving es mates based on the exercise of judgment by 

management; 

   d.  SigniÞcant adjustments made in the Þnancial statements arising out of audit Þndings;

    e.  Compliance with lis ng and other legal requirements rela ng to Þnancial statements; 

   f.  Disclosure of any related party transac ons; 

   g.  QualiÞca ons in the dra% audit report; 

  5.  Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly Þnancial statements before submission to the 

board for approval;

  6.  Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses/ applica on of funds raised through an 

issue (public issue, rights issue, preferen al issue, etc.), the statement of funds u lised for purposes 
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other than those stated in the o"er document/ prospectus/ no ce and the report submi$ed by the 

monitoring agency monitoring the u lisa on of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making 

appropriate recommenda ons to the Board to take up steps in this ma$er; 

  7.  Review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance, and e"ec veness of audit 

process; 

  8.  Approval or any subsequent modiÞca on of transac ons of the Company with related par es; 

  9. Valua on of undertaking or assets of the Company, wherever necessary

  10.  Scru ny of inter-corporate loans and investments; 

  11.  Valua on of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary; 

  12.  Evalua on of internal Þnancial controls and risk management systems;

  13.  Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the 

internal control systems; 

  14.  Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit func on, if any, including the structure of the internal 

audit department, sta!ng and seniority of the o!cial heading the department, repor ng structure 

coverage and frequency of internal audit; 

  15.  Discussion with internal auditors of any signiÞcant Þndings and follow up there on; 

  16.  Reviewing the Þndings of any internal inves ga ons by the internal auditors into ma$ers where 

there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature 

and repor ng the ma$er to the board; 

  17.  Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of 

audit as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

  18.  To look into the reasons for substan al defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture 

holders, shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors; 

  19.  To review the func oning of the Whistle Blower mechanism; 

  20.  Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole- me Finance Director or any other person heading 

the Þnance func on or discharging that func on) a%er assessing the qualiÞca ons, experience and 

background, etc. of the candidate; 

  21.  Carrying out any other func on as is men oned in the terms of reference of the Audit Commi$ee. 

  The Audit Commi$ee may also review such ma$ers as considered appropriate by it or referred to it by 

the Board.

Composi on, Mee ng and A"endance

The Audit Commi$ee of the Company comprises three directors – two of whom are Independent, Non-Execu ve 

and one is Promoter, Execu ve. All of them are experts in corporate Þnance, accounts and corporate law. The 

Chairman of the Commi$ee is an Independent Non-Execu ve Director, nominated by the Board. The Company 

Secretary acts as the secretary to the Commi$ee. The Chief Financial O!cer, the Statutory Auditor, and the Internal 

Auditor of the Company are invitees at the mee ngs of the Commi$ee. The internal auditor directly report to 

the audit commi$ee. The composi on of the Audit Commi$ee meets the requirement of the Clause 49 and the 

provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. During the year ended 31st March, 2015, four Audit Commi$ee mee ngs 

were held on May 30, 2014, August 13, 2014, November 13, 2014 and February 14, 2015. The composi on and 

a$endance of the members of the Audit Commi$ee are as follows:

Name of the Member Posi on No. of Mee ngs

Held A"ended

Mr. Parag Keshar Bha$acharjee# Chairman, Independent, Non-Execu ve 4 4

Mr. Prashant Mehra Member,  Promoter, Execu ve 4 4

Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Member, Independent, Non-Execu ve 4 4

# Appointment of Chairman on 13th August, 2015
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 ii. Remunera on Commi"ees/Nomina on and Remunera on Commi"ee

  The Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee iden fy persons who are qualiÞed to become Directors 

and who may be appointed in senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, recommend 

to the board their appointment and removal and carry out evalua on of every director’s performance. 

The Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee formulated the criteria for determining qualiÞca ons, 

posi ve a$ributes and independence of a director and recommended to the Board a policy, rela ng to 

remunera on for the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other employees. It shall also carry out 

such other func ons as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the lis ng 

agreement.

  As on 31st March, 2015, the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee comprises of three directors, 

all of whom are Non-Execu ve Directors and more than half are Independent Directors. The members 

of the commi$ee are Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra and Mr. Parag Keshar 

Bha$acharje is the Chairman of the Commi$ee.

  During the year ended 31st March, 2015, one mee ng of the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee 

were held on 29th August, 2014. 

  The composi on and a"endance of the members of the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi"ee 

are as follows:

Sl. 

No.

Name of Director Posi on No. of Mee ngs

Held A"ended

1 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha$acharjee Chairman, Independent, Non-Execu ve 1 1

2 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Member,  Independent, Non-Execu ve 1 1

3 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Member, Promoter, Non-Execu ve 1 1

The Company Secretary acts as a Secretary to the Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee. 

Terms of Reference of the Commi"ee, inter alia, includes the following:  

  To iden fy persons who are qualiÞed to become Directors and who may be appointed in senior management 

in accordance with the criteria laid down and to recommend to the Board their appointment and/ or removal;

  To formulate criteria for and carry out evalua on of Independent Directors and the Board;

  To formulate the criteria for determining qualiÞca ons, posi ve a$ributes and independence of a Director 

and recommend to the Board a policy, rela ng to the remunera on for the Directors, key managerial 

personnel and other employees;

  To devise a policy on Board diversity; 

  To carry out any other func on as is mandated by the Board from  me to  me and / or enforced by any 

statutory no Þca on, amendment or modiÞca on, as may be applicable.

Remunera on policy

Remunera on Policy Introduc on – The Remunera on Policy is designed to a$ract, mo vate and retain talented 

employees in a compe  ve market. The purpose of the remunera on policy are to mo vate employees to excel 

in their performance, recognise their contribu on, retain talent in the organisa on, reward merits and protect 

organisa onal stability & ßexibility and create sustainable long term value for the shareholders. 

Therefore, the Company formulated the Remunera on Policy with the following objec ves: 

(i) Ensuring that the level and composi on of remunera on is reasonable and su!cient to a$ract, retain and 

mo vate directors of the quality required to run the Company successfully; 

(ii) Ensuring that the rela onship of remunera on to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance 

benchmarks; and 

(iii) Ensuring that the remunera on involves a balance between Þxed and incen ve pay reßec ng short and 

long-term performance objec ves appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals. 
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However, occasions may arise where it is appropriate to act di"erently than set out in this Policy in excep onal 

cases due to some extra-ordinary talent of the candidate and for outstanding performance. The Remunera on 

Policy applies to the Company’s directors, key managerial personnel and other employees.

Criteria for remunera on – The Remunera on Policy reßects balance between the interests of Kaushalya main 

stakeholders as well as a balance between the Company’s short-term and long-term strategy. As a result, the 

structure of the remunera on package for the Managing Board and senior execu ves are designed to balance 

short-term opera onal performance with the medium and long-term objec ve of crea ng sustainable value 

within the Company. The Company strives for a high performance in the Þeld of sustainability and aims to 

maintain a good balance between economic gain, respect for people and concern for the environment in line 

with the Kaushalya values and business principles to ensure that highly skilled and qualiÞed senior execu ves can 

be a$racted and retained. The Company aims for a total remunera on level that is comparable to levels provided 

by other companies that are similar to Kaushalya in terms of size and complexity.

The following elements shall be considered for payment of remunera on to Execu ve Directors, KMP and other 

employees: 

Industry Average, Remunera on drawn by peers considering nature and volume of responsibili es, QualiÞca on, 

Experience, Immediate previous posi on held in earlier organisa on & responsibili es occupied, responsibili es 

shouldered in the Company, contribu on made in the Company, any achievements, rewards or recogni ons, 

behavioral pa$erns and work ethics, evalua on of performance, etc.

Remunera on to Execu ve Directors & Non-Execu ve Directors – The remunera on of the Execu ve Directors 

consists of salary and perquisites. The Managing Director and Whole- me Director. The salary and perquisites 

shall be recommended by the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee for approval by the Board of Directors. 

A%er approval from the Board of Directors shareholder’s approval will be sought. The Non-execu ve Directors 

are en tled for si&ng fees for a$ending each Board of Directors mee ng and commi$ee mee ng. The si&ng 

fees shall be recommended by the Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee for approval by the Board of 

Directors. Therea%er, shareholder’s approval shall be sought for payment of commission to the Nonexecu ve 

Directors. Any review of the remunera on to Execu ve Directors and Non-execu ve Directors shall be on the 

basis of performance evalua on of directors and as per recommenda on of the Nomina on and Remunera on 

Commi$ee. The salary, perquisites and commission to Execu ve Directors and commission & si&ng fees to 

Non-execu ve Directors shall be subject to provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 including prescribed Rules & 

Schedules thereunder and the Lis ng agreement.

Remunera on to KMP, Senior Execu ves and other employees – In order to a$ract and retain managerial 

exper se, the elements of the remunera on of the KMP & senior execu ves are determined on the basis of the 

work they do and the value they create as well as of the condi ons in other similar companies. Each element of 

the remunera on has been weighted in order to ensure a con nuous posi ve development of the Company both 

in the short and long-term as well as of the employees to enhance produc vity.

Remunera on of employees largely consists of base remunera on, perquisites, bonus, exgra a, etc. The 

components of the total remunera on vary for di"erent cadres/ grades are governed by industry pa$ern, 

qualiÞca on and experience of the employee, responsibili es handled by him, individual performance, among 

others. Employees/workers may be granted advance/loan with or without interest in case of genuine needs 

like- Medical, educa on, housing, marriage or for any other genuine purpose, subject to in conformity with the 

applicable laws and regula ons as amended from  me to  me. The remunera on to employees/workers shall 

also comply with the applicable regula ons and policies of the respec ve governments. 

However, the Company may give compensa on in the form of reward or incen ve to any employee for any 

outstanding or extraordinary performance by him which is over and above the benchmark set for him during any 

year. 

Annual appraisal of performance of KMP, senior execu ves and other employees shall be done by the respec ve 

repor ng authority/ head of the department in associa on with Managing Director. Based on such performance 

evalua on any increase in remunera on shall be done.

Review – The Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee shall review the Remunera on Policy and shall 

recommend to the Board amendments to these guidelines as it deems appropriate. The Non-execu ve Directors 
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are remunerated by way of si&ng fees of ` 5000/- for a$ending each Board of Directors mee ng and ` 3500/- for 

a$ending each commi$ee mee ng. The Company pays remunera on by way of salary to its Managing and Whole 

Time Director. The remunera on paid is within the limit speciÞed under the Companies Act, 2013 real with its 

rule & Schedule V and approved by the Board as well as by the shareholders of the Company.

Criteria for payment to Non-Execu ve Directors     

As per the present policy, the Company does not pay any remunera on to any Independent Director except 

si&ng fees for a$ending the mee ngs of the Board / Commi$ees. 

During the year, there were no pecuniary rela onships or transac ons between the Company and any of its Non-

execu ve Directors except payment of si&ng fees. The Company has not granted any stock op on to any of its 

Non-execu ve Directors.

The details of si'ng fees for the Financial Year 2014-15 paid to the Non-Execu ve Directors & their shareholding 

in the Company are as under;                                                                                                           (Amount in `)

Sl.No Name of Directors Category Si'ng fees (`) No. of shares 

held as on

31st March, 

2015

Board 

Mee ng

Commi"ee Mee ng/

Seprate Mee ng 

of Independent 

Directors

1 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Non-Execu ve Independent 30,000/- 22,500/- NIL

2 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha$acharjee Non-Execu ve Independent 20,000/- 29,500/- NIL

3 Mr. Sak  Pada Banerjee@ Non-Execu ve Independent – – NIL

4 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Non-Execu ve 

Non-Independent
30,000/- 10,500/- 30,010

5. Mrs. Mino  Nath# Non-Execu ve Independent 10,000/- 5,000/- NIL

@ resigned from the directorship w.e.f. 25th June, 2014.

# appointed as director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.

Remunera on/Si'ng Fees paid to Execu ve and Non-Execu ve Directors of the Company during the Financial 

Year ended March 31, 2015 are detailed as under:

Execu ve Directors:                                                                                                                                                  (Amount in `)

Name of Director Salary  & 

Perquisites 

Commission Si'ng Fees Total Period of Contract No ce 

Period

No. of Shares 

held as on 

31.03.2015
From To

Mr. Prashant Mehra  @ 15,90,000/- – – 15,90,000/- 01.10.2014 30.09.2017 2 Months 917760

Mr. Mahesh Mehra 11,40,000/- – – 11,40,000/- 04.09.2012 03.09.2017 2 Months 48110

@ Mr. Prashant Mehra re-appointed as Managing Director for further term of 3(three) years w.e.f. 01.10.2014 

to 30.09.2017 on mee ng of Board of Directors held on 29th August, 2014 with Nomina on and Remunera on 

Commi$ee recommenda on and shareholders’ approval in Annual General Mee ng held on 30/09/2014. 

iii. Stakeholders Rela onship Commi"ee

 The Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee considers and resolves the grievances of security holders of 

the Company. The Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee shall also oversee the redressal of shareholders’ 

and investors’ grievances in rela on to the transfer of shares, non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of 

declared dividend, all such complaints directly concerning the shareholders/investors as stakeholders of the 

Company, any such ma$ers that may be considered necessary in rela on to shareholders and investors of the 

Company and to appoint compliance o!cer for redressal of investor grievances and Þx his responsibili es. 

During the year ended 31st March, 2015, two Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee mee ngs were held 

on 18th October, 2014 and 13th November, 2014. The composi on and a$endance of the members of the 

Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee are as follows:
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The Stakeholders Rela onship Commi"ee consists of the following Members:

Sl. 

No.

Name of Director Category  No. of Mee ng 

A"ended

1 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha$acharjee Chairman, Non-Execu ve Independent 2

2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Member, Non-Execu ve Non Independent 2

3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra Member, Execu ve 2

The Company Secretary, acts as the Secretary of the Commi$ee and Compliance O!cer.

The terms of reference of the Stakeholders Rela onship Commi"ee are as follows:

To look into and redress shareholders/investors grievances rela ng to transfer of shares, non-receipt of declared 

dividends, non-receipt of Annual Reports, all such complaints directly concerning the shareholders/investors as 

stakeholders of the Company, any such ma$ers that may be considered necessary in rela on to shareholders 

and investors of the Company and to appoint compliance o!cer for redressal of investor grievances and Þx his 

responsibili es.

The Commi$ee has delegated the authority to approve the requests for transfers/transmission, split and remat/

demat of shares to the Company Secretary. The Commi$ee reviews the transfer/demat/remat approved by the 

Company Secretary and take note thereof in their subsequent mee ng.

As per clause 47(f) of the Lis ng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, the Company has designated a separate 

e-mail-id (info@kaushalya.net) exclusively for redressal of investors’ complaints.

The details of the complaints during the year 2014-2015, excluding correspondences which are not in the nature 

of complaints are given below:

Number of complaints received from the shareholders 6

Number of complaints redressed 6

Number of complaints not solved/pending Nil 

The Company Secretary acts as a Secretary to the Stakeholders Rela onship Commi$ee.

SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES)

The investor complaints are processed in a centralised web based complaints redress system. The salient features 

of this system are Centralised database of all complaints, online upload of Ac on Taken Reports (ATRs) by the 

concerned companies and online viewing by investors of ac ons taken on the complaint and its current status.

Your Company has been registered on SCORES and makes every e"ort to resolve all investor complaints received 

through SCORES or otherwise within the statutory  me limit from the receipt of the complaint.

iv. Execu ve Commi"ee

The Execu ve Commi"ee as at March 31, 2015 comprised is given hereunder:

Name of Director Designa on Category

Mr. Prashant Mehra Member Execu ve Director

Mr. Mahesh Mehra Member Execu ve Director

The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary to this commi$ee. 

The Commi$ee was cons tuted to decide ma$ers pertaining to day to day business opera ons including opening 

of current accounts with various banks and changing the signatories when required, borrow funds and make 

investments up to a speciÞed limit, to give necessary authoriza ons for various business requirements and to 

do all incidental acts, deeds and things. The Execu ve Commi$ee meets as and when necessary to a$end to 

important businesses. The minutes of the Execu ve Commi$ee mee ngs are reviewed and noted by the Board.

4.  PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement, the Board 

has carried out the performance evalua on of its own performance and of the Board Commi$ees, viz. Audit 

Commi$ee, Nomina on and Remunera on Commi$ee, and Stakeholders’ Rela onship Commi$ee as well as 

evalua on of performance of Directors individually.

Report on Corporate Governance (Contd.)



page

44

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

A structured ques onnaire was prepared a%er taking into considera on inputs received from the Directors, 

covering various aspects of the Board’s func oning such as adequacy of the composi on of the Board and its 

Commi$ees, Board culture, execu on and performance of speciÞc du es, obliga ons, corporate governance 

prac ces and stakeholders’ interests, etc. A separate exercise was carried out to evaluate the performance of 

individual Directors including the Chairman of the Board, who were evaluated on parameters such as level of 

engagement and contribu on, independence of judgment mee ng risk management & compe  on challenges, 

compliance & due diligence, Þnancial control, safeguarding the interest of the Company and its minority 

shareholders etc. The performance evalua on of the Independent Directors was carried out by the en re Board. 

The performance evalua on of the Chairman and the Non-Independent Directors was carried out by the 

Independent Directors. The Nomina on & Remunera on Commi$ee also carried out evalua on of every 

director’s performance. The Directors expressed their sa sfac on with the evalua on process.

5. SEPARATE MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS’ 

During the year ended 31st March, 2015, the Independent Directors met on 27th March, 2015, inter alia, 

i.   to review performance of non-independent Directors & the Board as a whole, 

ii. to review performance of the Chairman of the Company and 

iii. to assess the quality, quan ty and  meliness of ßow of informa on between the Company management and 

the Board.

6. GENERAL BODY MEETING

Loca on and  me, where last three Annual General Mee ngs were held are given below:

Financial Year Date Time Venue Special Resolu on 

Passed, if any

2013-2014 30th September, 2014 11.00 A.M "Aikatan", EZCC, IA-290, Sector-

III, Saltlake, Kolkata - 700097

YES*

2012-2013 27st September, 2013 11.30 A.M “Rabindra Okakura Bhavan”,  

DD 27/A/1, Salt Lake, 

Kolkata -700 064

NO

2011-2012 21st  December, 2012 11.30 A.M “Rabindra Okakura Bhavan”,  DD 

27/A/1, Salt Lake, 

Kolkata -700 064

NO

No special resolu on was passed through ballot at the last AGM and no special resolu on is proposed to be 

conducted through postal ballot at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 29th September, 2015.

*Resolu ons pertaining to the following ma$ers were passed as Special Resolu on:

a.  Re-appointment of Mr. Prashant Mehra as Managing Director.

b.  Authority to the Board to borrow money under sec on 180(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013.

c.  Approval of related party transac on u/s 188 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

D.1  Extraordinary General Mee ng: During the Financial Year 2014-2015 no Extraordinary General Mee ng of 

the members of the company was held.

D.2  Postal Ballot: No Special /Ordinary Resolu on requiring a postal ballot was proposed last year. No Special /

Ordinary Resolu on requiring a postal ballot is being proposed in the forthcoming Annual General Mee ng 

of the Company.  

7.  DISCLOSURES

 i.  The required statement/disclosure with respect to the related party transac on are placed before the 

Audit Commi$ee.

  Your Company does not have any related party transac ons, which may have poten al conßict with 

the interests of the Company at large. However, disclosure of transac ons with related par es is set 

out in the Notes to Accounts, forming part of the Annual Report. The Company has disclosed the policy 
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on dealing with the related party transac ons on its website at web-link, h$p://www.kaushalya.net/

KIDCORELATED.pdf.

  Details of such transac ons as per requirement of Accoun ng Standard 18 are disclosed in to the 

Audited Financial Statements.

 ii.  Your Company has followed the prescribed guidelines of Accoun ng Standards in prepara on of its 

Þnancial statements. 

 iii.  Your Company laid down Risk Assessment and Minimisa on procedures and the same is periodically 

reviewed by the Board. Further, the Company has adequate internal control systems to iden fy the risk 

at appropriate  me and to ensure that the execu ve management controls the risk through properly 

deÞned framework. 

 iv.  The Company has complied with the requirements of regulatory authori es on capital markets and no 

penal es/ strictures were imposed against it during the last three years.

 iv.  Your Company has complied with all the mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement 

of stock Exchanges. Company has submi$ed the quarterly compliance report to the stock exchange 

within the prescribed  me limit.

 v. Subsidiary Informa on

  The Company does not have any material non-listed Indian subsidiary company and hence, it is not 

required to have an independent director of the Company on the Board of such subsidiary company. 

The minutes of the proceedings of mee ngs of the Board of Directors of subsidiary companies are 

periodically placed before the Board of Directors of the Company and the a$en on of the directors is 

drawn to signiÞcant transac ons and arrangements entered into by the subsidiary companies.

  No of Subsidiary Companies:-

  As at March 31, 2015 the Company had following Subsidiaries:

  • Bengal KDC Housing Development Limited

  • Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Limited 

  • Kaushalya Energy Private Limited

  Step Down Subsidiary

  • Kaushalya Township Private Limited

  • Azur Solar KDC Private Limited (Kaushalya Solar Power Private Limited)

  The Audit Commi$ee reviews the Þnancial statements of all the subsidiary companies including the 

investment made by the Company. The Minutes/Resolu ons of the Board Mee ngs of all the subsidiary 

companies (including the step down Subsidiary Companies) are placed before the Board periodically. 

The management periodically reviews a statement of all signiÞcant transac ons, if any, entered into by 

all the subsidiary companies.

  During the year two Companies viz Kaushalya Nirman Private Ltd and Orion Absaan Private Ltd 

desubsidiarized. Details given in Board Report forms part of this Annual Report.

 vi. The Management Discussion and Analysis Report forms a part of the Annual Report and includes various 

ma$ers speciÞed under Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement.

         vii. The CEO/CFO Cer Þcate has been placed before the board at their mee ng held on August 13, 2015, 

in compliance with Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement with the stock exchanges duly signed by the 

Managing Director/CEO and CFO.       

 viii. The statutory auditor cer Þcate, with respect to compliance with Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement 

rela ng to Corporate Governance, has been annexed to the Directors’ Report and will be sent to the 

Stock Exchanges at the  me of Þling the Company’s Annual Report.

 ix. The Company has laid down procedures to inform Board Members about the Risk Assessment and 

minimiza on procedure, which are periodically reviewed by the Board.
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 x. Details of Directors seeking Appointment/Re-appointment at the ensuing Annual General Mee ng as 

required under Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement is annexed to the No ce convening the Annual 

General Mee ng.  

 xi. As s pulated by SEBI, a Reconcilia on of Share Capital Audit is carried out by an independent Prac cing 

Company Secretary on quarterly basis to conÞrm reconcilia on of the issued and listed capital, shares 

held in dematerialised and physical mode and the status of the register of members.

 xii.  The Company has transferred ` 1,63,680/- from unclaimed dividend account (the applica on money 

received by companies for allotment of any securi es and due for refund) to Investor Educa on and 

Protec on Fund as per sec on 125 of the Companies Act, 1956.There has been no delay in transferring 

amount, required to be transferred to the Investor Educa on and Protec on Fund.

8. CODE OF CONDUCT

 The Company has adopted a code of conduct for its Board of Directors and Senior Management Personnel 

and the same has been posted on the Company’s website.

 All Borad Members and the Senior Management Personnel of the Company Have a!rmed compliance with 

the Code of Conduct as on March 31, 2015.

 A declara on to this e"ect, duly signed by Managing Director & CEO is annexed below:-

Declara on

Pursuant to Clause 49 of the Lis ng Agreement with stock exchanges, I, Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & 

CEO of Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Limited, declare that all the Board Members and Senior Execu ves 

of the Company have a!rmed their compliance with the Code of Conduct during the year ended 31st March, 

2015.

     For Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Ltd

 Sd/-

                                                                                                            Prashant Mehra                                                  

Place: Kolkata  Managing Director & CEO

Date: 13th August, 2015  DIN-00086725 

9.   MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

 i)  A half-yearly report was not sent to each household of shareholders. Shareholders were in mated 

through the press and the Company’s website www.kaushalya.net about the quarterly performance 

and Þnancial results of the Company.

  ii)  The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company were widely published in the leading 

English and Bengali regional newspapers such as the Business Standard/Financial Express and Arthik 

Lipi.

 iv) The NEAPS is a web based applica on designed by NSE for corporates. All periodical compliance Þlings 

like Þnancial results, shareholding pa$ern, corporate governance report etc. are Þled electronically on 

NEAPS. 

 v)  BSE’s Lis ng Centre is a web-based applica on designed for corporates. All periodical compliance Þlings 

like Þnancial results, shareholding pa$ern, corporate governance report, etc. are Þled electronically on 

the Lis ng Centre. 

 vi)  SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES): The investor complaints are processed in a centralised web 

based complaints redress system. The salient features of this system are: Centralised database of all 

complaints, online upload of Ac on Taken Reports (ATRs) by the concerned companies and online 

viewing by investors of ac ons taken on the complaint and its current status.

 vii)  The Company has designated email-id: info@kaushalya.net exclusively for redressal of the investor 

grievances and the necessary disclosure to this e"ect has also been made in the Company’s website 

www.kaushalya.net.

 viii)  The Management Discussion and Analysis forms part of the Annual Report, which is posted to the 

shareholders of the Company.    
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10.  GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

 Annual General Mee ng 

 Date and Time: 29th September, 2015 at 11.00 a.m. 

 Venue: Agora, 5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A( Block-B) Plot No. CF9, Major Arterial Rd, Ac on Area 1C, Newtown, 

Kolkata, 700156

 Financial Year 

 The Þnancial year of the Company is from 1st April to 31st March every year.

 Financial year calendar for 2015-16 (Tenta ve)*

Par culars Tenta ve Schedule

Results for the quarter ending 30th June, 2015 Disclosed on 13th August, 2015

Results for the quarter ending 30th September, 2015 On or before November 14, 2015 (Subject to Limited Review)

Results for the quarter ending 31st December, 2015 On or before February 14, 2016 (Subject to Limited Review)

Results for the quarter ending/Annual 31st March, 2016 On or before May 30, 2016 (Audited)

 * Tenta ve and subject to change.

 Book Closure Date 

 25th September, 2015 to 29th September, 2015 (both days inclusive) on account of AGM. 

 Lis ng of Equity Shares on Stock Exchanges at 

 i) Na onal Stock Exchange of India Ltd. Exchange Plaza, 5th Floor Plot No. C/1, G Block Bandra – Kurla 

Complex, Bandra (E) Mumbai 400 051

 ii) BSE Ltd. The Corporate Rela onship Department Rotunda Building, PJ. Towers, Dalal Street Fort, Mumbai 

400 001. 

 Lis ng Fees

 Lis ng fee for the year 2015–16 has been paid to the NSE, BSE where the Company’s equity shares are listed.

 Depositories 

 i) Na onal Securi es Depository Ltd. 

  Trade World, 4th Floor, Kamala Mills Compound 

  Senapa  Bapat Marg, Lower Parel Mumbai 400 003

 ii) Central Depository Services (India) Ltd. 

  Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, 17th Floor,

  Dalal Street Mumbai 400 023

Corporate Iden ty Number (CIN)

CIN of the Company, allo$ed by Ministry of Corporate A"airs, Government of India is L51216WB1992PLC055629 

and our Company is registered within the jurisdic on of the Registrar of Companies, West Bengal, Kolkata. 

ISIN No. for the Company

ISIN No. for the Company’s Equity Share in De mat Form:  INE234I01010.

Stock Code

NSE  KAUSHALYA

BSE   532925
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Market price data

Monthly high, low quota ons and trading volumes of the Company's equity shares (Face Value of ` 10/- each) 

during the Þnancial year 2014-15 at NSE and BSE are noted below:

Months Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd Na onal Stock Exchange of India Ltd.

High (`) Low (`) Volume High (`) Low (`) Volume

April, 2014 8.49 5.05 2,22,269 8.60 5.15 10,474

May, 2014 9.05 6.69 2,60,194 9.00 6.60 1,18,718

June, 2014 9.16 7.00 2,59,790 9.15 7.05 43,066

July, 2014 12.88 8.50 56,70,933 12.85 8.50 9,04,675

August, 2014 8.50 6.25 25,13,866 8.50 6.20 1,81,222

September, 2014 6.91 5.06 6,35,646 6.95 5.00 1,16,060

October, 2014 6.29 5.10 1,27,714 6.25 5.00 24,414

November, 2014 7.62 5.54 5,13,902 7.50 5.50 65,224

December, 2014 6.35 5.25 1,92,218 6.65 5.00 62,181

January, 2015 7.78 5.31 3,61,598 7.75 5.40 1,04,926

February, 2015 8.62 6.20 3,94,092 8.75 6.15 95,924

March, 2015 7.82 5.00 3,16,888 7.85 4.50 35,742

[Source : This informa on is compiled from the date available from the websites of BSE and NSE.]

Performance of the Company in comparison with broad based indices
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Registrar and Share Transfer Agent

CB Management Services Private Limited

P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata-700019

Ph: 033 22806692/93/94/2486; Fax: 033 22870263

Email:rta@cbmsl.com 

Website: www.cbmsl.com

Share Transfer System

The shares received in physical mode by the Company / RTA are transferred expedi ously provided the 

documents are complete and shares under transfer are not under dispute. ConÞrma on in respect of the request 

for dematerializa on of shares is sent to respec ve depositories - Na onal Securi es Depository Limited (NSDL) 

/ Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) within s pulated period. The Company Secretary addresses 

the en re requests fort nightly.
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Shareholding pa"ern as on March 31, 2015

Category No of Shares Held % of shareholding

Promoters & Promoter Group 1,78,05,630 51.42

Ins tu onal Investors Nil Nil

Bodies Corporate 67,91,378 19.61

Indian Public 96,80,324 27.95

NRIs /OCB/Others  1,45,568 0.42

Clearing Members 2,07,091 0.60

Total 3,46,30,630  100.00

Distribu on of Shareholding

The distribu on of shareholding of the Company as on March 31, 2015 is noted below:

Range of Holding No. of Shareholders % on total no. of 

Shareholders

No. of Shares % on issued shares

Upto -   500 17,339 84.05 27,24,039 7.87

501 -     1000 1,640 7.95 13,78,798 3.98

1001 -   2000 827 4.01 12,87,762 3.72

2001 -   3000 287 1.39 7,31,652 2.11

3001 -   4000 123 0.60 4,45,844 1.29

4001 -   5000 135 0.65 6,42,505 1.86

5001 -   10000 157 0.76 11,57,408 3.34

10001-  50000 92 0.45 18,12,113 5.23

50001 - 100000 13 0.06 9,29,916 2.68

100001 and above 17 0.08 2,35,20,593 67.92

Total 20,630 100.00 3,46,30,630 100.00

Dematerializa on of shares and liquidity as on March 31, 2015

The Companies Equity Shares are compulsory demat segment and are available for trading under dematerialized 

form with both Na onal Securi es Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) 

Limited(CDSL).

99.99% equity shares of the Company have been dematerialized as on March 31, 2015.

Outstanding conver ble instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity

The Company has not issued any GDRs/ ADRs/Warrants or any Conver ble instruments. 

Plant Loca ons

Not Applicable

Address for Correspondence

For any assistance, queries regarding transfer or transmission of shares, dematerializa on, non-receipt of 

dividend, non-credit of shares in demat account and any other query rela ng to the shares of the Company and 

Annual Report, the shareholders may write to the following:

Company Secretary:

Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Ltd.

CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629

HB- 170, Sector – III, Salt Lake, Kolkata - 700 106

Tel: + 91 33 2334 4148, Fax: + 91 33 2334 4148

E –mail: info@kaushalya.net

Website-www.kaushalya.net
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Registrar and Share Transfer Agent

CB Management Services Private Limited

P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata-700019

Ph: 033 22806692/93/94/2486; Fax: 033 22870263

Email:rta@cbmsl.com

Website: www.cbmsl.com

 For and on behalf of the Board 

 Ramesh Kumar Mehra

Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 00086598)

Date: August 13, 2015 Chairman                                                                                                  

CEO AND CFO Cer Þca on

To 

The Board of Directors of 

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited

Kolkata

We Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & CEO and Mr. Tarak Nath Mishra, Chief Financial O!cer, of the 

Company, on the basis of the review of the Þnancial statements and the cash ßow statement for the year 

ended 31st March, 2015 and to the best of our knowledge and belief, hereby cer fy that :- 

1.  These statements do not contain any materially untrue statements or omit any material fact or contain 

statements that might be misleading.

2.  These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s a"airs and are in compliance 

with exis ng accoun ng standards, applicable laws and regula ons. 

3.  There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transac ons entered into by the Company 

during the year ended 31st March, 2015 which, are fraudulent, illegal or viola ve of the Company’s 

Code of Conduct. 

4.  We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for Þnancial repor ng. We 

have evaluated the e"ec veness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to Þnancial 

repor ng and we have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Commi$ee, deÞciencies in the design 

or opera on of such internal controls, if any, of which, we are aware and the steps we have taken or 

propose to take to rec fy these deÞciencies.

 5.  We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Commi$ee that: 

 (a)  there has been no signiÞcant changes in internal control over Þnancial repor ng during this year.

  (b)  there has been no signiÞcant changes in accoun ng policies during this year. 

 (c)  there has been no instances of signiÞcant fraud of which we have become aware and the 

involvement therein, of management or an employee having signiÞcant role in the Company’s 

internal control systems over Þnancial repor ng.

Place: Kolkata Prashant Mehra  Tarak Nath Mishra

Date: 13th August, 2015  Managing Director and  Chief Financial O"cer

   Chief Execu ve O"cer

Report on Corporate Governance (Contd.)



page

51

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

Auditors' Cer Þcate Regarding Compliance of Condi ons of Corporate Governance

To 

The members of 

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited

We have examined the compliance of the condi ons of Corporate Governance by Kaushalya Infrastructure 

Development Corpora on Limited for the year ended 31st March, 2015, as s pulated in Clause 49 of the 

Lis ng Agreement of the said company with the Stock Exchanges.

The compliance of condi ons of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our 

examina on has been limited to a review of the procedures and implementa on thereof, adopted by the 

Company for ensuring the compliance with the condi ons of Corporate Governance as s pulated in the said 

Clause. It is neither an audit nor an expression of the opinion on the Þnancial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our informa on and according to the explana ons given to us and based on 

the representa ons made by the Directors and the Management, we cer fy that the Company has complied 

with the condi ons of corporate governance as s pulated in Clause 49 of the above-men oned Lis ng 

Agreement.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor 

the e!ciency or e"ec veness with which the management has conducted the a"airs of the Company.

Place: Kolkata.

Date:  The 13th day of August 2015

                                                                                                For SUMANTA & CO.

                                                                                               Chartered Accountants

                                                                                         Firm Registra on No. 322554E

                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                                       Sd/-

                                                                                                     Pradeep Kumar Agarwal 

                                                                                                        Partner

                                                                                                     Membership No. 056521
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of 

KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED 

Report on the Standalone Financial Statements

1.   We have audited the accompanying 
standalone Þnancial statements of KAUSHALYA 
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 
2015, the Statement of ProÞt and Loss, the Cash 
Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of signiÞcant accoun ng policies and 
other explanatory informa on, which we have 
signed under reference to this report.

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone 
Financial Statements

2.   The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the ma$ers stated in Sec on 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect 
to the prepara on of these standalone Þnancial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the 
Þnancial posi on, Þnancial performance and 
cash ßows of the Company in accordance with 
the accoun ng principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Accoun ng Standards 
speciÞed under Sec on 133 of the Act, read with 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 
This responsibility also includes maintenance 
of adequate accoun ng records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding 
of the assets of the Company and for preven ng 
and detec ng frauds and other irregulari es; 
selec on and applica on of appropriate 
accoun ng policies; making judgments and 
es mates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementa on and maintenance of 
adequate internal Þnancial controls, that were 
opera ng e"ec vely for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accoun ng records, 
relevant to the prepara on and presenta on of 
the Þnancial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these standalone Þnancial statements based on 
our audit.

4.  While conduc ng the audit,we have taken into 
account the provisions of the Act, the accoun ng 
and audi ng standards and ma$ers which are 
required to be included in the audit report under 
the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder.

5.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Standards on Audi ng speciÞed under Sec on 
143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the Þnancial statements are free 
from material misstatements.

6.  An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
the disclosures in the Þnancial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the Þnancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal Þnancial control relevant 
to the Company’s prepara on of the Þnancial 
statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on whether the Company 
has in place an adequate internal Þnancial controls 
system over Þnancial repor ng and the opera ng 
e"ec veness of such controls. An audit also 
includes evalua ng the appropriateness of the 
accoun ng policies used and the reasonableness 
of the accoun ng es mates made by the 
Company’s Directors, as well as evalua ng the 
overall presenta on of the Þnancial statements.

7.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is su!cient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone 
Þnancial statements.

Opinion

8.  In our opinion, and to the best of our informa on 
and according to the explana ons given to us, 
the aforesaid standalone Þnancial statements 
give the informa on required by the Act in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accoun ng principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of a"airs 
of the Company as at 31st March, 2015, and its 
loss and its cash ßows for the year ended on that 
date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

9. As required by the ‘Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2015’, issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of sub-sec on (11) of sec on 143 
of the Act(hereina%er referred to as the “Order”)
based on the comments in the auditors’ reports, 
we give in the  Annexure a statement on the 
ma$ers speciÞed in the paragraph 3 and 4 of the 
Order, to the extent applicable.

10. As required by Sec on 143 (3) of the Act, we 
report, to the extent applicable, that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the 
informa on and explana ons which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law rela ng to prepara on of the 
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Þnancial statements have been kept so far 
as it appears from our examina on of those 
books and the reports of the others;

 c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of ProÞt 
and Loss, and the Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this Report are in agreement with 
the relevant books of account maintained 
for the purpose of prepara on of Þnancial 
statements;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone 
Þnancial statements comply with the 
Accoun ng Standards speciÞed under 
Sec on 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 e) On the basis of wri$en representa ons 
received from the directors as on 31st 
March, 2015 taken on record by the Board of 
Directors, none of the directors is disqualiÞed 
as on 31st March, 2015 from being appointed 
as a director in terms of Sec on 164 (2) of 
the Act.

Referred to in paragraph [9] of the Independent 
Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on 
Limited on the standalone Þnancial statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2015

 (i) (a) The company is maintaining proper records 
in so% copy format showing full par culars, 
including quan ta ve details and situa ons 
of Þxed assets except for the period before 
Financial year 2004-05.

 (b) The Þxed assets are physically veriÞed by 
the management according to a phased 
programme designed to cover all the items 
over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the company and nature of its assets. 
Pursuant to the programme, a por on of 
the Þxed assets has been physically veriÞed 
by the management during the year and no 
material discrepancies between the book 
records and the physical inventory have been 
no ced on such veriÞca on. In our opinion, 
the frequency of veriÞca on is reasonable. 

(ii) (a) The inventory has been physically veriÞed 
during the year by the management. In our 

 f) With respect to the other ma$ers to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our informa on 
and according to the explana ons given to 
us:

  i) The company disclose the impact of 
pending li ga ons on its Þnancial 
posi on in its Þnancial statements – 
Refer Note 25.1 (2) & 25.9(a) to the 
Þnancial statements;

  ii) The Company did not have any long-
term contracts including deriva ve 
contracts for which there were any 
material forseeable losses;

  iii) There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor Educa on and Protec on 
Fund by the Company.

 For Sumanta & Co. 

Firm Registra on No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants

 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Partner 

Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report
opinion, the frequency of such veriÞca on is 
reasonable.

 (b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical 
veriÞca on of inventory followed by the 
Management are reasonable and adequate 
in rela on to the size of the company and its 
nature of its business.

 (c) On the basis of our examina on of the 
inventory records, in our opinion, the 
company is maintaining proper records of 
inventory. The discrepancies no ced on 
physical veriÞca on of inventory as compared 
to book records were not material.

(iii) (a) As informed to us, the company have not 
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to 
companies, Þrms or other par es covered in 
the register maintained under sec on 189 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly 
the provisions of Clause 3(iii)[(b) and (c)]
of the said Order are not applicable to the 
company.

(iv) In our opinion, and according to the informa on 
and explana ons given to us, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the 
size of the company and the nature of its business 



page

54

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

Annexure to Independent Auditors' Report (Contd.)

for the purchase of inventory and Þxed assets and 
for the sale of goods and services. Further, on the 
basis of our examina on of the books and records 
of the company and according to the informa on 
and explana on given to us, we have neither 
come across, nor have been informed of, any 
con nuing failure to correct major weaknesses in 
the aforesaid internal control system.

(v) The Company have not accepted any deposits 
from the public within the meaning of Sec ons 73 
to 76 of the Act and the rules framed there under. 

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed cost 
records u/s 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for any of the ac vi es of the company and 
accordingly the provisions of Clause 3 (vi) of the 
order is not applicable to the company.

(vii) (a) Accordingly to the informa on and 
explana ons given to us and the records 
of the company examined by us, in our 
opinion, the company,on various instances 
has delayed the deposit of the undisputed 

statutory dues including Provident Fund, 
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, 
Sales-tax, Service Tax, Value Added Tax, cess 
and any other statutory dues applicable to it.

  According to informa on and explana ons 
given to us, undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Service Tax ` 1,44,07,638/-, 
Tax deducted at Source ` 25,000/- and ESI 
` 4,419/- were in arrears as at 31st March, 
2015 for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informa on and 
explana ons given to us and records of the 
Company examined by us, there are no dues 
of  income- tax, sales Tax, service tax, value 
added Tax, cess and other material dues 
which have not been deposited on account 
of dispute. The par culars of dues of service 
tax & income tax as at 31st March 2015  
which have not been deposited on account 
of a dispute, are as follows:

Name of the 

Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 

Lacs)

Period to which the  

amount relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 0.91 Asst. Year 2005-06 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 28.47 Asst. Year 2007-08 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 30.27 Asst. Year 2009-10 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 37.61 Asst. Year 2010-11 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 1.91 Asst. Year 2011-12 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 51.43 Asst. Year 2012-13 Commissioner of Income 

Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS

 & Late Fees

2.46 Asst. Year 2015-16 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Short Deduc on of

 TDS & Late Fees

3.02 Asst. Year 2014-15 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest & Short Deduc on 

of TDS & Late Fees

3.30 Asst. Year 2013-14 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS 15.75 Asst. Year 2012-13 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest, Short Payment 

&  Deduc on of TDS

Prior Assessment 

Years

TDS Circle-II

The Central 

Excise Act,1944

Service Tax 421.84 From 1st april, 

2010- 31st 

December 2012 

under VCES

Service Tax 

Commisionerate, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 87.42 Financial Year 

2006-07

Revision Board, Kolkata

(Amount in `)
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Name of the 

Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 

Lacs)

Period to which the  

amount relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 89.53 Financial Year 

2007-08

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 817.10 Financial Year 

2008-09

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 6.60 Financial Year 

2009-10

Sr. Joint Commissoner 

Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 0.35 Financial Year 

2010-11

Sr. Joint Commissoner 

Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 65.35 Financial Year 

2011-12

Sr. Joint Commissoner 

Appeal, Kolkata

 (c) According to the informa on and explana ons given to us the company has transferred ` 1,63,680/- to 

the investor educa on and protec on fund in accordance with the relevant provisions of Companies 

Act,1956 and rules made thereunder, with the appropriate authori es. 

(viii) The company has accumulated losses as at 31st March, 2015 which is less than Þ%y percent of the net worth 

of the Company and it has incurred cash loss of ` 6,56,14,996/- in the current year and of ` 13,65,80,111/- in 

the immediately preceding Þnancial year.

(ix) According to the records of the company examined by us and the informa on and explana ons given to us, 

the company has defaulted in payment of bank interest of  ` 45,42,695/- and the same has been reversed by 

the bank in the month of March. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which 

is under review by lead banker(The State Bank of India). The Company has not issued any debentures at 

balance sheet date.

(x) In our opinion, and according to the informa on and explana ons given to us, the company has not given 

any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or Þnancial ins tu on.

(xi) The company has not taken any term loans and accordingly the provisions of Clause 3(xi) of the order are not 

applicable to the company.

(xii) During the course of our examina on of the books and records of the company, carried out in accordance 

with the generally accepted audi ng prac ces in India, and according to the informa on and explana ons 

given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud on or by the aforesaid company, no ced or 

reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such case by the management.

 For Sumanta & Co. 

Firm Registra on No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants

 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Partner 

Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report (Contd.)

(Amount in `)
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Balance Sheet  as at 31st March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note As at 

31st March, 2015

As at 

31st March, 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(1) Shareholder's Funds

(a) Share Capital 3  34,63,06,300  34,63,06,300 

(b) Reserve & Surplus 4  50,44,38,344  57,72,24,033 

 85,07,44,644  92,35,30,333 

(2) Non-Current Liabili es

(a) Deferred Tax Liabili es (Net) 29  57,17,508  74,18,543 

(b) Other Long Term Liabili es 5  94,03,503  95,19,980 

(c) Long Term Provisions 6  8,46,411  8,41,411 

 1,59,67,422  1,77,79,934 

(3) Current Liabili es

(a) Short Term Borrowings 7  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

(b) Trade Payables 8  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 

(c) Other Current Liabili es 9  11,18,93,192  8,85,15,002 

(d) Short Term Provisions 10  6,40,49,355  6,40,49,355 

 92,14,95,700  90,08,58,591 

TOTAL  1,78,82,07,766  1,84,21,68,858 

ASSETS

(1) Non-Current Assets

(a) Fixed Assets

(i) Tangible Assets 11  3,98,09,680  4,86,08,302 

(b) Non-Current Investments 12  17,20,55,115  17,20,09,115 

(c) Long-Term Loans and Advances 13  63,82,05,655  65,84,90,440 

 85,00,70,450  87,91,07,857 

(2) Current Assets

(a) Inventories 14  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

(b) Trade Receivables 15  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 

(c) Cash & Cash Equivalents 16  1,60,40,540  2,16,08,067 

(d) Short Term Loans and Advances 17  13,24,30,654  16,65,02,275 

(e) Other Current Assets 18  81,692  5,24,366 

 93,81,37,315  96,30,61,001 

TOTAL  1,78,82,07,765  1,84,21,68,858 

See accompanying notes forming part of the 

Þnancial statements

1-33

In terms of our report a$ached.

For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Firm Regn. No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra

Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director

Membership No. 056521

Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh

Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Statement of ProÞt and Loss for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note

No.

For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

1 Revenue from opera ons (gross) 19  6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 

Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 

Revenue from opera ons (net)  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

2 Other income 20  86,39,702  35,31,293 

3 Total revenue (1+2)  6,54,71,100  15,56,99,038 

4 Expenses

Cost of Material Consumed 21.a  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Changes in Inventories of Þnished goods, work-

in-progress and stock-in-trade

21.b  -    -   

Employee beneÞts expense 22  73,41,445  71,01,711 

Finance costs 23  6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 

Deprecia on and amor sa on expense 11  88,71,729  35,77,470 

Other expenses 24  3,99,30,058  14,12,29,788 

Total expenses  13,99,57,824  29,58,56,619 

5 ProÞt / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4)  (7,44,86,726)  (14,01,57,581)

6 Tax expense:

Current tax expense for current year  -    -   

Current tax expense rela ng to prior years  -    -   

Deferred tax 29  (17,01,035)  (2,68,347)

 (17,01,035)  (2,68,347)

7 ProÞt / (Loss) for the year (5 - 6)  (7,27,85,689)  (13,98,89,234)

8 Earnings per share (of ` 10/- each): 28

(a) Basic  (2.10)  (4.04)

(b) Diluted  (2.10)  (3.91)

See accompanying notes forming part of the 

Þnancial statements

1-33

In terms of our report a$ached.

For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Firm Regn. No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra

Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director

Membership No. 056521

Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh

Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014
A. Cash ßow from opera ng ac vi es

Net ProÞt / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax  (7,44,86,726)  (14,01,57,581)
Adjustments for:

Deprecia on and amor sa on  88,71,729  35,77,470 
Finance costs  6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 
Interest income  (15,60,646)  7,30,61,096  (21,52,408)  6,48,25,631 
Opera ng proÞt / (loss) before working capital 
changes

 (14,25,630)  (7,53,31,950)

Changes in working capital:

Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in opera ng 
assets:

Inventories  8,00,980  30,73,686 
Trade receivables  (1,59,59,116)  18,65,65,003 
Short-term loans and advances  4,14,32,473  1,59,37,160 
Long-term loans and advances  (1,50,85,510)  37,15,430 
Other current assets  4,42,674  1,16,31,501  22,27,890  21,15,19,169 
Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in opera ng 
liabili es:

Other long term liabili es  –    –   
Long term provisions  5,000  5,000 
Trade payables  (6,38,66,662)  (19,12,80,399)
Other current liabili es  2,33,78,190  2,67,24,413 
Short-term provisions  –    (4,04,83,472)  –    (16,45,50,986)
Cash ßow from extraordinary items  –    –   
Cash generated from opera ons  (3,02,77,601)  (2,83,63,767)
Net income tax (paid) / refunds  (73,60,851)  (4,66,436)

Net cash ßow from / (used in) inves ng ac vi es (A)  (3,76,38,452)  (2,88,30,203)

B. Cash ßow from inves ng ac vi es

Capital expenditure on Þxed assets, including capital 
advances 

 (73,107)  –   

Proceeds from sale of Fixed Assets  –    –   

Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents
- Placed  –    –   

- Matured  50,76,047  (42,13,247)

Purchase of long-term investments

- Others  (46,000)  (26,000)

Loans & Advances given 

- Subsidiaries & Step down subsidiaries  3,53,70,295  (88,16,931)

- Joint Ventures  (1,16,477)  (1,42,616)

Interest received

- Others  15,60,646  21,52,408 

Cash ßow from extraordinary items  –    –   

Net cash ßow from / (used in) inves ng ac vi es (B)  4,17,71,404  (1,10,46,386)
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(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

C. Cash ßow from Þnancing ac vi es
Proceeds from issue of share warrants  –    (12,34,95,000)
IPO Share Applica on Money transferred  1,63,680  –   
Proceeds from conversion of share warrants into 
shares

 –    16,52,75,000 

Net increase / (decrease) in working capital 
borrowings

 6,11,25,580  5,88,27,247 

Finance cost  (6,57,50,012)  (6,34,00,569)
Cash ßow from extraordinary items  –    –   
Net cash ßow from / (used in) Þnancing ac vi es (C)  (44,60,752)  3,72,06,678 

Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash 
equivalents (A+B+C)

 (3,27,800)  (26,69,911)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year

 28,61,748  55,31,659 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  25,33,948  28,61,748 
Reconcilia on of Cash and cash equivalents with 
the Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet 
(Refer Note 16)

 1,60,40,538  2,16,08,065 

Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents as deÞned in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements 
Deposit pledged with bank as security against 
borrowings 

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

IPO refund account  –    1,35,06,590  1,63,680  1,87,46,317 
Net Cash and cash equivalents (as deÞned in AS 3 
Cash Flow Statements) included in Note 16

 25,33,948  28,61,748 

Add: Current investments considered as part of Cash 
and cash equivalents (as deÞned in AS 3 Cash Flow 
Statements)

 –    –   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *  25,33,948  28,61,748 
* Comprises:
(a) Cash on hand  24,74,869  25,69,556 
(c) Balances with banks
(i) In current accounts  59,079  2,92,192 

(ii) In deposit accounts with original maturity of less 
than 3 months

 –    –   

 25,33,948  28,61,748 

Notes: 

(i) The Cash Flow Statement reßects the combined cash ßows pertaining to con nuing and discoun ng 
     opera ons.

(ii) These earmarked account balances with banks can be u lised only for the speciÞc iden Þed purposes.

See accompanying notes forming part of the Þnancial statements
In terms of our report a$ached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Note 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on 

Limited (the company) is a public limited company 

domiciled in India and incorporated under the 

provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. Its shares are 

listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange and Na onal 

Stock Exchange. The company is primarily engaged 

in execu ng construc on contracts rela ng to 

infrastructure and real estate developments.

Moreover, it carries on the business in hotel segment, 

hotel industry and is also engaged in acquiring and 

purchasing of land. The company’s services are limited 

to domes c markets only. 

Note 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 Basis of accoun ng and prepara on of Þnancial 

statements

 The Þnancial statements of the Company have 
been prepared in accordance with the Generally 
Accepted Accoun ng Principles in India 
(Indian GAAP) to comply with the Accoun ng 
Standards as prescribed under Sec on 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013(‘the Act’) read with 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, 
the provisions of the Act(to the extent no Þed) 
and guidelines issued by the Securi es and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI).  The Þnancial 
statements have been prepared on accrual basis 
under historical cost conven on. The accoun ng 
policies adopted in the prepara on of the 
Þnancial statements are consistent with those 
followed in the previous year.

2.2 Use of es mates

 The prepara on of the Þnancial statements 
in conformity with Indian GAAP requires the 
management to make es mates and assump ons 
considered in the reported amounts of assets 
and liabili es (including con ngent liabili es) 
and the reported income and expenses during 
the year.  The management believes that the 
es mates used in prepara on of the Þnancial 
statements are prudent and reasonable.  Future 
results could di"er due to these es mates and 
the di"erences between the actual results and 
the es mates are recognized in the periods in 
which the results are known / materialize.

2.3 Inventories 

 The stock of raw materials, stores and spares, 
other construc on materials and fuel are valued 
at cost under FIFO method or net realizable value 
whichever is lower.

 Work-in-progress is valued at cost. 

2.4 Cash and cash equivalents (for purposes of Cash 

Flow Statement)

 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-
term balances (with an original maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisi on), 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
conver ble into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insigniÞcant risk of changes 
in value. 

2.5 Cash ßow statement

 Cash ßows are reported using the indirect 
method, whereby proÞt / (loss) before extraor-
dinary items and tax is adjusted for the e"ects 
of transac ons of non-cash nature and any 
deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash ßows from 
opera ng, inves ng and Þnancing ac vi es 
of the Company are segregated based on the 
available informa on.

2.6 Deprecia on

 i) Tangible Fixed Assets

  a)  Deprecia on is provided from the date 
the assets are ready to be put to use, on 
straight line method as per the useful life 
of the assets as prescribed under Part 
C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 
2013 except for the Plant & Machinery 
and Cycles purchased before FY 2004-05 
where the management has es mated 
that there were no useful life of the 
aforemen oned assets and thus di"ers 
from the useful life prescribed under the 
Act.

   For the aforemen oned assets, the 
company has charged amount of
` 40,43,060/- as deprecia on in 
statement of proÞt & loss instead of 
deduc ng it from retained earnings for 
fair & be$er presenta on of Þnancial 
statements.

2.7 Revenue recogni on

 Income from services 

 Revenues from contracts priced on a  me and 
material basis are recognized when services 
are rendered and related costs are incurred. 
Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are 
generally  me bound Þxed price contracts, are 
recognized over the life of the contract using the 
propor onate comple on method, with contract 
costs determining the degree of comple on. 
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are 
recognized when probable.
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 Revenues from maintenance contracts are 
recognized pro-rata over the period of the 
contract.

 Contract Income

 a. The company follows the policy of 
recognizing the revenue as soon as the work 
is completed, irrespec ve of the cer Þca on. 
However, whenever the work gets cer Þed, 
the company takes the cer Þed por on of 
the previously uncer Þed revenue in the 
turnover and deducts the same amount from 
the uncer Þed por on of the revenue of the 
respec ve Þnancial year.

 b. It is to be noted that  out of the total revenue 
of ` 6,08,33,560/- in the Þnancial year 2014-
15, an amount of ` 5,94,17,000/- is pending 
for cer Þca on.

 Income from Hotel

 Income from hotel is recognized on accrual basis. 
ProÞt before deprecia on from hotel business 
is recognized as income in statement of proÞt 
and loss. Deprecia on and Taxes related to Hotel 
Business is shown under respec ve heads of 
statement of proÞt and loss.

2.8 Other income  

 Interest : Interest income is generally recognized 
on  me propor on basis taking into account the 
amount outstanding and the rate applicable.  

 Maintenance & Hire Charges : Income from 
Maintenance and Hire Charges is recognized on 
accrual basis.

2.9 Tangible Fixed Assets

 Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
deprecia on.The cost of Þxed assets comprises 
its purchase price, directly a$ributable 
expenditure on making the asset ready for its 
intended use, other incidental expenses and 
interest on borrowings a$ributable to acquisi on 
or construc on of qualifying Þxed assets, up to 
the date the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent expenditure on Þxed assets a%er its 
purchase/comple on is capitalised only if such 
expenditure results in an increase in the future 
beneÞts from such assets beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance.

2.10 Investments

 a. Long-term investments (excluding investment 

proper es), are carried individually at cost 

less provision for diminu on, other than 

temporary, in the value of such investments. 

Current investments are carried individually, 

at the lower of cost and fair value. Cost of 

investments includes acquisi on charges 

such as brokerage, fees and du es.

  Investment in Lands are carried individually 

at cost less accumulated deprecia on and 

impairment, if any.  

2.11 Employee BeneÞts

 Employee beneÞts include provident fund, ESI 

and gratuity. Contribu on to Provident fund, ESI, 

Medical reimbursement etc. is charged to the 

Statement of ProÞt and Loss as incurred.

 The provision for gratuity has been made, 

without any actuarial valua on, and also not 

paid to any gratuity fund.

2.12 Borrowing Costs

 Borrowing cost a$ributable to the acquisi on 

of qualifying assets is added to the cost up 

to the date when such assets are ready for 

their intended use. Other borrowing costs are 

recognized as expenses in the period in which 

these are incurred.

2.13 Segment repor ng

 As per Accoun ng Standard (AS) 17 on "Segment 

Repor ng", segment informa on has been 

provided under the Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

2.14 Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing 
the proÞt / (loss) a%er tax (including the post 
tax e"ect of extraordinary items, if any) by the 
weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 
per share is computed by dividing  the proÞt / 
(loss) a%er tax (including the post tax e"ect 
of extraordinary items, if any) as adjusted for 
dividend, interest and other charges to expense 
or income rela ng to the dilu ve poten al 
equity shares, by the weighted average number 
of equity shares considered for deriving basic 
earnings per share and the weighted average 
number of equity shares which could have 
been issued on the conversion of all dilu ve 
poten al equity shares. Poten al equity shares 
are deemed to be dilu ve only if their conversion 
to equity shares would decrease the net proÞt 
per share from con nuing ordinary opera ons. 
Poten al dilu ve equity shares are deemed 
to be converted as at the beginning of the 
period, unless they have been issued at a later 
date. The dilu ve poten al equity shares are 
adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the 
shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. 
average market value of the outstanding shares). 
Dilu ve poten al equity shares are determined 
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independently for each period presented. 
The number of equity shares and poten ally 
dilu ve equity shares are adjusted for share 
splits / reverse share splits and bonus shares, as 
appropriate.  

2.15 Taxes on income

 "Current tax is the amount of tax payable on 
the taxable income for the year as determined 
in accordance with the provisions of the Income 
Tax Act, 1961".

 Deferred tax is recognized on  ming di"erences, 
being the di"erences between the taxable 
income and the accoun ng income that originate 
in one period and are capable of reversal in 
one or more subsequent periods.  Deferred 
tax is measured using the tax rates and the 
tax laws enacted or substan ally enacted as at 
the repor ng date.  Deferred tax liabili es are 
recognized for all  ming di"erences. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized for  ming di"erences 
of items other than unabsorbed deprecia on 
and carry forward losses only to the extent 
that reasonable certainty exists that su!cient 
future taxable income will be available against 
which these can be realized. However, if there 
are unabsorbed deprecia on and carry forward 
of losses, deferred tax assets are recognized 
only if there is virtual certainty that there will 
be su!cient future taxable income available to 
realise the assets.

2.16 Joint Venture Opera ons

 In respect of contracts executed in Integrated 
Joint Ventures under proÞt sharing arrangement 
(assessed as AOP under Income tax laws), the 
services rendered to the Joint Ventures are 
accounted as income on accrual basis. The 
proÞt / loss is accounted for, as and when it is 
determined by the Joint Venture and the net 
investment in the Joint Venture is reßected 
as investments, loans & advances or current 
liabili es.   

2.17 Impairment of assets

 The carrying values of assets / cash genera ng 
units at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed 
for impairment. If any indica on of impairment 
exists, the recoverable amount of such assets 
is es mated and impairment is recognised, if 
the carrying amount of these assets exceeds 
their recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the greater of the net selling price and 
their value in use. Value in use is arrived at by 
discoun ng the future cash ßows to their present 
value based on an appropriate discount factor. 

When there is indica on that an impairment 
loss recognised for an asset in earlier accoun ng 
periods no longer exists or may have decreased, 
such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of ProÞt and Loss, except in case 
of revalued assets.

2.18 Provisions and con ngencies

 A provision is recognised when the Company has 
a present obliga on as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an ou'low of resources 
will be required to se$le the obliga on in respect 
of which a reliable es mate can be made. 
Provisions (excluding re rement beneÞts) are 
not discounted to their present value and are 
determined based on the best es mate required 
to se$le the obliga on at the Balance Sheet 
date. These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet 
date and adjusted to reßect the current best 
es mates. Con ngent liabili es are disclosed in 
the Notes. Con ngent assets are not recognised 
in the Þnancial statements.

2.19 Service Tax Input Credits

 Service tax input credit is accounted for in the 
books in the period in which the underlying 
service received.

2.20 Opera ng Cycle:

 Based on the nature of products / ac vi es of 
the Company and the normal  me between 
acquisi on of assets and their realisa on in cash 
or cash equivalents, the Company has determined 
its opera ng cycle as 36 months for real estate & 
infrastructure projects and 12 months for others 
for the purpose of classiÞca on of its assets and 
liabili es as current and non-current.

2.21 Advances to Subsidiaries :

 The amount of ` 482,462,888/- in aggregate 
is standing as advance to its subsidiaries & 
associates at the balance sheet date out of 
which advances to the tune of ` 480,986,485/- is 
outstanding, which was advanced for purchase 
of land by the subsidiaries & associates made 
under agreement. The Company had entered 
into agreements with Kaushalya Township 
(P) Ltd., Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. and Orion 
Abasaan (P) Ltd. that whenever they will sell 
land or developed land or project on the land the 
Company’s interest shall be safeguarded as per 
the terms of the agreement.

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 3 : SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Par culars  Number of 

shares

`  Number of 

shares

 `

(a)  Authorised

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

 3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

(b)  Issued

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

 3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

(c)  Subscribed and fully paid up

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Total  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Refer Notes (i) to (iii) below

Notes :

(i) Reconcilia on of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the repor ng period:

Par culars  Opening 

Balance

Fresh Issue  Other 

Changes

 Closing 

Balance

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up

Equity shares with vo ng rights

Year ended 31 March, 2015

- Number of shares  3,46,30,630  -  -  3,46,30,630 

- Amount (`)  34,63,06,300  -  -  34,63,06,300 

Year ended 31 March, 2014

- Number of shares  1,96,05,630  1,50,25,000  -  3,46,30,630 

- Amount (`)  19,60,56,300  15,02,50,000  -  34,63,06,300 

(ii) Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares :   

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Par culars Number of 

shares held

% holding in 

that class of 

shares 

Number of 

shares held

% holding in 

that class of 

shares 

Class of shares / Name of shareholder 

Equity shares with vo ng rights

Mahan  Engineers Pvt. Ltd.  50,82,600  14.68  50,82,600  14.68 

Sunkissed Merchandise Pvt. Ltd.  50,22,900  14.50  50,22,900  14.50 

Keleenworth Marke ng Pvt. Ltd.  43,36,350  12.52  43,36,350  12.52 

Total  1,44,41,850  41.70  1,44,41,850  41.70 

(iii) Rights, preferences and restric ons a"ached to equity shares:    

The Company has issued only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 10/- per share. Each holder of equity shares is en tled 

to one vote per share held. The dividend, if any, proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of the shareholders in the 

ensuing Annual General Mee ng, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquida on of the Company, the holders of equity 

shares will be en tled to receive remaining assets of the Company a%er distribu on of all preferen al amounts. The distribu on will 

be in propor on to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 4 : RESERVES & SURPLUS 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

(a)  Securi es premium account

Opening balance  47,93,84,836  47,93,84,836 

Add : Premium on shares issued during the year  -  - 

Less : U lised during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance  47,93,84,836  47,93,84,836 

(b)  Revalua on Reserve 

Opening balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

Add: Addi on on revalua ons during the year  -  - 

Less: U lised for set o" against deprecia on  -  - 

Closing balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

(c)  General Reserve 

Opening balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

Add: Transferred from surplus in Statement of ProÞt and 

Loss

 -  - 

Less: U lised / transferred during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

(d)  Surplus / (DeÞcit) in Statement of ProÞt and Loss 

Opening balance  4,93,52,176  18,92,41,410 

Add: ProÞt / (Loss) for the year  (7,27,85,689)  (13,98,89,234)

Closing balance  (2,34,33,513)  4,93,52,176 

Total  50,44,38,344  57,72,24,033 

Note 5 : OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Advances from Related Par es

Joint Venture & Associates  94,03,503  95,19,980 

Total  94,03,503  95,19,980 

Note 6 : LONG TERM PROVISIONS

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Employee BeneÞts - Gratuity  8,46,411  8,41,411 

Total  8,46,411  8,41,411 
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(Amount in `)
Note 7 : SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Loan Repayable on Demand

(a)   Cash Credit From Banks 

Secured

(i)    State Bank of India*  29,64,03,282  25,69,03,947 

(Secured by way of hypotheca on of stock of raw material, 

work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 

directors and their rela ves, collateral security of property 

of the company and group companies.)

(ii)   Indian Overseas Bank  31,83,06,373  29,66,80,128 

(Secured by way of hypotheca on of stock of raw material, 

work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 

directors and their rela ves, collateral security of property 

of the company and group companies.)

Total  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

* Also refer Note 32(e)

Note 8 : TRADE PAYABLES

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Acceptances  -    -   

Other than Acceptances  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 

Total  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 

Note 9 : OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Statutory Remi$ances  2,00,87,258  1,15,30,993 

Advances from customers/ contractors  9,18,05,934  7,68,20,329 

Share Applica on Money Due for refund  -    1,63,680 

 11,18,93,192  8,85,15,002 

Note 10 : SHORT TERM PROVISIONS

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Income-tax  6,36,14,019  6,36,14,019 

Provision for FBT  4,35,336  4,35,336 

 6,40,49,355  6,40,49,355 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 11 : FIXED ASSETS

Par culars Gross Block Deprecia on Net Block

As at 

01.04.2014

Addi ons Deduc ons Total Upto

31.03.2014

For the

Year

Sales/

Adjustments

Total As at

31.03.2015

As at

31.03.2014

TANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) Buildings 

Own use  99,93,919  –    –    99,93,919  18,36,168  1,54,053  –    19,90,221  80,03,698  81,57,751 

Construc on  1,07,298  –    –    1,07,298  1,07,298  –    –    1,07,298  –    –   

Hotel  98,86,621  –    –    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  –    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 

(b) Plant and Equipment             

Owned  6,54,67,460  –    –    6,54,67,460  2,60,80,304  80,80,310  –    3,41,60,614  3,13,06,846 3,93,87,156 

Construc on  6,46,71,342  –    –    6,46,71,342  2,56,56,067  77,41,701  –    3,33,97,768  3,12,73,574 3,90,15,275 

Hotel  7,96,118  –    –    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  –    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 

(c) Furniture and 

Fixtures

Owned  47,42,753  19,879  –    47,62,632  38,39,319  5,75,750  –    44,15,069  3,47,563  9,03,434 

Construc on  19,85,707  19,879  –    20,05,586  10,82,273  5,75,750  –    16,58,023  3,47,563  9,03,434 

Hotel  27,57,046  –    –    27,57,046  27,57,046  –    –    27,57,046  –    –   

(d) Vehicles

Owned  76,27,741  –    –    76,27,741  74,67,780  46,684  –    75,14,464  1,13,277  1,59,961 

Construc on  76,16,183  –    –    76,16,183  74,56,222  46,684  –    75,02,906  1,13,277  1,59,961 

Hotel  11,558  –    –    11,558  11,558  –    –    11,558  –    –   

(e) O$ce equipment    

Owned  9,81,084  53,228  –    10,34,312  9,81,084  14,932  –    9,96,016  38,296  –   

Construc on  9,44,534  53,228  –    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  –    9,59,466  38,296  –   

Hotel  36,550  –    –    36,550  36,550  –    –    36,550  –    –   

Total (`)  8,88,12,957  73,107  –    8,88,86,064  4,02,04,655  88,71,729  –    4,90,76,384  3,98,09,680 4,86,08,302 

Previous Year (`)  8,88,12,957  –    –    8,88,12,957  3,66,27,185  35,77,470  –    4,02,04,655  4,86,08,302 5,21,85,772 
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(Amount in `)
Note 12 : NON CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

A.  Trade Investments  FV  Nos. `  Nos.  `

(a) Investment in Unquoted, fully paid-up Equity Shares of :

(i)  Subsidiary Companies

Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.  10  1,02,000  10,20,000  1,02,000  10,20,000 

Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.  10  1,02,000  10,20,000  1,02,000  10,20,000 

Kaushalya Energy Pvt. Ltd.  10  95,500  9,55,000  95,500  9,55,000 

Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.  10  3,17,357  1,55,07,850  3,17,357  1,55,07,850 

Total (A)  6,16,857  1,85,02,850  6,16,857  1,85,02,850 

(ii) Associates

Kaushalya Nirman Pvt. Ltd.  10  46,000  19,40,000  46,000  19,40,000 

Orion Abasaan Pvt. Ltd.  10  29,000  10,90,000  29,000  10,90,000 

Total (B)  75,000  30,30,000  75,000  30,30,000 

(ii) Others

Balaji Turnkey Projects Solu on (P) Ltd.  10  2,28,600  5,14,35,000  2,28,600  5,14,35,000 

Enlightened Projects Ltd.  10  1,95,500  2,93,25,000  1,95,500  2,93,25,000 

Orkay Engineering Ltd.  10  8,53,000  4,26,50,000  8,53,000  4,26,50,000 

Flare Realty Engineering (P) Ltd.  10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 

Total (C)  12,79,700  12,34,36,000  12,79,700  12,34,36,000 

Total (A) + (B) + (C )  19,71,557  14,49,68,850  19,71,557  14,49,68,850 

(b) Investment in Land  2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

 2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

B.  Other than Trade Investments

Gold Coins [50 Gms. Each]  10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

 10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

Total  17,20,55,115  17,20,09,115 

Aggregate value of unquoted Investments  14,49,68,850  14,49,68,850 
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(Amount in `) 
Note 13 : LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES  

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured and considered good

Security Deposits & Earnest Money Deposits  14,62,98,195  13,21,76,322 

Mobiliza on Advances  -    -   

Advance to Body Corporates  94,44,572  84,80,935 

Advances to Related Par es

Subisidiary & Associates Companies  48,09,86,485  51,77,36,695 

Step Down Subisidiaries  14,76,403  96,488 

Total  63,82,05,655  65,84,90,440 

Note (i) Long Term Loans and Advances includes due from

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Other o!cers of the Company  10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 

Private companies in which any director is a director*  11,97,08,639  12,06,42,224 

Private companies in which any director is a member*  20,44,41,228  22,59,22,822 

Total  43,31,35,108  45,89,56,753 

* The en re amount is due from subsidiaries companies.

Note 14 : INVENTORIES  

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Raw Materials  58,26,143  66,08,800 

Work in Progress

- Construc on Work in Progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

Stores & Spares  14,537  32,860 

Total  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

Note 15 : TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured, considered good

Overdue for a period exceeding six months  73,75,06,104  67,01,25,891 

Other Trade Receivables  4,21,33,560  9,35,54,657 

Total  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 
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(Amount in `) 
Note 16 : CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

(a)  Cash on hand (as cer Þed by the management)  24,74,869  25,69,556 

(b)  Balances with banks

(i)   In current accounts  59,079  2,92,192 

(ii) In earmarked accounts (Refer Note (i) below)

Balances in Deposit Accounts held as margin money 

or security against borrowings, guarantees and other 

commitments (Refer Note (i) below)

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

Share applica on money received for allotment of 

securi es and due for refund 

 -  1,63,680 

 1,60,40,538  2,16,08,065 

Of the above, the balances that meet the deÞni on of cash 

and cash equivalents as per AS 3 Cash Flow Statements is 

 25,33,948  28,61,748 

Notes: 

(i)  Includes deposits amoun ng to ` 1,744,007/- (As at 31 March, 2014 ` 17,941,708/-) which have an original 

      maturity of more than 12 months.

(ii) Includes interest of ` 7,25,511/-  

Note 17 : SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured, considered good

Advances to Suppliers & Subcontractors  1,03,16,173  2,65,73,391 

Advances to Employees  4,61,381  4,37,019 

Advance against Expenses  77,778  2,51,57,779 

Balances with government authori es 

Income Tax Payments  12,12,09,173  11,38,48,322 

Secured, considered good

Prepaid Expenses  3,66,149  4,85,764 

Total  13,24,30,654  16,65,02,275 

Note 18 : OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Par culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Accruals 

Interest accrued on deposits  81,692  5,24,364 

Total  81,692  5,24,364 

Note 19 : REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Sale of Services (Gross) 

Contract Receipts  6,08,33,560  15,77,35,831 

Other Opera ng Revenues

ProÞt from Hotel before deprecia on & taxes (Refer Note 19A)  14,838  3,62,511 

 6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 

Less : Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 

Total  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 19A: PROFIT FROM HOTEL BUSINESS (Amount in `) 

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS

Food Sale  3,48,991  2,62,187 

Room Rent  6,35,745  4,72,194 

Service Income  -    125 

Cul va on Income  2,49,955  4,02,700 

Agricultural Income  1,70,000 

Total (A)  14,04,691  11,37,206 

EXPENDITURE

Raw Food Purchased  2,09,462  1,49,079 

Fuel (Cooking)  34,134  33,112 

Repairs & Maintenance - Buildings  2,43,783  54,632 

Transport Expenses  3,280  810 

Stores  30,683  12,823 

Employee BeneÞts

Salary  1,07,400  26,100 

Site Allowance  18,600  5,400 

Administra ve & Other Expenses

Bank Charges  1,812  550 

Books & Periodicals  1,880  1,683 

Commission Charges  750  -   

Electricity Charges  1,73,437  88,300 

Cul va on Expenses  1,27,115  2,03,450 

General Expenses  40,179  18,396 

Gardening Expenses  97,332  27,734 

Interest on Delay Payment of Vat  1,193  -   

Medical Expenses  150  250 

Labour Charges incl. Allowances  1,94,300  76,050 

Laundry Expenses  11,186  5,056 

Legal & Professional Charges  -    9,000 

Postage/Fax/Courier  910  120 

Prin ng & Sta onery  2,215  -   

Rates & Taxes  18,150  3,200 

Security Expenses  51,000  49,000 

Subscrip on  7,552  7,204 

Telephone Expenses  30  -   

Travelling & Conveyance  13,320  2,746 

Total (B)  13,89,853  7,74,695 

ProÞt/(Loss) before Deprecia on and Taxes(A-B)  14,838  3,62,511 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 20 : OTHER INCOME (Amount in `) 

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Interest Income

Interest from Bank on Deposits  15,60,646  21,52,408 

Income from Maintenance Work  26,50,000  -   

Sundry Credit balance W/o"  22,51,496  -   

Hire Charges  20,87,000  13,78,885 

Prior Period Income  7,200  -   

Miscellaneous Income  83,360  -   

(Net of expenses directly a$ributable Rs. Nil Prev. Year Rs. Nil)

Total  86,39,702  35,31,293 

Note 21a : COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Opening stock  66,41,660  97,15,346 

Add: Purchases  1,72,63,600  7,74,73,396 

 2,39,05,260  8,71,88,742 

Less: Closing stock  58,40,680  66,41,660 

Cost of material consumed  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Note 21b : CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK&IN&PROGRESS AND STOCK IN TRADE

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Inventories at the beginning of the year:

- Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Less: Inventories at the end of the year:

- Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Net (increase) / decrease  -   -

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 22 : EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Salary, Allowances & Bonus  40,78,964  41,43,371 

Directors' Remunera on  27,30,000  25,20,000 

Contribu on to PF, ESI & Other Funds  46,872  50,288 

Sta" Welfare  4,80,609  3,83,052 

Employee Re rement BeneÞts  5,000  5,000 

 73,41,445  71,01,711 

Note 23 : FINANCE COSTS

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

(a) Interest expense on:

(i) Borrowings  6,22,46,790  5,73,39,291 

(ii) Delayed/Deferred payment of taxes  1,82,524  2,55,457 

(b) Other borrowing costs  33,20,698  58,05,821 

 6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 

Note 24 : OTHER EXPENSES

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Contract Opera ng Expenses

Consump on of Stores & Spare Parts  20,86,582  19,57,144 

Unrecoverable Works Contract  64,23,305  6,57,13,930 

Hire Charges  73,650  34,26,065 

Labour Charges & Allowances  1,67,32,028  3,54,81,567 

Power & Fuel  4,93,367  3,33,212 

Repairs & Maintenance- Machinery  11,85,275  7,13,377 

Freight Charges  45,450  65,320 

Service Tax  -    65,83,749 

Works Contract Tax  5,20,041  86,86,814 

Survey Charges  -    29,650 

 2,75,59,698  12,29,90,828 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 24 : OTHER EXPENSES (Contd.)

Par culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Administra ve Expenses

Rent  12,86,565  12,70,850 

Rates & Taxes  5,54,743  5,41,966 

Insurance  33,254  77,535 

Consultancy & Professional Charges  11,64,301  14,83,718 

Directors' Si&ng Fee  1,57,500  83,000 

Electricity Charges  2,71,203  2,44,871 

Post, Telegraph, Telephone & Internet  5,27,715  4,68,550 

Travelling & Conveyance  7,26,297  8,35,015 

Prin ng & Sta onery  3,57,156  3,22,922 

Payment to Auditors

 - As Audit Fees  84,270  84,270 

 - As Tax Audit Fees  28,090  28,090 

 - For Cer Þca on  -    9,552 

Prior Period Expenses  62,324  -   

Miscellaneous Expenses  2,42,644  1,59,300 

 54,96,062  56,09,639 

Selling & Distribu on Expenses

Adver sement  1,42,915  1,35,550 

Subscrip on  11,790  13,521 

 1,54,705  1,49,071 

Other Expenses

Sundry Debit/ (Credit) Balance W/O"  67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

 67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

Total  3,99,30,058  14,12,29,788 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 25 : ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25.1 : Con ngent Liabili es and Commitments to the extent not provided for                                      (Amount in `)

Sl. No. Par culars As on 31.03.2015 As on 31.03.2014

1. a. Performance guarantees issued by the banks to various Government 

Authori es, for which the Company has provided counter guarantee 

against which Þxed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company.

50,297,983 47,623,983

b. Performance Guarantee issued on behalf of other company against which 

Þxed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company

8,674,000 8,674,000

c. Bank Interest Reversed     4,542,695 Nil 

2. Claims not acknowledged as debts

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2004-05)          Nil 3,771,602

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2005-06) 90,875 72,381

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2006-07)             Nil 923,573

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2007-08) 2,846,864 4,098,684

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2009-10) 3,026,950     Nil

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2010-11) 3,761,030 3,761,030

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2011-12) 190,580 4,165,834

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2012-13) 5,142,880 259,290

25.2 : Disclosures required under Sec on 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006

The Company is in the process of iden fying the suppliers, who would be covered under the Micro, Small and 

Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006. As conÞrmed by the management, the company has not yet 

received any informa on about such registra on from the vendors and such informa on will be provided as and 

when conÞrma on is received from them. However, as regards the same, no documentary evidence has been 

found during the course of audit.

25.3 : Disclosure as per clause 32 of the lis ng agreement

(Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries, associates and others and investment in 

shares of the Company by such par es)

The loans and advances in the nature of advances given by the company to its Subsidiaries and  Associates, 

amounts to ` 482,462,888/-, in aggregate as on 31st March 2015. The details of the same have been provided 

below:

(a)   Loans and advances in the nature of advances given to subsidiaries, associates and others    (Amount in `)

 Sl.

No.

 

Name of the Subsidiary

 Balance 

as at 

 31.03.2015 

 Maximum 

 Balance 

 2014-15 

 Balance 

as at 

 31.03.2014 

 Maximum 

 Balance 

 2013-14

1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. Nil 40,600           38,000           38,000 

2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.   118,232,236   119,131,586   119,128,986   131,759,986 

3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. Nil            2,600 Nil 3,395,100 

4 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780 58,876,430 58,876,430   67,083,317 

5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.      1,476,403 1,476,403      1,475,238 1,475,238

6 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.   204,441,222 225,922,822   225,922,822 261,727,246

7 Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 108,985,241 112,391,707 112,391,707 113,091,707

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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25.4 : Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Gross before TDS) (on accrual basis)

Par culars For the 

year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the 

year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Traveling and Conveyance Nil Nil

Loss in repayment of Term Loan Nil Nil

25.5 : Details of consump on of imported and indigenous items

Par culars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

Amount  (`) % Amount  (`) %

Indigenous

Raw Material 18,064,580 100 80,547,082 100

Components Nil Nil Nil Nil

Spare Parts 2,086,522 100 1,957,144 100

Imported

Raw Material Nil Nil Nil Nil

Components Nil Nil Nil Nil

Spare Parts Nil Nil Nil Nil

25.6 : Earning in foreign exchange (net of TDS): Nil

25.7 : Amount remi"ed in foreign currency during the year on account of dividend: Nil

25.8 : Current assets

 In the opinion of the Board, the current assets have value on realiza on in the ordinary course of business 

at least equal to the amount at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet. However, the following are the 

areas of concern:

a Outstanding Sundry debtors.

 Out of total Sundry Debtors of ` 779,639,664/-, an amount of ` 737,506,104/- is outstanding since long, and 

out of which several debtors are under dispute.

b. Sundry Debit/(Credit) Balance W/O# :

 The major detail of the Sundry Credit Balance Wri$en O" is as follows:

 i. Sundry Creditors `  20,66,122/-

 ii. Security Deposit ` 1,373/-

 iii. Statutory Dues `  376/-

 iv. Cash & cash equivalents `  10,224/-

 v. Liability for Expenses `   1,08,401/-

 vi. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 65,000/-

(b)   Investment in shares of the Company by such subsidiaries, associates and others                   (Amount in `)

Name of the subsidiary As at 

31 March, 2015

As at 

31 March, 2014

Nil Nil

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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The major detail of the Sundry Debit Balance Wri$en O" is as follows :

i. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 53,24,213/-

ii. Advance for Expenses `  10,000/-

iii. Security Deposit `  12,91,955/-

iv. Cash & cash equivalents ` 58,425/-

v. Advance for projects ` 35,000/-

c. Short-term Advances:

 The Company had advanced a net amount of ` 34,474,964/- to Flare Realty Engineers Private Limited, for 

mee ng its working capital requirements. However, the work for execu on of part of the work at Sardasahar, 

Rajasthan of Nagar Palika project was awarded to the Company. Therea%er, Flare Realty Engineers Private 

Limited asked for security deposit against the said work and requested to transfer the working capital 

advance to Security Deposit. The Company has accepted the condi on and agreed to transfer the working 

capital advance to Security Deposit. 

Note 25.9 : Statutory Compliances

The following areas are of concern :

a. Service Tax Payable: Following informa on is worth no ng in this regard-

 i. The company opted for the VCES, 2013 for the service tax payable corresponding to the period 

from April’ 2009 to December, 2012. The total liability of the service tax for the said period stood to 

` 1,59,43,004/-, payable in two equal installments on or before 31st Dec, 2013 and 30th June, 2014 

respec vely. The company has paid ` 79,72,657/- i.e 50% of declared liability  ll date. In, the mean 

 me, the Company has received a show cause cum demand no ce from Service Tax Commissionerate, 

Kolkata for ` 4,21,84,307/-  for the said period. However, the hearing of the ma$er is s ll pending.

 ii. Apart from the afore-men oned amount due under VCES, 2013, the balance amount of Service Tax 

which is due to be paid is ` 1,04,51,981/-

 iii. An amount of ` 14,01,229/- has been shown as Service Tax accrued but not due for payment. This 

amount comprises of the tax accrued on or before 1st July, 2011, which is to be paid on receipt 

basis,but not paid  ll date as no payment has been recovered from the debtors against the same since 

F.Y. 2010-11.

Note 25.10 : Dilu on of holding:

A) During the current Þnancial year, the shareholding of the company has diluted in one of its subsidiary : 

Kaushalya Township Private Limited in which shareholding reduced from 73.49% to 48.69%. However, 

Kaushalya Township Private Limited con nue to be the step-down subsidiary of the company as the company 

holds more than 50% of the shareholding through its other subsidiary.

B) Details of companies which have cease as subsidiary and become associates during the year under review as 

under:

 a) Orion Abasaan Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 72.50% to 48.33% on 28th day of March, 

2015

 b) Kaushalya Nirman Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 68.66% to 46% on 31st ay Day of 

March, 2015

Note 25.11 : Fixed Deposits:

All the Þxed deposits have been made against the Bank Guarantee and under lien with the corresponding bank.

Note 25.12 : Interest on credit cards:

The company has paid interest to the tune of ` 1,67,381/- on delayed payment of credit cards of the directors.

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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26 : During the year  borrowing cost is not capitalized.

27: Related Par es*, Related Party Transac ons and Balances receivable/payable as at the end of the year

       Related Party Disclosures as required by AS 18 issued by ICAI

I. Par es Where Control Exists

 Subsidiaries

 1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.

 2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.

 3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd.

 Step Down Subsidiaries

 4 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.

 5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.

II. Joint Ventures

 Jointly Controlled En  es

 1 KIDCO - NACC

III. Associates 

 1 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Limited

 2 Orion Abasaan (P) Limited

IV. Key Management Personnel :

 1 Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director

 2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Chairman

 3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra, Whole- me Director

 4 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha$acharjee, Independent Director

 5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Independent Director

 6 Mrs. Mino  Nath, Women Independent Director

V. Other Related Par es with whom the company had transac ons during the year

 Rela ves of Key Management Personnel :

 1 Mr Kar k Mehra

 2 Mr Karan Mehra

 3 Mrs. Neeru Mehra

 4 Ramesh Kumar Mehra HUF

VI.  Transac ons with Related Par es                                                                                                          (Amount in `)

Sl.
No.

Type of  Transac ons 2014-15 2013-14
 Subsidiaries/ 
 Associates/JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 Rela ves  
 of KMP 

 Subsidiaries
 JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 Rela ves  
 of KMP 

(a) Valued of Services Received      2,770,500        960,000 2,538,000          960,000 

Directors Remunera on

 - Prashant Mehra      1,590,000 1,380,000 

 - Mahesh Mehra  1,140,000   1,140,000 

Si&ng Fees

 - Ramesh Mehra           40,500           18,000 

Salary

 - Kar k Mehra        480,000          480,000 

 - Karan Mehra        480,000          480,000 

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Sl.
No.

Type of  Transac ons 2014-15 2013-14
 Subsidiaries/ 
 Associates/JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 Rela ves  
 of KMP 

 Subsidiaries
 JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 Rela ves  
 of KMP 

(b) Rent Paid        600,000                  -            600,000 

Rent

- Neeru Mehra                 -         -        600,000                 -            600,000 

(c) Money Recd. Agst Warrants - - - - 265,000          455,000 

265,000          455,000 
(Rela ves)

    41,185,000 
(Others)

(d) Advances Given 12,643,477               -                -   97,986,011  

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. 2,600                        -   

- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd. 3,250                        -   

- Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. 2,600   64,100 

- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 1,350 1,600,400 

- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. 11,344,950 31,856,900 

- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 571,650 62,943,245 

- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd. 600,600 1,378,750 

(e) Advances received back during 
the year

47,897,295 89,026,464 

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. 40,600                        -   

- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd. 900,000  12,631,000 

- Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. 2,600 3,395,100 

- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 9,550,000 9,807,287 

- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. 32,826,544 57,968,077 

- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 3,978,116 5,225,000 

- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd. 599,435 

(f) Advance Repaid

- KIDCO NACC JV 116,477 142,616

(g) Balance Receivable as at 
31.03.2015

482,462,888 517,833,183 

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.                         -                  38,000 

- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd.     118,232,236     119,128,986 

- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780         58,876,430 

- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.     204,441,228     225,922,822 

- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd.    108,985,241     112,391,707 

- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.         1,476,403           1,475,238 

(h) Balance Payable as at 31.03.2015 9,403,503           9,519,980         186,842          119,555 

- Prashant Mehra                        -           168,842 

- Ramesh Mehra                        -             18,000 

- Neeru Mehra            45,000 

- Kar k Mehra            36,505 

- Karan Mehra            38,050 

- KIDCO NACC JV         9,403,503           9,519,980 

*Note : Related par es have been iden Þed by the management.
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Note 28: Earning Per Shares 

Year Ended 31.03.2015 (Amount in `)

Total Opera onsDiscon nuing Opera onsCon nuing Opera ons

A%er Extraordinary and 

Excep onal Items

Before Extraordinary 

and Excep onal Items

A%er Extraordinary 

and Excep onal Items

Before Extraordinary 

and Excep onal Items

A%er Extraordinary and 

Excep onal Items

Before Extraordinary and 

Excep onal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic

101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares

(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)0000(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)ProÞt 

a$ributable 

to Eq. 

Shareholders

34,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,630Weighted Average 

No. of Shares

(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)----(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)EPS (`)

Year Ended 31.03.2014

Total Opera onsDiscon nuing Opera onsCon nuing Opera ons

 A%er Extraordinary and

Excep onal Items

 Before Extraordinary and

Excep onal Items

 A%er Extraordinary and

Excep onal Items

 Before Extraordinary

and Excep onal Items

 A%er Extraordinary and

Excep onal Items

 Before Extraordinary and

Excep onal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic

101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares

(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)0000(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)ProÞt 

a$ributable to 

Eq. Shareholders

35,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,630Weighted 

Average No. of 

Shares

(3.91)(4.04) (3.91)(4.04) ----(3.91)(4.04) (3.91)(4.04) EPS (`)

Note 29: Deferred Tax Assets/(Liability)                                                                                                       (Amount in `)

 31.03.2015  31.03.2014

 Timing Di#erence  Timing Di#erence 

On Account of Deprecia on     

- Net Block as per I T Act 20,465,013  23,758,665  

- Net Block as per Cos. Act 39,809,680  (19,344,668) 48,608,302  (24,849,637)

On Account of Employee BeneÞts           841,411  841,411

   (18,503,257)   (24,008,226)

E"ec ve Rate of Tax  30.90%  30.90%

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)     (5,717,507)     (7,418,542)

Less : Deferred Tax Liability b/f     (7,418,542)     (7,686,889)

Deferred Tax Provision  (1,701,035)  (268,347)

Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed deprecia on and carry forward of losses has not been recognized since the 

management is of the opinion that there is no virtual certainty that there will be su!cient future taxable income 

available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.
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Note 30: Interests in Joint Ventures                                                                                                               (Amount in `)

Name of the JV and 

country of origin 

% of 

Share 

holding

Amount of interest based on the accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2015

Assets Liabili es Income Expenditure Con ngent 

Liabili es

Capital 

Commitments

New Asian Construc on 
Co., India 90%

10,490,402 11,494,869 - 124,822 Nil Nil

(Prev. Year) (10,595,231) (11,474,877) - (270,681) Nil Nil

Note 31 : Details of Provisions

Par culars For the year ended 

31.03.2015

For the year ended 

31.03.2014

Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred Tax 
Liability

Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred tax 
Liability

Balance at the beginning of the year 63,614,019 7,418,542 63,614,019 7,686,889

Provision made during the year Nil    (1,701,035) Nil (268,347)

Paid/Adjusted during the year Nil Nil Nil Nil

Balance at the end of the year 63,614,019 5,717,507 63,614,019 7,418,542

Note 32: Other informa on:

a. Projects in hand:

 The company is having three major running projects, construc on of integrated school and hostel complex  
for Wes ng House Saxby Farmer Ltd., contract value of ` 7.25 Cr., Mega Housing project for EWS, LIG & 
MIG through PPP in Sardarsahar, Rajasthan from Rajasthan Avas Vikas & Infrastructure Ltd. of ` 51.66 Cr 
& Construc on of Swarigarh SHP from U$rakhand Jal Vidyut Nigam (awarded to KIDCO-NACC Consor um) 
contract value ` 14.83 Cr. In these projects, revenue to the tune of ` 7.60 Crs. has already been recognized 
upto the year ending 31.03.2015. 

b. Work order received from Power Department, Sikkim of ` 4,55,20,000/- in the year 2004-05. The company 
has completed the work to the tune of ` 2,92,43,450/- but it has not been cer Þed by the said department 
and subsequently no payment has been released by them against the aforesaid work done. The reason for 
not receiving the funds as stated by the management is due to non availability of fund under the APDRP 
scheme (the scheme of the project) in Sikkim.

c. The Company had Þled a claim with their client NPCC Ltd. the client in turn raised the claim to their principal 
NTPC and entered into arbitra on via P.M.A. The arbitra on has awarded a claim of ` 8,55,23,452/- against 
a demand of ` 77,66,336/- and against this award the principal has appealed before the Secretary of the 
P.M.A. As per term the claim received by NPCC shall be passed on to the company a%er deduc on of their 
margins as per MOU.

d. It is also observed that the company has few debtors under dispute and in case where any order is received 
against the said claims, the company may prefer further appeal to the higher authority. 

e. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which is under review by lead banker 
The State Bank of India. The SBI has also reversed part of earlier charged interest of ` 45.42 lacs in account. 
This has also resulted/reßected in lower Þnance cost in last quarter 31.03.2015. However, Bank shall have 
the right to recompense the reliefs/sacriÞces/waivers extended upto this restructuring package. 

Note 33 : Previous Year Figures

Previous year's Þgures have been regrouped / reclassiÞed wherever necessary to correspond with the current 
year's classiÞca on / disclosure.

In terms of our report a$ached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary

Notes forming part of the Þnancial statements (Contd.)



page

81

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of 

KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.   We have audited the accompanying 
Consolidated Þnancial statements of 
KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
31st March, 2015, the Consolidated  Statement 
of ProÞt and Loss, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary 
of signiÞcant accoun ng policies and other 
explanatory informa on (hereina!er referred to 
as “consolidated Þnancial statements”)

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

2.   The Holding Company’s Board of Directors 
is responsible for the prepara on of these 
consolidated Þnancial statements in terms of 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”) that give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated Þnancial posi on, consolidated 
Þnancial performance and consolidated cash 
ßows of the Holding company and  its subsidiaries 
including its Associates and jointly controlled 
en  es in accordance with the accoun ng 
principles generally accepted in India, including 
the Accoun ng Standards speciÞed under Sec on 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014. The respec ve Board of 
Directors of the companies included in the Holding 
company and of its subsidiaries, associates and 
jointly controlled en  es are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accoun ng records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding of the assets of the Holding 
company and its subsidiaries and for preven ng 
and detec ng frauds and other irregulari es; 
the selec on and applica on of appropriate 
accoun ng policies; making judgments and 
es mates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementa on and maintenance of 
adequate internal Þnancial controls, that were 
opera ng e"ec vely for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accoun ng records, 
relevant to the prepara on and presenta on of 
the Þnancial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, which have been 
used for the purpose of prepara on of the 
consolidated Þnancial statements by the Directors 
of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated Þnancial statements based on 
our audit.

4.  While conduc ng the audit, we have taken into 
account the provisions of the Act, the accoun ng 
and audi ng standards and ma#ers which are 
required to be included in the audit report under 
the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder.

5.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Standards on Audi ng speciÞed under Sec on 
143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the Þnancial statements are free 
from material misstatements.

6. An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
the disclosures in the consolidated Þnancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated Þnancial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal Þnancial control relevant to the Holding 
Company’s prepara on of the consolidated 
Þnancial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on whether 
the Holding Company has in place an adequate 
internal Þnancial controls system over Þnancial 
repor ng and the opera ng e"ec veness of 
such controls. An audit also includes evalua ng 
the appropriateness of the accoun ng policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accoun ng 
es mates made by the Holding Company’s 
Board of Directors, as well as evalua ng the 
overall presenta on of the consolidated Þnancial 
statements.

7.  We believe that the audit evidence obtained by 
us and the audit evidence obtained by the other 
auditors in terms of their reports referred in sub-
paragraph (a) of the Other Ma#ers paragraph 
below, is su$cient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the Consolidated 
Þnancial statements.

Opinion

8.  In our opinion, and to the best of our informa on 
and according to the explana ons given to us, 
the aforesaid consolidated Þnancial statements 
give the informa on required by the Act in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accoun ng principles 
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated 
state of a"airs of the Group, its associates and 
jointly controlled en  es as at 31st March, 2015, 
and their consolidated loss and their consolidated 
cash ßows for the year ended on that date.
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Other Ma ers

We did not audit the Þnancial statements of Þve 
subsidiaries and one jointly controlled en  es, whose 
Þnancial statements reßect total assets of ` 47.83 
crores as at 31st March, 2015, total revenues of ` 0.05  
crores and net cash inßow amoun ng to ` 0.69 crores 
for the year ended on that date, as considered in the 
consolidated Þnancial statements. The consolidated 
Þnancial statements also include the Holding company 
and its subsidiaries’ share of net proÞt of ` 2,674 for 
the year ended 31st March, 2015, as considered in the 
consolidated Þnancial statements, in respect of two 
associate, whose Þnancial statements have not been 
audited by us. These Þnancial statements have been 
audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to us by the Management and our opinion 
on the consolidated Þnancial statements, in so far as 
it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in 
respect of these subsidiaries, jointly controlled en  es 
and associates, and our report in terms of sub-sec ons 
(3) and (11) of Sec on 143 of the Act, in so far as it 
relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
en  es and associates, is based solely on the reports 
of the other auditors.

Our opinion on the consolidated Þnancial statements, 
and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements below, is not modiÞed in respect of the 
above ma#ers with respect to our reliance on the work 
done and the reports of the other auditors and the 
Þnancial statements/Þnancial informa on cer Þed by 
the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

9. As required by Sec on 143 (3) of the Act, we 
report, to the extent applicable, that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the 
informa on and explana ons which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 
aforesaid consolidated Þnancial statements;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law rela ng to prepara on of 
the consolidated Þnancial statements have 
been kept so far as it appears from our 
examina on of those books and the reports 
of the other auditors;

 c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of ProÞt and Loss, 
and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

dealt with by this Report are in agreement 
with the relevant books of account 
maintained for the purpose of prepara on of 
the consolidated Þnancial statements;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Consolidated 
Þnancial statements comply with the 
Accoun ng Standards speciÞed under 
Sec on 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 e) On the basis of wri#en representa ons 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on 31st March, 2015 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors of the 
Holding Company and the reports of the 
statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies 
and associate companies incorporated in 
India, none of the directors of the Holding 
companies, its subsidiary companies and 
associate companies incorporated in India 
is disqualiÞed as on 31st March, 2015 from 
being appointed as a director in terms of 
Sec on 164 (2) of the Act.

 f) With respect to the other ma#ers to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our informa on 
and according to the explana ons given to 
us:

  i) The consolidated Þnancial statements 
disclose the impact of pending li ga ons 
on the consolidated Þnancial posi on of 
the Holding company, its subsidiaries, its 
associates and jointly controlled en  es 
– Refer Note 27.1 (2) & 27.9(a) to the 
Þnancial statements;

  ii) The Holding company, its subsidiaries, 
associates and jointly controlled en  es 
did not have any long-term contracts 
including deriva ve contracts for which 
there were any material forseeable 
losses;

  iii) There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor Educa on and Protec on 
Fund by the Hoding Company, its 
subsidiary companies and its associate 
companies incorporated in India.

 For Sumanta & Co. 

Firm Registra on No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Partner 

Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521
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Name of the 

Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 

Lacs)

Period to which the  

amount relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 0.91 Asst. Year 2005-06 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 28.47 Asst. Year 2007-08 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 30.27 Asst. Year 2009-10 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 37.61 Asst. Year 2010-11 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 1.91 Asst. Year 2011-12 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Referred to in paragraph [9] of the Independent 
Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora"on 
Limited on the standalone Þnancial statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2015

 (i) (a) The company is maintaining proper records 
in so! copy format showing full par culars, 
including quan ta ve details and situa ons 
of Þxed assets except for the period before 
Financial year 2004-05.

 (b) The Þxed assets are physically veriÞed by 
the management according to a phased 
programme designed to cover all the items 
over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the company and nature of its assets. 
Pursuant to the programme, a por on of 
the Þxed assets has been physically veriÞed 
by the management during the year and no 
material discrepancies between the book 
records and the physical inventory have been 
no ced on such veriÞca on. In our opinion, 
the frequency of veriÞca on is reasonable. 

(ii) (a) The inventory has been physically veriÞed 
during the year by the management. In our 
opinion, the frequency of such veriÞca on is 
reasonable.

 (b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical 
veriÞca on of inventory followed by the 
Management are reasonable and adequate 
in rela on to the size of the company and its 
nature of its business.

 (c) On the basis of our examina on of the 
inventory records, in our opinion, the 
company is maintaining proper records of 
inventory. The discrepancies no ced on 
physical veriÞca on of inventory as compared 
to book records were not material.

(iii) (a) As informed to us, the company have not 
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to 
companies, Þrms or other par es covered in 
the register maintained under sec on 189 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly 
the provisions of Clause 3(iii)[(b) and (c)]
of the said Order are not applicable to the 
company.

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report

(iv) In our opinion, and according to the informa on 
and explana ons given to us, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the 
size of the company and the nature of its business 
for the purchase of inventory and Þxed assets and 
for the sale of goods and services. Further, on the 
basis of our examina on of the books and records 
of the company and according to the informa on 
and explana on given to us, we have neither 
come across, nor have been informed of, any 
con nuing failure to correct major weaknesses in 
the aforesaid internal control system.

(v) The Company have not accepted any deposits 
from the public within the meaning of Sec ons 73 
to 76 of the Act and the rules framed there under. 

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed cost 
records u/s 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for any of the ac vi es of the company and 
accordingly the provisions of Clause 3 (vi) of the 
order is not applicable to the company.

(vii) (a) Accordingly to the informa on and 
explana ons given to us and the records 
of the company examined by us, in our 
opinion, the company,on various instances 
has delayed the deposit of the undisputed 
statutory dues including Provident Fund, 
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, 
Sales-tax, Service Tax, Value Added Tax, cess 
and any other statutory dues applicable to it.

  According to informa on and explana ons 
given to us, undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Service Tax ` 1,44,07,638/-, 
Tax deducted at Source ` 25,000/- and ESI 
` 4,419/- were in arrears as at 31st March, 
2015 for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informa on and 
explana ons given to us and records of the 
Company examined by us, there are no dues 
of  income- tax, sales Tax, service tax, value 
added Tax, cess and other material dues 
which have not been deposited on account 
of dispute. The par culars of dues of service 
tax & income tax as at 31st March 2015  
which have not been deposited on account 
of a dispute, are as follows: 

 (Amount in `)
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Name of the 

Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 

Lacs)

Period to which the  

amount relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 51.43 Asst. Year 2012-13 Commissioner of Income 

Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS

 & Late Fees

2.46 Asst. Year 2015-16 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Short Deduc on of

 TDS & Late Fees

3.02 Asst. Year 2014-15 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest & Short Deduc on 

of TDS & Late Fees

3.30 Asst. Year 2013-14 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS 15.75 Asst. Year 2012-13 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest, Short Payment 

&  Deduc on of TDS

Prior Assessment 

Years

TDS Circle-II

Name of the 

Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 

Lacs)

Period to which the  

amount relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

The Central 

Excise Act,1944

Service Tax 421.84 From 1st april, 

2010- 31st 

December 2012 

under VCES

Service Tax 

Commisionerate, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 87.42 Financial Year 

2006-07

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 89.53 Financial Year 

2007-08

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 817.10 Financial Year 

2008-09

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 6.60 Financial Year 

2009-10

Sr. Joint Commissioner 

Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 0.35 Financial Year 

2010-11

Sr. Joint Commissioner 

Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 

Act, 2003

Vat 65.35 Financial Year 

2011-12

Sr. Joint Commissioner 

Appeal, Kolkata

(Amount in `)

 (c) According to the informa on and 

explana ons given to us the company has 

transferred ` 1,63,680/- to the investor 

educa on and protec on fund in accordance 

with the relevant provisions of Companies 

Act,1956 and rules made thereunder, with 

the appropriate authori es. 

(viii) The company has accumulated losses as at 31st 

March, 2015 which is less than Þ!y percent of the 

net worth of the Company and it has incurred cash 

loss of ` 6,56,14,996/- in the current year and of 

` 13,65,80,111/- in the immediately preceding 

Þnancial year.

(ix) According to the records of the company examined 

by us and the informa on and explana ons given 

to us, the company has defaulted in payment 

of bank interest of  ` 45,42,695/- and the same 

has been reversed by the bank in the month 

of March. The bankers of the Company are 

considering a second restructuring which is under 

review by lead banker (The State Bank of India). 

The Company has not issued any debentures at 

balance sheet date.

(x) In our opinion, and according to the informa on 

and explana ons given to us, the company has 

not given any guarantee for loans taken by others 

from banks or Þnancial ins tu on.
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 For Sumanta & Co. 

Firm Registra on No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Partner 

Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report (Contd.)

(xi) The company has not taken any term loans and accordingly the provisions of Clause 3(xi) of the order are not 

applicable to the company.

(xii) During the course of our examina on of the books and records of the company, carried out in accordance 

with the generally accepted audi ng prac ces in India, and according to the informa on and explana ons 

given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud on or by the aforesaid company, no ced or 

reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such case by the management.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet  as at 31st March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note As at 

31st March, 2015

As at 

31st March, 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(1) Shareholder's Funds

(a) Share Capital 3  34,63,06,300  34,63,06,300 

(b) Reserve & Surplus 4  50,02,90,862  57,77,92,947 

(c) Money Received against Share Warrants  -    -   

 84,65,97,162  92,40,99,247 

(2) Non-Current Liabili"es

(a) Long Term Borrowings 5  10,00,000  10,00,000 

(b) Deferred Tax Liabili es (Net) 31  57,17,507  74,18,543 

(c) Other Long Term Liabili es 6  10,00,40,350  11,19,19,980 

(d) Long Term Provisions 7  8,46,411  8,41,411 

 10,76,04,268  12,11,79,934 

(3) Current Liabili"es

(a) Short Term Borrowings 8  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

(b) Trade Payables 9  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 

(c) Other Current Liabili es 10  12,44,84,918  9,08,67,104 

(d) Short Term Provisions 11  6,40,69,349  6,40,85,359 

 93,43,66,110  90,34,78,820 

(4) Minority Interest  2,14,10,422  96,55,138 

TOTAL  1,90,99,77,961  1,95,84,13,139 

ASSETS

(1) Non-Current Assets

(a) Fixed Assets

(i) Tangible Assets 12  43,72,00,531  56,34,43,432 

(b) Non-Current Investments 13  15,37,18,339  15,05,39,265 

(c) Long-Term Loans and Advances 14  36,79,77,364  27,50,57,091 

(d) Other Non Current Assets 15  17,98,462  6,034 

 96,06,94,696  98,90,45,822 

(2) Current Assets

(a) Inventories 16  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

(b) Trade Receivables 17  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 

(c) Cash & Cash Equivalents 18  2,50,95,127  2,76,40,408 

(d) Short Term Loans and Advances 19  13,45,22,018  16,67,76,250 

(e) Other Current Assets 20  81,692  5,24,365 

 94,92,83,266  96,93,67,316 

TOTAL  1,90,99,77,961  1,95,84,13,139 

See accompanying notes forming part of the 

Þnancial statements

1-35

In terms of our report a#ached.

For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Firm Regn. No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra

Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director

Membership No. 056521

Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh

Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of ProÞt and Loss for the year ended 31 March, 2015 

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note

No.

For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

1 Revenue from opera ons (gross) 21  6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 

Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 

Revenue from opera ons (net)  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

2 Other income 22  91,66,069  42,87,302 

3 Total revenue (1+2)  6,59,97,466  15,64,55,047 

4 Expenses

Cost of Material Consumed 23.a  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Changes in Inventories of Þnished goods, work-

in-progress and stock-in-trade

23.b  -    -   

Employee beneÞts expense 24  73,41,445  71,01,711 

Finance costs 25  6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 

Deprecia on and amor sa on expense 12  91,11,496  37,20,007 

Other expenses 26  4,01,67,732  14,14,19,752 

Total expenses  14,05,71,983  29,63,83,871 

5 ProÞt / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4)  (7,45,74,516)  (13,99,28,824)

6 Tax expense:

Current tax expense for current year  -    -   

Current tax expense rela ng to prior years  -    -   

Deferred tax 31  (17,01,036)  (2,68,347)

 (17,01,036)  (2,68,347)

7 ProÞt / (Loss) for the year (5 - 6)  (7,28,73,480)  (13,96,60,477)

8 Less: Minority Interest  6,818  66,044 

Add: Share of ProÞt in Associate  2,674  -   

9 ProÞt / (Loss) for the year (7 - 8)  (7,28,77,625)  (13,97,26,520)

9.1 Earnings per share (of Rs. 10/- each): 30

(a) Basic  (2.10)  (4.03)

(b) Diluted  (2.10)  (3.90)

See accompanying notes forming part of the 

Þnancial statements

1-35

In terms of our report a#ached.

For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Firm Regn. No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants

Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra

Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director

Membership No. 056521

Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh

Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary



page

88

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014
A. Cash ßow from opera"ng ac"vi"es

Net ProÞt / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax  (7,45,74,516)  (13,99,28,824)

Adjustments for:

Deprecia on and amor sa on  91,11,496  37,20,007 

Amor za on of Preliminary expenses  (17,92,428)  6,034 

Finance costs  6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 

Interest income  (15,60,646)  7,16,45,152  (21,52,408)  6,51,68,953 

Opera ng proÞt / (loss) before working capital 
changes

 (29,29,365)  (7,47,59,871)

Changes in working capital:

Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in opera ng 
assets:

Inventories  8,00,980  30,73,686 

Trade receivables  (1,59,59,116)  18,65,65,003 

Short-term loans and advances  3,98,33,916  1,61,37,160 

Long-term loans and advances  (1,37,06,760)  23,36,680 

Other current assets  4,42,673  1,14,11,693  22,27,891  21,03,40,420 

Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in opera ng 
liabili es:

Other long term liabili es  (33,00,000)  16,18,000 

 Long Term Borrowing  -    (36,000)

Long term provisions  5,000  5,000 

Trade payables  (6,38,40,095)  (19,12,80,506)

Other current liabili es  3,48,17,814  2,67,24,413 

Short-term provisions  -    (3,23,17,281)  -    (16,29,69,093)

Cash ßow from extraordinary items  -    -   

Cash generated from opera ons  (2,38,34,952)  (2,73,88,544)

Net income tax (paid) / refunds  (75,95,693)  (2,84,507)

Net cash ßow from / (used in) opera"ng ac"vi"es (A)  (3,14,30,645)  (2,76,73,052)

B. Cash ßow from inves"ng ac"vi"es

Capital expenditure on Þxed assets  (8,09,406)  (24,96,962)

Capital  advance  5,23,80,000  (2,60,53,614)

Proceeds from sale of Fixed Assets  -    -   

Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents

  - Placed  -    -   

  - Matured  50,76,047  (42,13,247)

Purchase of long-term investments

  - Others  (31,79,074)  (89,000)

Loans & Advances given 

  - Associates & Enterprise under signiÞcant infuence  (13,27,93,513)  1,60,40,000 

  - Joint Ventures  (85,79,630)  (1,42,616)

Interest received

  - Others  15,60,646  21,52,408 

Adjustment for change in Subsidiaries to Associates 11,70,63,839  -   

Net cash ßow from / (used in) inves"ng ac"vi"es (B)  3,07,18,910  (1,48,03,031)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015 (Contd.)

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

C. Cash ßow from Þnancing ac"vi"es
Proceeds from issue of share warrants  -    (12,34,95,000)
Share Applica on Money received/(refunded)  -    (1,07,00,000)
IPO Share Applica on Money transferred  1,63,680  -   
Proceeds from conversion of share warrants into shares  -    16,77,63,170 
Share issued to Minority Shareholders & Capital Reserve  80,03,651  80,29,901 
Net increase / (decrease) in working capital borrowings  6,11,25,580  5,88,27,247 
Finance cost  (6,58,86,729)  (6,35,95,320)
Cash ßow from extraordinary items  -    -   

Net cash ßow from / (used in) Þnancing ac"vi"es (C)  34,06,182  3,68,29,998 
Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C)

 26,94,446  (56,46,084)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  88,94,089  1,45,40,174 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
Reconcilia"on of Cash and cash equivalents with the 
Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet (Refer 
Note 16)

 2,50,95,125  2,76,40,406 

Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents as deÞned in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements 

Deposit pledged with bank as security against 
borrowings 

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

IPO refund account  -    1,35,06,590  1,63,680  1,87,46,317 
Net Cash and cash equivalents (as deÞned in AS 3 Cash 
Flow Statements) included in Note 16

 1,15,88,535  88,94,089 

Add: Current investments considered as part of Cash 
and cash equivalents (as deÞned in AS 3 Cash Flow 
Statements)

 -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
* Comprises:

(a) Cash on hand  60,99,087  81,55,148 
(b) Balances with banks

(i) In current accounts  54,89,448  7,38,941 
(ii) In deposit accounts with original maturity of less 

than 3 months
 -    -   

Total  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
Notes: 

(i) The Cash Flow Statement reßects the combined cash ßows pertaining to con nuing and discoun ng opera ons.

(ii) These earmarked account balances with banks can be u lised only for the speciÞc iden Þed purposes.

See accompanying notes forming part of the Þnancial statements

In terms of our report a#ached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants

Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director

Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Note 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION 

KaushalyaInfrastructure Development Corpora on 

Limited (the company) is a public limited company 

domiciled in India and incorporated under the 

provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. Its shares are 

listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange and Na onal 

Stock Exchange. The company is primarily engaged 

in execu ng construc on contracts rela ng to 

infrastructure and real estate developments.

Moreover, it carries on the business in hotel segment, 

hotel industry and is also engaged in acquiring and 

purchasing of land. The company’s services are 

limited to domes c markets only. The consolidated 

statements have been prepared a!er consolida ng 

the subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries, Associates 

and Joint Venture undertakings.

Note 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 Principles of Consolida"on

 The Consolidated Financial Statements relate 

to Kaushalya Infrastructure Development 

Corpora on Limited (“the company”) and 

its subsidiary companies, associates & joint 

ventures. The consolidated Þnancial statements 

have been accounted for in accordance with 

Accoun ng Standard 21- Consolidated Financial 

Statements, Accoun ng Standard 23-Accoun ng 

for Investments in Associates in Consolidated 

Financial Statements and Accoun ng Standard 

27- Financial Repor ng of Interests in Joint 

Ventures respec vely of the Companies 

Accoun ng Standards (Rules), 2014. The 

Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared 

on the following basis :-

 i. Subsidiary companies are consolidated on 

a line-by-line basis by adding together the 

book values of the like items of assets, 

liabili es, income and expenses a!er fully 

elimina ng intra-group balances and intra 

group transac ons and also unrealized 

proÞt or loss, except where cost cannot be 

recovered. The results of opera ons of a 

subsidiary are included in the consolidated 

Þnancial statements from the date on 

which the parent subsidiary rela onship 

came into existence.

 ii. Interests in the assets, liabili es, income 

and expenses of the Joint Ventures 

are consolidated using propor onate 

consolida on method. Intra group 

balances, transac ons and unrealized 

proÞt/loss are eliminated to the extent of 

the Company’s propor onate share, except 

where cost cannot be recovered.

 iii. The di"erence between the cost to the 

investment in Subsidiaries and Joint 

Ventures and the propor onate share in 

the equity of the investee company as at 

the date of acquisi on of stake is recognized 

in the consolidated Þnancial statements as 

Goodwill or Capital Reserve, as the case 

may be. Goodwill arising on consolida on 

is tested for impairment annually. 

 iv. Minori es’ interest in net ProÞts/Loss 

of consolidated subsidiaries for the 

year is iden Þed and adjusted against 

the income in order to arrive at the net 

income a#ributable to the shareholders 

of the Company. Their share of net 

assets is iden Þed and presented in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet separately. 

Where accumulated losses a#ributable to 

the minori es are in excess of their equity, 

in the absence of the contractual obliga on 

on the minori es, the same is accounted 

for by the holding company.

 v. Investments in Associates are accounted 

for using the equity method, under which 

the investment is ini ally recorded at 

cost, iden fying any goodwill/ capital 

reserve arising at the  me of acquisi on. 

The carrying amount of the investment is 

adjusted therea!er for the post acquisi on 

change in the share of net assets of the 

Associate, a!er elimina ng  unrealised 

proÞt or losses resul ng from transac ons 

between the company and its associates 

to the extent of its share, through its 

Consolidated ProÞt and Loss Statement, to 

the extent such change is a#ributable to 

the associates’ ProÞt and Loss Statement 

and through its reserves for the balance 

based on available informa on. Where 

the associate prepares and presents 

consolidated Þnancial statements, such 

consolidated Þnancial statements of the 

associate are used for the purpose of equity 

accoun ng. In other cases, standalone 

Þnancial statements of associates are used 

for the purpose of consolida on.

 vi. As far as possible, the consolidated Þnancial 

statements are prepared using uniform 

accoun ng policies for like transac ons and 

other events in similar circumstances and 

are presented, to the extent possible, in the 

same manner as the Company’s standalone 

Þnancial statements. Di"erences in 

accoun ng policies are disclosed separately.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements
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 vii. The Þnancial statements of the en  es 

used for the purpose of consolida on are 

drawn up to same repor ng date as that 

of the Company i.e. year ended March 31, 

2015.

 viii. As per Accoun ng Standard 21- Consoli-

dated Financial Statements no Þed by 

Companies (Accoun ng Standards) Rules, 

2014, only the notes involving items 

which are material need to be disclosed. 

Materiality for this purpose is assessed 

in rela on to the informa on contained 

in the consolidated Þnancial statements. 

Further, addi onal statutory informa on 

disclosed in separate Þnancial statements 

of the subsidiary and/or the parent having 

no bearing on the true and fair view of 

the consolidated Þnancial statements is 

not disclosed in the consolidated Þnancial 

statements.

The subsidiary companies, associates and joint ventures considered in the consolidated Financial Statements in 

each of the years are listed below:-

Name of the company Country of 

Incorpora"on

Rela"onship Percentage of Ownership Interest 

directly and indirectly

31st March, 

2015

31st March, 

2014

Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. India Subsidiary 51% 51%

Bengal KDC Housing 

Development Ltd.

India Subsidiary 51% 51%

Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. India Subsidiary 95.50% 95.50%

Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.

(Subsidiary of Kaushalya Energy 

(P) Ltd.)

India Step down

Subsidiary

55% of 99% 55% of 99%

Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. India Subsidiary 53.90%` 73.49%`

Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. India Associates 46.00% 68.66%

Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. India Associates 48.33% 72.50%

KIDCO NACC – Consor um Unicorporated JV En ty 90% 90%

2.2 Basis of accoun"ng and prepara"on of Þnancial statements:

 The Þnancial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Accepted 

Accoun ng Principles in India (Indian GAAP) to comply with the Accoun ng Standards as prescribed under 

Sec on 133 of the Companies Act, 2013(‘the Act’) read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 

2014, the provisions of the Act(to the extent no Þed) and guidelines issued by the Securi es and Exchange 

Board of India (SEBI).  The Þnancial statements have been prepared on accrual basis under historical cost 

conven on. The accoun ng policies adopted in the prepara on of the Þnancial statements are consistent 

with those followed in the previous year.

2.3 Use of es"mates

 The prepara on of the Þnancial statements in conformity with Indian GAAP requires the management to 

make es mates and assump ons considered in the reported amounts of assets and liabili es (including 

con ngent liabili es) and the reported income and expenses during the year.  The management believes 

that the es mates used in prepara on of the Þnancial statements areprudent and reasonable.  Future 

results could di"er due to these es mates and the di"erences between the actual results and the es mates 

are recognized in the periods in which the results are known / materialize.

2.4 Inventories 

 The stock of raw materials, stores and spares, other construc on materials and fuel are valued at cost under 

FIFO method or net realizable value whichever is lower.

 Work-in-progress is valued at cost.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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2.5 Cash and cash equivalents (for purposes of Cash 
Flow Statement)

 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-
term balances (with an original maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisi on), 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
conver ble into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insigniÞcant risk of changes 
in value. 

2.6 Cash ßow statement

 Cash ßows are reported using the indirect 
method, whereby proÞt / (loss) before 
extraordinary items and tax is adjusted for the 
e"ects of transac ons of non-cash nature and 
any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash ßows from 
opera ng, inves ng and Þnancing ac vi es 
of the Company are segregated based on the 
available informa on.

2.7 Deprecia"on

 i) Tangible Fixed Assets

  a)  Deprecia on is provided from the date 
the assets are ready to be put to use, on 
straight line method as per the useful 
life of the assets as prescribed under 
Part C of Schedule II of the Companies 
Act, 2013 except for the Plant & 
Machineryand Cycles purchased before 
FY 2004-05 where the management 
has es mated that there were no 
useful life of the aforemen oned assets 
and thusdi"ers from the useful life 
prescribed under the Act.

   For the aforemen oned assets, the 
company has charged amount of ` 
40,43,060/- as deprecia on in statement 
of proÞt & loss instead of deduc ng it 
from retained earnings for fair &be#er 
presenta on of Þnancial statements.

2.8 Revenue recogni"on

 Income from services 

 Revenues from contracts priced on a  me and 
material basis are recognized when services 
are rendered and related costs are incurred. 
Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are 
generally  me bound Þxed price contracts, are 
recognized over the life of the contract using the 
propor onate comple on method, with contract 
costs determining the degree of comple on. 
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are 
recognized when probable.

 Revenues from maintenance contracts are 

recognized pro-rata over the period of the 
contract.

 Contract Income

 a. The company follows the policy of 
recognizing the revenue as soon as the work 
is completed, irrespec ve of the cer Þca on. 
However, whenever the work gets cer Þed, 
the company takes the cer Þed por on of 
the previously uncer Þed revenue in the 
turnover and deducts the same amount from 
the uncer Þed por on of the revenue of the 
respec ve Þnancial year.

 b. It is to be noted that  out of the total revenue 
of ` 6,08,33,560/- in the Þnancial year 2014-
15, an amount of ` 5,94,17,000/- is pending 
for cer Þca on.

 Income from Hotel

 Income from hotel is recognized on accrual basis. 
ProÞt before deprecia on from hotel business 
is recognized as income in statement of proÞt 
and loss. Deprecia on and Taxes related to Hotel 
Business is shown under respec ve heads of 
statement of proÞt and loss.

2.9 Other income  

 Interest: Interest income is generally recognized 
on  me propor on basis taking into account the 
amount outstanding and the rate applicable.  

 Maintenance & Hire Charges: Income from 
Maintenance and Hire Charges is recognized on 
accrual basis.

2.10 Tangible Fixed Assets

 Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
deprecia on.The cost of Þxed assets comprises 
its purchase price, directly a#ributable expen-
diture on making the asset ready for itsintended 
use, other incidental expenses and interest 
onborrowings a#ributable to acquisi on or 
construc on ofqualifying Þxed assets, up to 
the date the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent expenditure on Þxed assets a!er its 
purchase/comple on is capitalised only if such 
expenditure results in an increase in the future 
beneÞts from such assets beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance.

2.11 Investments

 a. Long-term investments (excluding investment 

proper es), are carried individually at cost 

less provision for diminu on, other than 

temporary, in the value of such investments. 

Current investments are carried individually, 

at the lower of cost and fair value. Cost of 

investments includes acquisi on charges 

such as brokerage, fees and du es.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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  Investment in Lands are carried individually 

at cost less accumulated deprecia on and 

impairment, if any. 

2.12 Employee BeneÞts

 Employee beneÞts include provident fund, ESI 

and gratuity. Contribu on to Provident fund, ESI, 

Medical reimbursement etc. is charged to the 

Statement of ProÞt and Loss as incurred.

 The provision for gratuity has been made, with 

out any actuarial valua on, and also not paid to 

any gratuity fund.

2.13 Borrowing Costs

 Borrowing cost a#ributable to the acquisi on 

of qualifying assets is added to the cost up 

to the date when such assets are ready for 

their intended use. Other borrowing costs are 

recognized as expenses in the period in which 

these are incurred.

2.14 Segment repor"ng

 The Company has iden Þed two reportable 

segments viz. Construc on & Hotel. Segments 

have been iden Þed and reported taking into 

account nature of products and services, the 

di"ering risks and returns and the internal 

business repor ng systems. In so far as 

geographical segment is concerned, the company 

is carrying out its business only in domes c 

markets. Therefore, there are no separately 

iden Þable geographical segments.

 The accoun ng policies adopted for segment 

repor ng are in line with the accoun ng policy of 

the Company with following addi onal policies 

for segment repor ng.

 a) Revenue and Expenses have been iden Þed 

to a segment on the basis of rela onship to 

opera ng ac vi es of the segment. Revenue 

and Expenses which relate to enterprise as 

a whole and are not allocable to a segment 

on reasonable basis have been disclosed as 

“Unallocable”.

 b) Segment Assets and Segment Liabili es 

represent Assets and Liabili es in respec ve 

segments. Investments, tax related assets 

and other assets and liabili es that cannot 

be allocated to a segment on reasonable 

basis have been disclosed as “Unallocable”.

      

SEGMENTAL REPORTING AS PER AS 17 ISSUED BY THE ICAI                                                               (Amount in `) 

Par"culars
2014-15  2013-14

 Construc"on  Hotel  Total  Construc"on  Hotel  Total 

Segment Revenue 6,53,72,902 14,04,691 6,67,77,593 15,53,36,527 11,37,206 15,64,73,733

Unallocable 

Revenue

6,09,727 7,56,009

Total Revenue 6,53,72,902 14,04,691 6,73,87,320 15,53,36,527 11,37,206 15,72,29,742

Segment 

Expenditures

13,98,90,694 18,82,515 14,17,73,209 29,59,89,588 9,74,447 29,69,64,035

Total Expenditures 13,98,90,694 18,82,515 14,17,73,209 29,59,89,588 9,74,447 29,69,64,035

Segment Results

Segment ProÞt 

Before Tax

(7,45,17,792) (4,77,824) (7,43,85,890) (14,06,53,061) 1,62,759 (13,97,34,293)

Unallocable 

Expenditures

            -            -   1,88,626            -           -   1,94,531

ProÞt Before Tax (7,45,74,516) (13,99,28,824)

Less : Current Tax                       -                         -   

Less : Deferred Tax (17,01,036) (2,68,347)

PAT (before 

adjustment for 

Minority Interest & 

Associates)

(7,28,73,480) (13,96,60,477)

Less : Share 

of ProÞt t/f to 

Minority Interest

6,818 66,044

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)



page

94

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

Par"culars
2014-15  2013-14

 Construc"on  Hotel  Total  Construc"on  Hotel  Total 

Add : Share 

of ProÞt from 

Associates

2,674                       -   

(7,28,77,625) (13,97,26,520)

Segment Assets 1,75,46,81,787 1,20,05,942 1,76,66,87,729 1,80,65,83,561 1,25,08,739 1,81,90,92,300

Unallocable Assets 14,32,90,233 13,93,20,839

Total Assets 1,75,46,81,787 1,20,05,942 1,90,99,77,962 1,80,65,83,561 1,25,08,739 1,95,84,13,139

Segment Liabili es 1,83,30,56,260 1,20,05,942 1,84,50,62,202 1,88,08,13,950 1,25,08,739 1,89,33,22,689

Unallocable 

Liabili es

6,49,15,760 6,50,90,450

Total Liabili"es 1,83,30,56,260 1,20,05,942 1,90,99,77,962 1,88,08,13,950 1,25,08,739 1,95,84,13,139

2.15 Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing 

the proÞt / (loss) a!er tax (including the post 

tax e"ect of extraordinary items, if any) by the 

weighted average number of equity shares 

outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 

per share is computed by dividing  the proÞt / 

(loss) a!er tax (including the post tax e"ect 

of extraordinary items, if any) as adjusted for 

dividend, interest and other charges to expense 

or income rela ng to the dilu ve poten al equity 

shares, by the weighted average number of equity 

shares considered for deriving basic earnings 

per share and the weighted average number of 

equity shares which could have been issued on 

the conversion of all dilu ve poten al equity 

shares. Poten al equity shares are deemed to be 

dilu ve only if their conversion to equity shares 

would decrease the net proÞt per share from 

con nuing ordinary opera ons. Poten al dilu ve 

equity shares are deemed to be converted as at 

the beginning of the period, unless they have 

been issued at a later date. The dilu ve poten al 

equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds 

receivable had the shares been actually issued 

at fair value (i.e. average market value of the 

outstanding shares). Dilu ve poten al equity 

shares are determined independently for 

each period presented. The number of equity 

shares and poten ally dilu ve equity shares are 

adjusted for share splits / reverse share splits and 

bonus shares, as appropriate. 

2.16 Taxes on income

 "Current tax is the amount of tax payable on 

the taxable income for the year as determined 

in accordance with the provisions of the Income 

Tax Act, 1961.

 Deferred tax is recognized on  ming di"erences, 

being the di"erences between the taxable income 

and the accoun ng income that originate in one 

period and are capable of reversal in one or more 

subsequent periods.  Deferred tax is measured 

using the tax rates and the tax laws enacted 

or substan ally enacted as at the repor ng 

date.  Deferred tax liabili es are recognized for 

all  ming di"erences. Deferred tax assets are 

recognized for  ming di"erences of items other 

than unabsorbed deprecia on and carry forward 

losses only to theextent that reasonable certainty 

exists that su$cient future taxable income will 

be available against which these can be realized. 

However, if there are unabsorbed deprecia on 

andcarry forward of losses, deferred tax assets 

are recognized only if there is virtual certainty 

that there will be su$cien&uture taxable income 

available to realise the assets.

2.17 Impairment of assets

 The carrying values of assets / cash genera ng 

units at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed 

for impairment. If any indica on of impairment 

exists, the recoverable amount of such assets 

is es mated and impairment is recognised, if 

the carrying amount of these assets exceeds 

their recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the greater of the net selling price and 

their value in use. Value in use is arrived at by 

discoun ng the future cash ßows to their present 

value based on an appropriate discount factor. 

When there is indica on that an impairment 

loss recognised for an asset in earlier accoun ng 

periods no longer exists or may have decreased, 

such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in 

the Statement of ProÞt and Loss, except in case 

of revalued assets.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)

(Amount in `)



page

95

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development Corpora on Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

2.18 Provisions and con"ngencies

 A provision is recognised when the Company has 

a present obliga on as a result of past events 

and it is probable that an ou&low of resources 

will be required to se#le the obliga on in respect 

of which a reliable es mate can be made. 

Provisions (excluding re rement beneÞts) are 

not discounted to their present value and are 

determined based on the best es mate required 

to se#le the obliga on at the Balance Sheet 

date. These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet 

date and adjusted to reßect the current best 

es mates. Con ngent liabili es are disclosed in 

the Notes.Con ngent assets are not recognised 

in the Þnancial statements.

2.19 Service Tax Input Credits

 Service tax input credit is accounted for in the 

books in the period in which the underlying 

service received.

2.20 Opera"ng Cycle

 Based on the nature of products / ac vi es of 

the Company and the normal  me between 

acquisi on of assets and theirrealisa on in cash 

or cash equivalents, the Company has determined 

its opera ng cycle as 36 months for real estate & 

infrastructure projects and 12 months for others 

for the purpose of classiÞca on of its assets and 

liabili es as current and non-current.

2.21 Advances to Subsidiaries& Associates:

 The amount of ` 482,462,888/- in aggregate 

is standing as advance to its subsidiaries& 

associates at the balance sheet date out of 

which advances to the tune of ` 480,986,485/- is 

outstanding, which was advanced for purchase 

of land by the subsidiaries & associates made 

under agreement. The Company had entered 

into agreements with Kaushalya Township 

(P) Ltd., Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd., and Orion 

Abasaan (P) Ltd. that whenever they will sell 

land or developed land or project on the land the 

Company’s interest shall be safeguarded as per 

the terms of the agreement.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 3 : SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Par"culars  Number of 

shares

`  Number of 

shares

 `

(a)  Authorised

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

 3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

(b)  Issued

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

 3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

(c)  Subscribed and fully paid up

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with vo ng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Total  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Refer Notes (i) to (iii) below

Notes :

(i) Reconcilia"on of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the repor"ng period:

Par"culars  Opening 

Balance

Fresh Issue  Other 

Changes

 Closing 

Balance

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up

Equity shares with vo ng rights

Year ended 31 March, 2015

- Number of shares  3,46,30,630  -  -  3,46,30,630 

- Amount (`)  34,63,06,300  -  -  34,63,06,300 

Year ended 31 March, 2014

- Number of shares  1,96,05,630  1,50,25,000  -  3,46,30,630 

- Amount (`)  19,60,56,300  15,02,50,000  -  34,63,06,300 

(ii) Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares :   

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Par"culars Number of 

shares held

% holding in 

that class of 

shares 

Number of 

shares held

% holding in 

that class of 

shares 

Class of shares / Name of shareholder 

Equity shares with vo"ng rights

Mahan  Engineers Pvt. Ltd.  50,82,600  14.68  50,82,600  14.68 

Sunkissed Merchandise Pvt. Ltd.  50,22,900  14.50  50,22,900  14.50 

Keleenworth Marke ng Pvt. Ltd.  43,36,350  12.52  43,36,350  12.52 

Total  1,44,41,850  41.70  1,44,41,850  41.70 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 4 : RESERVES & SURPLUS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

(a)  Securi"es premium account

Opening balance 47,93,84,836 46,43,59,836

Add : Premium on shares issued during the year  - 1,50,25,000

Less : U lised during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance 47,93,84,836 47,93,84,836

(b)  Revalua"on Reserve 

Opening balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

Add: Addi on on revalua ons during the year  -  - 

Less: U lised for set o" against deprecia on  -  - 

Closing balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

(c)  General Reserve 

Opening balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

Add: Transferred from surplus in Statement of ProÞt and 

Loss

 -  - 

Less: U lised / transferred during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

(d) Share in Reserves of Joint Venture  (8,79,646)

(e)Capital Reserve

Balance as per Last Year  2,393,959  (94,211)

Add/(Less) : Adjustment on conversion of subsidiary 

to  associates

 (3,744,816)  2,488,170 

Total  (1,350,857)  2,393,959 

(f) Surplus / (DeÞcit) in Statement of ProÞt and Loss 

Opening balance  47,527,131  187,253,651 

Add: ProÞt / (Loss) for the year  (72,877,625)  (139,726,520)

Closing balance  (25,350,494)  47,527,131 

Total  500,290,861  577,792,947 

Note 6 : OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Advances from Related Par"es

Joint Venture & Associates

- Joint Venture & Associates  9,40,350  95,19,980 

- From Rela ves of KMPs  -    24,00,000 

Advance against Land  9,91,00,000  10,00,00,000 

Total  10,00,40,350  11,19,19,980 

Note 5 : Long Term Borrowings

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured loan

Jagri  Investment Pvt. Ltd  10,00,000  10,00,000 

Total  10,00,000  10,00,000 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 7 : LONG TERM PROVISIONS  

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Employee BeneÞts - Gratuity  8,46,411  8,41,411 

 8,46,411  8,41,411 

Note 8 : SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Loans repayable on demand

(a)   Cash Credit From banks 

Secured

(i)    State Bank of India*  29,64,03,282  25,69,03,947 

 State Bank of India CC  19,19,80,883  15,25,40,295 

 State Bank of India FITL  3,60,75,399  3,53,78,122 

 State Bank of India WCTL  6,83,47,000  6,89,85,530 

(Secured by way of hypotheca on of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their rela ves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)

(ii) Indian Overseas Bank  31,83,06,373  29,66,80,128 

 Indian Overseas Bank CC  18,64,76,427  17,03,42,544 

 Indian Overseas Bank FITL  4,52,33,612  4,26,02,584 

 Indian Overseas Bank WCTL  8,65,96,334  8,37,35,000 

(Secured by way of hypotheca on of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their rela ves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)

 61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

* Also refer Note 34(e)

Note 9 : TRADE PAYABLES

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Acceptances  -    -   

Other than Acceptances  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 

Total  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 

Note 10 : OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Statutory Remi#ances  2,00,99,543  1,15,42,993 

Advances from customers/ contractors  10,32,45,273  7,68,20,329 

Share Applica on Money Due for refund  -    1,63,680 

Payable for Fixed Assets  11,40,102  23,40,102 

 12,44,84,918  9,08,67,104 

Note 11 : SHORT TERM PROVISIONS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Income-tax  6,36,34,013  6,36,50,023 

Provision for FBT  4,35,336  4,35,336 

 6,40,69,349  6,40,85,359 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 12 : FIXED ASSETS

Par culars Gross Block Deprecia"on Net Block

As at 

01.04.2014

Addi"ons Deduc"ons Total Upto

31.03.2014

For the

Year

Sales/

Adjustments

Total As at

31.03.2015

As at

31.03.2014

TANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) Land

Freehold  39,56,00,864  7,36,299  -    39,63,37,163  -    -    -    -    39,63,37,163  39,56,00,864 

Subsidiaries  39,56,00,864  7,36,299  -    39,63,37,163  -    -    -    -    39,63,37,163  39,56,00,864 

- BKDC  11,59,94,373  -    -    11,59,94,373  -    -    -    -    11,59,94,373  11,59,94,373 

- KTPL  27,96,06,491  7,36,299  -    28,03,42,790  -    -    -    -    28,03,42,790  27,96,06,491 

(b) Buildings 

Owned  99,93,919  -    -    99,93,919  18,36,168  1,54,053  -    19,90,221  80,03,698  81,57,751 

Construc on  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  -    -   

- Site Building  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  -    -   

Hotel  98,86,621  -    -    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  -    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 

- Building  98,86,621  -    -    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  -    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 

(c) Plant and Equipment

Owned  6,54,67,460  -    -    6,54,67,460  2,60,80,304  80,80,310  -    3,41,60,614  3,13,06,846  3,93,87,156 

Construc on  6,46,71,342  -    -    6,46,71,342  2,56,56,067  77,41,701  -    3,33,97,768  3,12,73,574  3,90,15,275 

- Plant & Machinery  6,16,04,246  -    -    6,16,04,246  2,25,88,971  77,41,701  -    3,03,30,672  3,12,73,574  3,90,15,275 

- JCB Excavator  30,67,096  -    -    30,67,096  30,67,096  -    -    30,67,096  -    -   

Hotel  7,96,118  -    -    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  -    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 

- Plant & Machinery  7,96,118  -    -    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  -    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 

(d) Furniture and Fixtures

Owned  66,35,153  19,879  -    66,55,032  44,38,264  8,15,517  -    52,53,781  14,01,251  21,96,889 

Construc on  19,85,707  19,879  -    20,05,586  10,82,273  5,75,750  -    16,58,023  3,47,563  9,03,434 

Hotel  27,57,046  -    -    27,57,046  27,57,046  -    -    27,57,046  -    -   

Subsiadiaries  18,92,400  -    -    18,92,400  5,98,945  2,39,767  -    8,38,712  10,53,688  12,93,455 

(e) Vehicles

Owned  76,27,741  -    -    76,27,741  74,67,780  46,684  -    75,14,464  1,13,277  1,59,961 

Construc on  76,16,183  -    -    76,16,183  74,56,222  46,684  -    75,02,906  1,13,277  1,59,961 

- Motor Car  34,02,899  -    -    34,02,899  32,62,084  44,511  -    33,06,595  96,304  1,40,815 

- Vehicles  41,77,289  -    -    41,77,289  41,77,289  -    -    41,77,289  -    -   

- Cycles  35,995  -    -    35,995  16,849  2,173  -    19,022  16,973  19,146 

Hotel  11,558  -    -    11,558  11,558  -    -    11,558  -    -   

- Vehicles  11,558  -    -    11,558  11,558  -    -    11,558  -    -   

(f) O#ce equipment

Owned  9,81,084  53,228  -    10,34,312  9,81,084  14,932  -    9,96,016  38,296  -   

Construc on  9,44,534  53,228  -    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  -    9,59,466  38,296  -   

- Computer  9,44,534  53,228  -    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  -    9,59,466  38,296  -   

Hotel  36,550  -    -    36,550  36,550  -    -    36,550  -    -   

-Computer  36,550  -    -    36,550  36,550  -    -    36,550  -    -   

Total (`)  48,63,06,221  8,09,406  -    48,71,15,627  4,08,03,600  91,11,496  -    4,99,15,096  43,72,00,531  44,55,02,621 

Previous Year (`)  60,17,50,070 24,96,962  -    60,42,47,032  3,70,83,593  37,20,007  -    4,08,03,600  56,34,43,432  56,46,66,477 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 13 : NON CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

A.  Trade Investments  FV  Nos. `  Nos.  `

(a) Investment in Unquoted, fully paid-up Equity Shares of :

(i) Associates

Kaushalya Nirman Pvt. Ltd.  10  46,000  19,40,000 

Add: Share in proÞts for the year  2,065 

 19,42,065 

Orion Abasaan Pvt. Ltd.  10  29,000  10,90,000 

Add: Share in proÞts for the year  609 

 10,90,609 

 6,16,857  1,85,02,850  6,16,857  1,85,02,850 

(ii) Others

Balaji Turnkey Projects Solu on Pvt. Ltd.  10  2,28,600  5,14,35,000  2,28,600  5,14,35,000 

Enlightened Projects Ltd.  10  1,95,500  2,93,25,000  1,95,500  2,93,25,000 

Orkay Engineering Ltd.  10  8,53,000  4,26,50,000  8,53,000  4,26,50,000 

Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.  10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 

Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.
(Held by Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd.)

 10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 

Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.
(Held by Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.)

 10  3,700  37,000  3,700  37,000 

Pushpadanta Vyapaar Pvt. Ltd. 
(Held by Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.)

 10  10,000  1,00,400  -    -   

 13,71,000  12,66,32,074  12,86,000  12,34,99,000 

(b) Investment in Land  2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

 2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

B. Other than Trade Investments

Gold Coins [50 Gms. Each]  10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

 10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

Total  15,37,18,339  15,05,39,265 

Note 14 : LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured and considered good

Capital Advances  4,13,75,576  9,49,55,576 

Security Deposits & Earnest Money Deposits  14,62,98,195  13,35,55,072 

Advance to Body Corporate  94,44,572  84,80,935 

Advances to related par es

- Enterprises under signiÞcant Inßuence  1,25,46,000  3,80,65,508 

- Associates Companies  15,83,13,021  -   

 36,79,77,364  27,50,57,091 

Note (i) Long Term Loans and Advances includes due from

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Other o$cers of the Company  10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 

 10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 15 : OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unamor sed Expenses

- Preliminary Expenses  17,98,462  6,034 

 17,98,462  6,034 

Note 16 : INVENTORIES 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Raw Materials  58,26,143  66,08,800 

Work in Progress

- Construc on Work in Progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

- Stores & Spares  14,537  32,860 

 99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

Note 17 : TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured, considered good

Overdue for a period exceeding six months  73,75,06,104  67,01,25,891 

Other Trade receivables  4,21,33,560  9,35,54,657 

 77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 

Note 18 : CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

(a) Cash on hand (as cer Þed by the management)  60,99,087  81,55,148 

(b) Balances with banks

(i) In current accounts  54,89,448  7,38,941 

(iii) In earmarked accounts (Refer Note (i) below)

Balances in Deposit Accounts held as margin money or security 

against borrowings, guarantees and other commitments (Refer 

Note (i) below)

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

Share applica on money received for allotment of securi es 

and due for refund 

 -  1,63,680 

 2,50,95,125  2,76,40,406 

Of the above, the balances that meet the deÞni on of Cash and 

cash equivalents as per AS 3 Cash Flow Statements is 

 1,15,88,535  88,94,089 

Notes:   

(i) Includes deposits amoun ng to ` 1,744,007/- (As at 31 March, 2014 ` 17,941,708/-) which have an original 

maturity of more than 12 months.  

(ii) Includes interest of ` 7,25,511/-  

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 19 : SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured, considered good

Advances to Suppliers & Subcontractors  1,03,16,172  2,65,73,391 

Advances to Employees  4,61,381  4,37,019 

Advance against Expenses  1,58,278  2,52,39,722 

Advance to Body Corporate  16,00,000  -   

Prepaid Expenses (Unsecured, considered good)  3,66,149  4,85,764 

Balances with government authori es 

- Income Tax Payments  12,16,20,038  11,40,40,354 

 13,45,22,018  16,67,76,250 

Note 19A: PROFIT FROM HOTEL BUSINESS

Par"culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS

Food Sale  3,48,991  2,62,187 

Room Rent  6,35,745  4,72,194 

Service Income  -    125 

Cul va on Income  2,49,955  4,02,700 

Agricultural Income  1,70,000 

Total (A)  14,04,691  11,37,206 

EXPENDITURE

Raw Food Purchased  2,09,462  1,49,079 

Fuel (Cooking)  34,134  33,112 

Repairs & Maintenance - Buildings  2,43,783  54,632 

Transport Expenses  3,280  810 

Stores  30,683  12,823 

Employee BeneÞts

Salary  1,07,400  26,100 

Site Allowance  18,600  5,400 

Administra"ve & Other Expenses

Bank Charges  1,812  550 

Books & Periodicals  1,880  1,683 

Commission Charges  750  -   

Electricity Charges  1,73,437  88,300 

Cul va on Expenses  1,27,115  2,03,450 

General Expenses  40,179  18,396 

Gardening Expenses  97,332  27,734 

Interest on Delay Payment of Vat  1,193  -   

Medical Expenses  150  250 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 20 : OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Accruals 

Interest accrued on deposits  81,692  5,24,364 

 81,692  5,24,364 

Note 21 : REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 

Par"culars For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Sale of Services (Gross) 

Contract Receipts  6,08,33,560  15,77,35,831 

Other Opera ng Revenues

ProÞt from Hotel (Refer Note 19A)  14,838  3,62,511 

 6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 

Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 

 5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

Note 22 : OTHER INCOME 

Par"culars For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Interest Income

- Interest from Bank on Deposits  15,60,646  21,52,408 

- Income from Maintenance Work  26,50,000  -   

Sundry Credit balance W/o"  22,51,496  -   

Hire Charges  20,87,000  13,78,885 

Prior Period Income  7,200 

Miscellaneous Income  6,09,727  7,56,009 

(Net of expenses directly a#ributable ` Nil Prev. Year ` Nil)

 91,66,069  42,87,302 

(Amount in `)

Par"culars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Labour Charges incl. Allowances  1,94,300  76,050 

Laundry Expenses  11,186  5,056 

Legal & Professional Charges  -    9,000 

Postage/Fax/Courier  910  120 

Prin ng & Sta onery  2,215  -   

Rates & Taxes  18,150  3,200 

Security Expenses  51,000  49,000 

Subscrip on  7,552  7,204 

Telephone Expenses  30  -   

Travelling & Conveyance  13,320  2,746 

Total (B)  13,89,853  7,74,695 

ProÞt/(Loss) before Deprecia"on (A-B)  14,838  3,62,511 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 23 : a : COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED 

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Opening stock  66,41,660  97,15,346 

Add: Purchases  1,72,63,600  7,74,73,396 

 2,39,05,260  8,71,88,742 

Less: Closing stock  58,40,680  66,41,660 

Cost of material consumed  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Note 23 : b:  CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK$IN$PROGRESS AND STOCK IN TRADE

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Inventories at the beginning of the year:

Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Less: Inventories at the end of the year:

Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Net (increase) / decrease - -

Note 24 : EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES  

Par"culars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

Salary, Allowances & Bonus  40,78,964  41,43,371 

Directors' Remunera on  27,30,000  25,20,000 

Contribu on to PF, ESI & Other Funds  46,872  50,288 

Sta" Welfare  4,80,609  3,83,052 

Employee Re rement BeneÞts  5,000  5,000 

 73,41,445  71,01,711 

Note 25 : FINANCE COSTS

Par"culars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

(a)  Interest expense on:

(i) Borrowings  6,23,66,790  5,75,34,042 

(ii) Delayed/Deferred payment of taxes  1,86,296  2,53,745 

(b)  Other borrowing costs  33,33,643  58,07,533 

 6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 26 : OTHER EXPENSES

Par"culars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Contract Opera"ng Expenses

Consump on of Stores & Spare Parts  20,86,582  19,57,144 

Unrecoverable Works Contract  64,23,305  6,57,13,930 

Hire Charges  73,650  34,26,065 

Labour Charges & Allowances  1,67,32,028  3,54,81,567 

Power & Fuel  4,93,367  3,33,212 

Repairs & Maintenance- Machinery  11,85,275  7,13,377 

Freight Charges  45,450  65,320 

Service Tax  -    65,83,749 

Works Contract Tax  5,20,041  86,86,814 

Survey Charges  -    29,650 

 2,75,59,698  12,29,90,828 

Administra"ve Expenses

Rent  12,86,565  12,70,850 

Rates & Taxes  5,54,743  5,41,966 

Insurance  33,254  77,535 

Consultancy & Professional Charges  13,22,151  15,36,418 

Directors' Si'ng Fee  1,57,500  83,000 

Electricity Charges  2,71,203  2,44,871 

Post, Telegraph, Telephone & Internet  5,27,715  4,68,550 

Travelling & Conveyance  7,26,297  8,35,015 

Prin ng & Sta onery  3,57,156  3,22,922 

Payment to Auditors

 - As Statutory Audit Fees  1,12,360  1,23,596 

 - As Tax Audit Fees  28,090  28,090 

 - For Cer Þca on  -    9,552 

Prior Period Expenses  62,324  -   

Miscellaneous Expenses  2,88,344  2,51,204 

Preliminary Expenses W/o"  6,034  6,034 

 57,33,736  57,99,603 

Selling & Distribu"on Expenses

Adver sement  1,42,915  1,35,550 

Subscrip on  11,790  13,521 

 1,54,705  1,49,071 

Other Expenses

Sundry Debit/ (Credit) Balance W/O"  67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

 67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

Total  4,01,67,732  14,14,19,752 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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Note 27 : Addi"onal Informa"on of the Financial Statements

27.1 : Con"ngent Liabili"es and Commitments to the extent not provided for                                      (Amount in `)

Sl. No. Par"culars As on 31.03.2015 As on 31.03.2014

1. a. Performance guarantees issued by the banks to various Government 

Authori es, for which the Company has provided counter guarantee against 

which Þxed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company.

50,297,983 47,623,983

b. Performance Guarantee issued on behalf of other company against which 

Þxed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company

8,674,000 8,674,000

c. Bank Interest Reversed     4,542,695 Nil 

2. Claims not acknowledged as debts

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2004-05)          Nil 3,771,602

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2005-06) 90,875 72,381

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2006-07)             Nil 923,573

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2007-08) 2,846,864 4,098,684

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2009-10) 3,026,950 Nil

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2010-11) 3,761,030 3,761,030

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2011-12) 190,580 4,165,834

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2012-13) 5,142,880 259,290

27.2 : Disclosures required under Sec"on 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006

The Company is in the process of iden fying the suppliers, who would be covered under the Micro, Small and 

Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006. As conÞrmed by the management, the company has not yet 

received any informa on about such registra on from the vendors and such informa on will be provided as and 

when conÞrma on is received from them. However, as regards the same, no documentary evidence has been 

found during the course of audit.

27.3 : Disclosure as per clause 32 of the lis"ng agreement

(Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries, associates and others and investment in 

shares of the Company by such par"es)

The loans and advances in the nature of advances given by the company to its Subsidiaries and  Associates, 

amounts to ` 482,462,888/-, in aggregate as on 31st March 2015. The details of the same have been provided 

below:

(a)   Loans and advances in the nature of advances given to subsidiaries, associates and others    (Amount in `)

 Sl.

No.

 

Name of the Subsidiary

 Balance 

as at 

 31.03.2015 

 Maximum 

 Balance 

 2014-15 

 Balance 

as at 

 31.03.2014 

 Maximum 

 Balance 

 2013-14 

1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. Nil 40,600           38,000           38,000 

2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.   118,232,236   119,131,586   119,128,986   131,759,986 

3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. Nil            2,600 Nil 3,395,100 

4 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780 58,876,430 58,876,430   67,083,317 

5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.      1,476,403 1,476,403      1,475,238 1,475,238

6 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.   204,441,222 225,922,822   225,922,822 261,727,246

7 Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 108,985,241 112,391,707 112,391,707 113,091,707

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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27.4 : Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Gross before TDS) (on accrual basis)

Par"culars For the 

year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the 

year Ended 

31st March, 2014

Traveling and Conveyance Nil Nil

Loss in repayment of Term Loan Nil Nil

27.5 : Details of consump"on of imported and indigenous items

Par"culars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015

For the year ended 

31st March, 2014

Amount  (`) % Amount  (`) %

Indigenous

Raw Material 18,064,580 100 80,547,082 100

Components Nil Nil Nil Nil

Spare Parts 2,086,522 100 1,957,144 100

Imported

Raw Material Nil Nil Nil Nil

Components Nil Nil Nil Nil

Spare Parts Nil Nil Nil Nil

27.6 : Earning in foreign exchange (net of TDS): Nil

27.7 : Amount remi ed in foreign currency during the year on account of dividend: Nil

27.8 : Current assets

 In the opinion of the Board, the current assets have value on realiza on in the ordinary course of business 

at least equal to the amount at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet. However, the following are the 

areas of concern:

a Outstanding Sundry debtors.

 Out of total Sundry Debtors of ` 779,639,664/-, an amount of ` 737,506,104/- is outstanding since long, and 

out of which several debtors are under dispute.

b. Sundry Debit/(Credit) Balance W/O% :

 The major detail of the Sundry Credit Balance Wri#en O" is as follows:

 i. Sundry Creditors `  20,66,122/-

 ii. Security Deposit ` 1,373/-

 iii. Statutory Dues `  376/-

 iv. Cash & cash equivalents `  10,224/-

 v. Liability for Expenses `   1,08,401/-

 vi. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 65,000/-

(b)   Investment in shares of the Company by such subsidiaries, associates and others                     (Amount in `)

Name of the subsidiary As at 

31 March, 2015

As at 

31 March, 2014

Nil Nil

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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The major detail of the Sundry Debit Balance Wri#en O" is as follows :

i. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 53,24,213/-

ii. Advance for Expenses `  10,000/-

iii. Security Deposit `  12,91,955/-

iv. Cash & cash equivalents ` 58,425/-

v. Advance for projects ` 35,000/-

c. Short-term Advances:

 The Company had advanced a net amount of ` 34,474,964/- to Flare Realty Engineers Private Limited, for 

mee ng its working capital requirements. However, the work for execu on of part of the work at Sardasahar, 

Rajasthan of Nagar Palika project was awarded to the Company. Therea!er, Flare Realty Engineers Private 

Limited asked for security deposit against the said work and requested to transfer the working capital 

advance to Security Deposit. The Company has accepted the condi on and agreed to transfer the working 

capital advance to Security Deposit. 

Note 27.9 : Statutory Compliances

The following areas are of concern :

a. Service Tax Payable: Following informa on is worth no ng in this regard-

 i. The company opted for the VCES, 2013 for the service tax payable corresponding to the period 

from April, 2009 to December, 2012. The total liability of the service tax for the said period stood to 

` 1,59,43,004/-, payable in two equal installments on or before 31st Dec, 2013 and 30th June, 2014 

respec vely. The company has paid ` 79,72,657/- i.e 50% of declared liability  ll date. In, the mean 

 me, the Company has received a show cause cum demand no ce from Service Tax Commissionerate, 

Kolkata for ` 4,21,84,307/-  for the said period. However, the hearing of the ma#er is s ll pending.

 ii. Apart from the afore-men oned amount due under VCES, 2013, the balance amount of Service Tax 

which is due to be paid is ` 1,04,51,981/-

 iii. An amount of ` 14,01,229/- has been shown as Service Tax accrued but not due for payment. This 

amount comprises of the tax accrued on or before 1st July, 2011, which is to be paid on receipt 

basis,but not paid  ll date as no payment has been recovered from the debtors against the same since 

F.Y. 2010-11.

Note 27.10 : Dilu"on of holding:

A) During the current Þnancial year, the shareholding of the company has diluted in one of its subsidiary : 

Kaushalya Township Private Limited in which shareholding reduced from 73.49% to 48.69%. However, 

Kaushalya Township Private Limited con nue to be the step-down subsidiary of the company as the company 

holds more than 50% of the shareholding through its other subsidiary.

B) Details of companies which have cease as subsidiary and become associates during the year under review as 

under:

 a) Orion Abasaan Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 72.50% to 48.33% on 28th day of March, 

2015

 b) Kaushalya Nirman Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 68.66% to 46% on 31st ay Day of 

March, 2015

Note 27.11 : Fixed Deposits:

All the Þxed deposits have been made against the Bank Guarantee and under lien with the corresponding bank.

Note 27.12 : Interest on credit cards:

The company has paid interest to the tune of ` 1,67,381/- on delayed payment of credit cards of the directors.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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28 : During the year  borrowing cost is not capitalized.

29: Related Par"es*, Related Party Transac"ons and Balances receivable/payable as at the end of the year

       Related Party Disclosures as required by AS 18 issued by ICAI

I. Par"es Where Control Exists

 Subsidiaries

 1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.

 2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.

 3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd.

 Step Down Subsidiaries

 4 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.

 5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.

II. Joint Ventures

 Jointly Controlled En  es

 1 Kidco Nacc

III. Associates 

 1 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Limited

 2 Orion Abasaan (P) Limited

IV. Key Management Personnel :

 1 Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director

 2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Chairman

 3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra, Whole- me Director

 4 Mr. Parag Keshar Bha#acharjee, Independent Director

 5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Independent Director

 6 Mrs. Mino  Nath, Women Independent Director

V. Other Related Par"es with whom the company had transac"ons during the year

 a) Rela"ves of Key Management Personnel :

  1 Mr. Kar k Mehra

  2 Mr. Karan Mehra

  3 Mrs. Neeru Mehra

 b) Company in which Rela"ves of Key Management Personnel is Director

  1 PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.

  2 Sunkissed Merchandise (P) Ltd.

  3 Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Þnancial statements (Contd.)
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VI.  Transac"ons with Related Par"es                                                                                                          (Amount in `)

Sl.
No.

Type of  Transac"ons 2014-15 2013-14
Other Par"es  Key Mgt 

 Personnel 
 Rela"ves  
 of KMP 

Other Par"es  Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 Rela"ves  
 of KMP 

(a) Valued of Services Received      2,770,500        960,000 2,538,000          960,000 

Directors Remunera on

 - Prashant Mehra      1,590,000 1,380,000 

 - Mahesh Mehra  1,140,000   1,140,000 

Si'ng Fees

 - Ramesh Mehra           40,500           18,000 

Salary

 - Kar k Mehra        480,000          480,000 

 - Karan Mehra        480,000          480,000 

(b) Rent Paid -        600,000                  -            600,000 

Rent

- Neeru Mehra                 -         -        600,000                 -            600,000 

(c) Money Recd. Agst Warrants - - - - 265,000          455,000 

265,000          455,000 
(Rela ves)

    41,185,000 
(Others)

(d) Advances Given/Repaid 4,200,000               -                -   15,930,000  

- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.         200,000                        -   

- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.        2,500,000 15,930,000 

- Sunkissed Merchandised (P) Ltd. 1,500,000 -

(e) Advances Taken/Received Back 22,820,000    31,970,000 

- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd. 13,950,000        11,940,000 

- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd. 7,370,000        20,030,000 

- Sunkissed Merchandised (P) Ltd. 1,500,000 

(f) Balance Receivable as at 
31.03.2015

       12,546,000 31,166,000 

- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.        12,546,000 26,296,000 

- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.                      -   4,870,000 

(g) Balance Payable as at 31.03.2015 - - - -         186,842          119,555 

- Prashant Mehra         168,842 

- Ramesh Mehra           18,000 

- Neeru Mehra            45,000 

- Kar k Mehra            36,505 

- Karan Mehra            38,050 

*Note : Related par"es have been iden"Þed by the management.
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Note 30: Earning Per Shares 

Year Ended 31.03.2015 (Amount in `)

Total Opera"onsDiscon"nuing Opera"onsCon"nuing Opera"ons

A&er Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary 

and Excep"onal Items

A&er Extraordinary 

and Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary 

and Excep"onal Items

A&er Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic

101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares

(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)0000(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)ProÞt 

a#ributable 

to Eq. 

Shareholders

34,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,630Weighted Average 

No. of Shares

(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)----(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)EPS (`)

Year Ended 31.03.2014

Total Opera"onsDiscon"nuing Opera"onsCon"nuing Opera"ons

A&er Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

A&er Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary 

and Excep"onal Items

A&er Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

Before Extraordinary and 

Excep"onal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic

101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares

(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)0000(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)ProÞt 

a#ributable to 

Eq. Shareholders

35,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,630Weighted 

Average No. of 

Shares

(3.90)(4.03) (3.90)(4.03) ----(3.90)(4.03) (3.90)(4.03) EPS (`)

Note 31: Deferred Tax Assets/(Liability)                                                                                                       (Amount in `)

 31.03.2015  31.03.2014

 Timing Di%erence  Timing Di%erence 

On Account of Deprecia on     

- Net Block as per I T Act 416,802,176  419,359,529  

- Net Block as per Cos. Act 436,146,843  (19,344,668) 444,209,166 (24,849,637)

On Account of Employee BeneÞts           841,411           836,411 

   (18,503,257)   (24,008,226)

E"ec ve Rate of Tax  30.90%  30.90%

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)     (5,717,507)     (7,418,542)

Less : Deferred Tax Liability b/f     (7,418,542)     (7,686,889)

Deferred Tax Provision  (1,701,035)  (268,347)

Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed deprecia on and carry forward of losses has not been recognized since the 

management is of the opinion that there is no virtual certainty that there will be su$cient future taxable income 

available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.
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Note 32: Interests in Joint Ventures                                                                                                               (Amount in `)

Name of the JV and 

country of origin 

% of 

Share 

holding

Amount of interest based on the accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2015

Assets Liabili"es Income Expenditure Con"ngent 

Liabili"es

Capital 

Commitments

New Asian Construc on 

Co., India 90%

10,490,402 11,494,869 - 124,822 Nil Nil

(Prev. Year) (10,595,231) (11,474,877) - (270,681) Nil Nil

Note 33 : Details of Provisions

Par"culars For the year ended 

31.03.2015

For the year ended 

31.03.2014

Provision for 

Current Tax

Deferred Tax 

Liability

Provision for 

Current Tax

Deferred tax 

Liability

Balance at the beginning of the year 63,634,013 7,418,542 63,634,013 7,686,889

Provision made during the year Nil (1,701,035) Nil (268,347)

Paid/Adjusted during the year Nil Nil Nil Nil

Balance at the end of the year 63,634,013 5,717,507 63,634,013 7,418,542

Note 34 : Other informa"on:

a. Projects in hand:

 The company is having three major running projects, construc on of integrated school and hostel complex  
for Wes ng House Saxby Farmer Ltd., contract value of ` 7.25 Cr., Mega Housing project for EWS, LIG & 
MIG through PPP in Sardarsahar, Rajasthan from Rajasthan Avas Vikas & Infrastructure Ltd. of ` 51.66 Cr 
& Construc on of Swarigarh SHP from U#rakhandJalVidyut Nigam (awarded to KIDCO-NACC Consor um) 
contract value ` 14.83 Cr.In these projects, revenue to the tune of ` 7.60Crs. has already been recognized 
upto the year ending 31.03.2015.

b. Work order received from Power Department, Sikkim of ` 4,55,20,000/- in the year 2004-05. The company 
has completed the work to the tune of ` 2,92,43,450/- but it has not been cer Þed by the said department 
and subsequentlyno payment has been released by them against the aforesaid work done. The reason for 
not receiving the funds as stated by the management is due to non-availability of fund under the APDRP 
scheme (the scheme of the project)in Sikkim.

c. The Company had Þled a claim with their client NPCC Ltd. the client in turn raised the claim to their principal 
NTPC and entered into arbitra on via P.M.A. The arbitra on has awarded a claim of ` 8,55,23,452/- against 
a demand of ` 77,66,336/- and against this award the principal has appealed before the Secretary of the 
P.M.A. As per term the claim received by NPCC shall be passed on to the company a!er deduc on of their 
margins as per MOU.

d. It is also observed that the company hasfewdebtors under dispute and in case where any order is received 
against the said claims, the company may prefer further appeal to the higher authority. 

e. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which is under review by lead banker 
The State Bank of India.The SBI has also reversed part of earlier charged interest of ` 45.42 lacs in account. 
This has also resulted/reßected in lower Þnance cost in last quarter 31.03.2015.However, Bank shall have 
the right to recompense the reliefs/sacriÞces/waivers extended upto this restructuring package.

Note 35 : Previous Year Figures

Previous year's Þgures have been regrouped / reclassiÞed wherever necessary to correspond with the current 
year's classiÞca on / disclosure.

In terms of our report a#ached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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